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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
l s FET FET
For the year ended 31 December HE+ZA=1+—H
EFE
Revenue KA 844,999 930,276
Loss for the year FEBE (145,588) (222,399)
Loss attributable to owners A AELEE (153,317) (218,450)
Loss per share SKEE
Basic (in HK cents) EHAR GBI (2.42) (3.49)
Diluted (in HK cents) s (B (2.42) (3.49)
Average shareholders’ equity THREER 710,911 965,246
Average capital employed THEFAER 818,561 1,307,503
At 31 December Kn+ZHA=+—H
Total indebtedness "RIETS 553,357 591,050
Shareholders’ equity st gl 620,011 801,812
Capital employed FRER 714,606 922,517
Ratio HEES
Return on average capital employed EHEEAE KL EHREK 3 (17.79%) (17.01%)
Return on average equity S ) Bl E 4 (21.57%) (22.63%)
Total debt to total capital MEBAEEARLEX 5 47.52% 42.93%
Notes: M 5E
1) Total indebtedness = total interest bearing borrowings 1) WEW =t EEBEE
2) Capital employed = shareholders’ funds + non-controlling 2) BAER = REES + JEERESR + IER
interests + non-current liabilities E=NEY
3) Return on average capital employed = (loss)/profit for the 3) FHFAEARRRE = £E (B8 &7
year/average capital employed SEHFAE R
4) Return on average equity = net (loss)/profit attributable to 4) FHERORE = A ARG BR) &
owners/average shareholders’ equity FPRE R RS
5) Total debt to total capital = debt/(shareholders’ funds + non- 5) MEBREERLE - 8F RRES +

controlling interests + debt)

4 China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year"), the Group’s
revenue amounted to approximately HK$845.00 million
(2022: HK$930.28 million), representing a decrease of 9.17%
from last year. Gross profit of the Group was approximately
HK$108.29 million (2022: HK$135.21 million). The loss (net
of tax) was approximately HK$145.59 million (2022: loss (net
of tax) was HK$222.40 million). The loss (net of tax) was
mainly attributable to the increase in administrative expenses
and finance costs.

The Group will continue to control the costs and focus on
existing resources to further strengthen and grow the Group's
business both organically and through acquisitions when
appropriate opportunities arise. The Group considered the
business mix has been diversified during the past few years.
The Group will focus on the existing businesses and will
expand by self-development and investing in similar business.
Investments would be carefully selected among all the
choices we explore and would be operated with experienced
business partners.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Wine and Liquor Business

The Group’s wine and liquor business was principally engaged
in the sale and distribution of wine and liquor in the PRC.

During the Year, wine and liquor business recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$0.04 milion and accounted
for 0.01% of the total revenue (2022: Nil) as our sale
points and delivery services had recovered from coronavirus
outbreak. Gross profit of this business segment for the Year
was approximately HK$0.01 million (2022: Nil). The Group
will continue to review the development of this business
segment.

Trading of Food Products Business

Trading of food products business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$445.20 million (2022: HK$464.80 million)
and accounted for 52.69% (2022: 49.96%) of the total
revenue. Gross profit of this business segment for the Year
was approximately HK$13.87 million (2022: HK$10.62
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

Construction and Development Business

Following the successful bid for the land use rights of a land
parcel in Lianyungang, Jiangsu in the PRC on 5 December
2017, the Group obtained the Land Planning Permit and the
Construction Planning Permit for the “Seafood Food City” in
2018. The commercial housing pre-sale permit of phase one
of the Seafood Food City was also obtained and sales of the
properties in that project started in the second half of 2019.
However, the outbreak of novel coronavirus affected the sales
plan and construction plan. It is expected that the whole
construction of the Seafood Food City on the land parcel will
be delayed to first half of 2024.

Rental Business

The rental business was engaged in the leasing of logistic
facilities in Hong Kong and office facilities in the PRC. This
business recorded a revenue of approximately HK$96.73
million (2022: HK$231.85 million) and accounted for 11.45%
(2022: 24.92%) of the total revenue. Gross profit of this
business segment for the Year was approximately HK$49.84
million (2022: HK$81.59 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the disposal of subsidiaries which engaged in rental
business to an independent third party on 8 November 2022.
The Group has rental business in Hong Kong and will keep on
exploring and investing in potential renting facilities.

Financial Leasing Business

The financial leasing business recorded a revenue of
HK$12.74 million (2022: HK$16.13 million) and accounted
for 1.51% (2022: 1.73%) of the total revenue. Gross profit
of this business segment for the Year was approximately
HK$8.15 million (2022: HK$12.96 million).

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Model

The Company’s financial leasing services business is principally
conducted through its wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC,
FYITHEBATERMBEEREHRIRAT (Shenzhen Qianhai
Dahuangyuan Finance Lease Co., Ltd.) (“Dahuangyuan”). Its
business model principally focuses on the grant of loans to
personal and corporate borrowers whether by way of finance
leasing on property, plant and equipment (“PPE"), trade
financing or otherwise. Under the Group’s business model
of finance leasing, it either grants loans to its customers,
charges them interest and takes PPE as collateral, or acquires
PPE and leases them back to the customers. The Group's
borrowers are normally sourced by the Group’s staff and
management, and/or from referrals by existing or potential
customers or business acquaintances of the Group’s staff and
management.

The credit risk assessment policy of Dahuangyuan'’s lending
business contemplates the performing of the following credit
risk assessment procedures, namely: (a) the conducting
of background searches (such as company and litigation
searches) on the customers and their affiliated entities, the
security providers (if any) and their assets; (b) the request for
and the reviewing of documents and financial information to
demonstrate the financial position of the customers or the
security providers (if any); (c) the checking and reviewing of
documents in respect of the collaterals (if any); and (d) for
loan renewal applications, the past repayment behaviour of
the customers. The credit risk assessment procedures were
performed by the loan approval team of Dahuangyuan who
are experienced in financial and accounting. It is through the
conducting of credit assessment (including an assessment
on the asset collateral) at the time of granting the loan and
the request for asset collateral that the Board endeavours
to safeguard the Company’s assets to the best we can. The
Company will only consider making a loan offer to the loan
applying customer if the Company is satisfied with the credit
assessment outcome.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

After the background checking, the loan officer will prepare
a credit assessment report on the customer and submit the
proposed terms of the loan application (including the loan
amount, loan period, interest rate, repayment schedule and
the provision of collaterals) for the approval of the directors
of Dahuangyuan. The loan terms are decided following
arm’s length negotiations with the customers after taking
into account factors such as the terms requested by the loan
applicants, the Group’s assessment on the financial means
of the applicants, the macro-economy including the latest
trend of interest rate and the availability of guarantees and/or
collaterals. In order to maintain competitiveness as compared
to banks, Dahuangyuan adopts a pragmatic approach and is
prepared to offer more flexible terms of loan to customers.

After the grant of loans, regular updates on the credit status
of borrowers, valuation of collaterals and loan repayment
status will be provided by the loan officer of Dahuangyuan
to the Company’s management, who will in turn report
the situation to the Directors of the Company from time to
time. Under the credit policy of the Group, the loan officer
will prepare half-yearly reports on the update status of the
borrowers and the collaterals, normally after face-to-face
meetings with the borrowers and conducting physical visits
at the premises at which the PPE collaterals are situated.
However, as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak, alternative
procedures such as video meetings and video site visits
were encouraged to minimize inter-city traveling and to
protect staff health and safety. If any loan is overdue or the
credit status of a borrower is found to have deteriorated,
Dahuangyuan would normally contact the customers to
understand the reason and if the customers can come up
with credible explanations and can offer feasible solution
in positive attitude, Dahuangyuan would normally be more
prepared to accommodate an amicable solution, including
the extension of the repayment schedule. If the Company
is unsatisfied with the safety margin between the value
of the collateral and the outstanding loan, it will normally
demand additional asset collateral from the customer. If an
overdue customer takes an evasive attitude or if his financial
deterioration is drastic and irreversible, Dahuangyuan would
consider the taking of legal action by way of last resort.

Loan portfolio
Loan portfolio was disclosed in Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Latest status in relation to recovery of the loan due
from Customer A and Customer B

Loan A owed by Customer A

Dahuangyuan granted loans in the total principal amount of
RMB54.15 million (“Loan A") to an independent third party
borrower (“Customer A") pursuant to four financial leasing
agreements (the “Loan A Agreements”). According to the
Company’s records, Customer A was principally engaged in
the business of electricity and communication cables and
wiring, construction and metallic materials. As stated in
Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements, PPE, being
machineries of cables and wiring, in the total assessed value
of HK$114.09 million were pledged in favour of the Group to
fortify the loan.

Dahuangyuan treated Loan A as defaulted since around
September 2021 and reclassified it from Stage 1 (initial
recognition) to Stage 3 (credit impaired) in assessing the ECL
under HKFRS 9. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
a full impairment loss of HK$71 million was recognized
in respect of Loan A. While the assessed value of the
machineries collateral was higher than the outstanding sum
of Loan A, Customer A did not deliver the collateral to the
Group in accordance with the contract terms and the Group
had to resort to litigation to enforce on the asset collateral.

The Company has taken legal actions against Customer A
and court hearings were held in April 2019, March, August
and September 2020, May 2021, and April and November
2022. The Company finally won in these court actions against
Customer A and Customer A was ordered by the court to
repay RMB600,000, RMB6,950,000 and RMB67,040,000
to the Company respectively. As at the date of this annual
report, Customer A still has not repaid the aforesaid amounts
to the Company. The court had appointed a liquidator who
taken over Customer A, and processing the restructuring. The
restructuring plan is expected to be launch in the second half
of 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

Loan B owed by Customer B

Dahuangyuan granted a loan in the principal amount of
RMB26 million (“Loan B”) to an independent third party
borrower (“Customer B”) pursuant to financial leasing
agreement (the “Loan B Agreement”). According to the
Company’s records, Customer B was principally engaged in
the business of entrusted asset management, investment
management, business advisory and private equity
investment. As stated in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statement, PPE, being electronic equipment and machineries,
in the total assessed value of HK$57.51 million were pledged
in favour of the Group to fortify the loan.

Dahuangyuan treated Loan B as defaulted since around
December 2021 and reclassified it from Stage 1 (initial
recognition) to Stage 3 (credit impaired) in assessing the ECL
under HKFRS 9. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
a full impairment loss of HK$29 million was recognized
in respect of Loan B. While the assessed value of the
machineries collateral was higher than the outstanding sum
of Loan B, Customer B did not deliver the collateral to the
Group in accordance with the contract terms and the Group
had to resort to litigation to enforce on the asset collateral.

Dahuangyuan has commenced legal action against Customer
B since April 2022. As the Court litigation is expected to
last for a period of time, full allowance was made in respect
of Loan B pending the outcome of the litigation. The first
Court hearing is expected to be held in the second half of
2024. Depending on the outcome of the mediation and/or
judgment, the Company will take further advice from its PRC
legal adviser to uphold the Company’s legitimate interest.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mineral Products Business

The mineral products business includes the flotation selection
of non-ferrous metals mines and sales of mineral products.
This business segment recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$290.29 million (2022: HK$217.49 million) and accounted
for 34.35% (2022: 23.38%) of the total revenue. The Group
expects the market of this business will remain fine and the
revenue contributed by this segment will represent a larger
portion of the Group’s revenue. Gross profit of this business
segment for the Year was approximately HK$36.42 million
(2022: HK$30.04 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group achieved a revenue of approximately HK$845.00
million (2022: HK$930.28 million), representing a decrease
of 9.17% over last year. Gross profit of the Group was
approximately HK$108.29 million (2022: HK$135.21 million).
The loss (net of tax) was HK$145.59 million (2022: loss (net
of tax) was HK$222.40 million).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were approximately
HK$18.02 million (2022: HK$22.92 million), representing
a decrease of 21.38% from last year and 2.13% (2022:
2.46%) of the Group’s revenue. It was relatively the same as
last year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses were approximately HK$114.13
million (2022: HK$92.20 million), representing an increase
of 23.79% from last year and 13.51% (2022: 9.91%) of the
Group's revenue. The increase was mainly due to the increase
in the provision for additional penalty relating to the default
construction payment.

Finance Costs

Finance costs were approximately HK$100.55 million (2022:
HK$148.50 million), representing a decrease of 32.89%
from last year and 11.90% (2022: 15.96%) of the Group’s
revenue.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
there were trade deposits of HK$241.18 million (2022:
HK$244.67 million) paid for food products and mineral
products and HK$24.18 million (2022: HK$28.30 million) was
paid as rental deposit for the rental business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued shares
of the Company was 6,332,312,083 shares. 18,946,000
shares options were exercised during the Year and as a result
of which 18,946,000 shares were issued.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net assets to
owners of the parent of approximately HK$620.01 million
(2022: HK$801.81 million). Net current assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$35.97 million (2022: HK$161.20 million). The current
ratio (calculated as current assets to current liabilities) for the
Year was 1.03 (2022: 1.15).

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately HK$13.00 million (2022:
HK$14.88 million), which were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$441.65 million
(2022: HK$440.04 million). All of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings were denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars. Included in bank and other borrowings was default
payment for other borrowings of approximately HK$379.21
million (2022: HK$317.28 million). The Company keeps
negotiating with creditors of other borrowings for extension
of repayment period.

The bank loans, other borrowings and amounts due to
related parties are charged at fixed interest rates. The gearing
ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 (calculated as
net debt divided by equity attributable to owners of the
parent plus net debt) was 63.20% (31 December 2022:
53.44%). The ratio was at reasonably adequate level as at
31 December 2023. Having considered the Group's various
measures, arrangements and current unpledged cash and
cash equivalents, bank and other borrowings, banking
facilities, possible fund raising and the business operation
income, the management believes that the Group’s financial
resources are sufficient for its day-to-day operations. The
Group did not use financial instruments for financial hedging
purposes during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.
Fluctuations in Renminbi may impact the Group’s results
and net assets value as the Group's consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars. The Group’s
treasury policy is to manage its foreign currency exposure
only when its potential financial impact is material to the
Group. The Group will continue to monitor its foreign
exchange position and, if necessary, utilize hedging tools, if
available, to manage its foreign currency exposure.

Charge on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, investment properties with fair
value of approximately HK$294.83 million (2022: HK$300.19
million) and personal guarantee by a shareholder of the
Company and related parties were used to secure the Group's
bank borrowings and bills payable.

The shares of two subsidiaries of the Company with net
assets of HK$30.75 million (2022: HK$26.39 million) as
at 31 December 2023 were pledged for a secured bond
since August 2017. As the secured bond has matured, the
bondholder has the right to take over the control of the
two subsidiaries. The Company is in negotiation with the
bondholder for extension of repayment of the bond and as
at the date of this annual report, the two subsidiaries are still
under the control of the Company.

LITIGATIONS

(i) HCA 1867 of 2015
On 18 August 2015, the Company received a
writ of summons issued from the High Court of
Hong Kong (the “Writ”) relating to a claim by Mr.
Qu Shuncai (“Mr. Qu”), a former Director of the
Company. Pursuant to the Writ, Mr. Qu claims against
the Company for the sum of HK$6,069,000 being
damages for the Company’s wrongful refusal of the
issue of 2,500,000 shares of the Company to him
upon his exercise of the share options. The trial was
heard before Judge from 8 December 2022 to 14
December 2022, and on 10 February 2023, it was
adjudicated by the Court that the Company shall pay
damages to the Plaintiff, assessed at HK$4,394,000,
and costs. The Company has decided to appeal against
the said judgment, and thus the Company filed a
Notice of Appeal on 6 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERE SRR

(i)

(iii)

HCA 1948 of 2019

On 24 October 2019, the Company received a writ
of summons (under HCA 1948 of 2019) issued on
behalf of Gemini Funds Limited for an order to direct
the Company to deliver up the share certificate of
5,000,000 (Bonus) Shares issued in January 2016
and damages to be assessed. The said Gemini
Funds Limited has also taken out an application for
summary judgment against the Company returnable
before a Master of the High Court on 9 April 2020.
The legal representative of the Company filed an
Acknowledgment of Service on 6 November 2019,
and the Company has filed a notice to the Court
to oppose the application by the said Plaintiff to
enter judgment against the Company. The hearing
was heard before a Judge on 21 January 2021 and
pursuant to the Judgement, the Company delivered up
the said share certificate to the Plaintiff on 24 March
2021. At the same time, the Company filed a Notice
to Appeal on 18 February 2021.

HCCW 3 of 2023

On 9 January 2023, the Company received a petition
("Mr. Zhang's Petition”) filed by Mr. Zhang Zhiguang
("Mr. Zhang”) for an order that the Company may
be wound up by the High Court under the Ordinance
pursuant to a Statutory Demand (for being unable
to repay a debt of an amount of HK$7,197,841.10).
Details of Mr. Zhang's Petition were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 10 January
2023. On 11 March 2024, the Company and Mr.
Zhang have signed and filed a consent summons to
the High Court of the withdrawal of the Petition.
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(iv)

(v)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CACV 71 of 2023

On 6 March 2023, the Company filed a Notice of
Appeal to the Court to appeal against the Judgment
of HCA 1867 of 2015 that the quantum of damages
be HK$2,944,000.00 only.

HCCW 144 of 2023

On 30 March 2023, the Company received a
winding up petition filed by Mr. Qu Shuncai (under
HCCW 144 of 2023) for an order that the Company
may be wound up by the High Court of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region pursuant to
the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong)
for being unable to pay a debt of an amount of
HK$4,291,684.55, being the Reduced Amount
together with its accrued interest of HK$1,347,684.55
as at 7 March 2023.

The Company and Mr. Qu Shuncai have signed
and filed a consent summons to the High Court
for withdrawn of the Petition. On 7 June 2023, the
Company received the order of the High Court dated
6 June 2023 which ordered, among other things,
that leave be given to the Petitioner to withdraw the
Petition, and the hearing scheduled on 7 June 2023 be
vacated.

(iv)

(v)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERE SRR

(vi)

(vii)

Application for Validation Order

Pursuant to a summons dated 14 July 2023 filed by
the Company with the Cayman Grand Court, on 20
July 2023, the Cayman Grand Court made a validation
order in the following terms:

“That the trading of the Company’s shares and any
transfers of shares or alterations in the status of the
Company’s members made between the date of the
presentation of the Cayman Petition and the date
of any winding-up of the Company, shall not be
void pursuant to section 99 of the Companies Act
in the event that an order for the winding-up of the
Company is made on the Cayman Petition.”

This complements the validation orders made on
16 May 2023 by the High Court in respect of two
winding-up petitions filed in Hong Kong (one of which
petitions has since been withdrawn), as described in
the announcement of the Company dated 19 May
2023.

FSD 146 of 2023

On 13 June 2023, the Company received a petition
(“Cayman Petition”) filed by Mr. Qiu Zhen (the
“Petitioner”) from its Cayman corporate service
provider which had received the Cayman Petition
on 5 June 2023, for an order that the Company be
wound up by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands
(“Cayman Grand Court”) in accordance with the
Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Cayman Petition was filed against the
Company for failing to satisfy a statutory demand
issued on 25 August 2022 in a principal amount
of HK$16,673,418.00 with accrued interest of
HK$738,826.56 as at 12 May 2023.

The Company received the order of the Cayman Grand
Court dated 8 December 2023 which ordered, among
other things, that Mr. Qiu be withdrawn, which was
made pursuant to the Mr. Qiu’s summons dated 8
December 2023 seeking leave from the Cayman
Grand Court to withdraw the Cayman Petition.
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(viii)

(ix)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(2023) Su 0706 Minchu No. 1584, (2023) Su 07
Minchuzhong No. 4275

On 21 February 2023, the Company's subsidiary,
Lianyungang Huajin Huahong Industrial Co., Ltd.
(EEBETEBEXERAT)("Huajin
Huahong”) received a civil ruling (REREE)
issued on behalf of Sun Jie (F2£%) (“Sun”) under
(2023) Su 0706 Minchu No. 1584 ((2023)&k0706
E#015845%) . According to the civil ruling (RZ
FIEZE), Sun being the plaintiff, requested (i) an
order for repayment of the principal amount of
borrowings amounting to RMB10,000,000 and
interests thereon (with interest to be calculated at
4 times of the LPR from 19 August 2022 to the
date of actual payment); (ii) an order for legal fees
of RMB340,000, as well as costs of litigation and
preservation expense of the case. The case has been
appealed to the Lianyungang Intermediate People’s
Court of Jiangsu Province and on 22 November
2023, Huajin Huahong received a civil judgment
under (2023) Su 07 Minchuzhong No. 4275 ((2023)
ERO7ER #4%4275%%) . Pursuant to the civil judgment,
(a) in respect of (i) above, Huajin Huahong shall
repay to Sun the principal amount of the borrowing
of RMB9,735,518.35 and interest of RMB47,071.22;
(b) in respect of (ii) above, Huajin Huahong shall
pay to Sun the attorney’s fee of RMB340,000; (c)
dismissed other litigation claims filed by Sun.

(2023) Su 0707 Minchu No. 2761

On 23 April 2023, the Company’s subsidiary,
Lianyungang Huajin Huahong Industrial Co., Ltd. G&
ERESFREEXAFMRAT) ("Huajin Huahong”)
received a civil mediation (RE&Ef#ZE)issued on
behalf of Lianyungang Wushun Communication
Engineering Co., Ltd. (EEEBEIEEELRERBRA
&) ("Wushun”) under (2023) Su 0707 Minchu No.
2761 ((2023)8k0707E#27615%) . According to the
civil mediation (RZE:8#2£), Wushun being the
plaintiff, after the trial and mediation by the court, the
parties voluntarily reached the following mediation: (i)
Huajin Huahong shall pay the construction payables of
RMB786,518 to Wushun in three installments, and in
the case of late payment, it shall be subject to interest,
which shall be calculated from 7 January 2022 to
the date of actual payment with maximum amount
not exceeding RMB157,303; (i) the dispute over the
construction payables between both parties shall be
settled in one lump sum and there shall be no other
disputes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

POSSIBLE DEBT RESTRUCTURING

In light of the current liquidity constraints and financial
challenges of the Company, including the Petition dated
on 10 January 2023, 27 January 2023 and 15 March 2023,
the Company has been working closely with its professional
advisers and is using its best endeavours to explore various
options available for restructuring the Company’s debts (the
“Proposed Restructuring”), including but not limited to the
restructuring of debts by engaging with its creditors, other
stakeholders and potential investors and by way of a scheme
of arrangement in Hong Kong (the “Creditors’ Scheme”).
The Company will strive to engage in dialogues with creditors
of the Company (the “Creditors”) in order to facilitate
the implementation of a value preserving solution with all
relevant stakeholders.

The Company announced on 23 March 2023 that the
convening hearing in respect of the Creditors’ Scheme,
at which an order will be sought to convene the scheme
meeting for the purpose of considering and, if thought
fit, approving (with or without modification) the Creditors’
Scheme, was scheduled to be heard before the High Court
on 16 June 2023 (Hong Kong time). On 16 June 2023, it
was ordered that the convening hearing in respect of the
Creditors’ Scheme be adjourned before the Companies Judge
to a date to be fixed no later than 5 July 2023. On 20 June
2023, the High Court directed that the convening hearing in
respect of the Creditors’ Scheme be adjourned to be heard
before the Companies Judge on 31 July 2023. On 31 July
2023, it was ordered that the convening hearing in respect
of the Creditors’ Scheme be further adjourned to 18 August
2023.

At the hearing on 18 August 2023, the High Court granted
leave for the Company to convene a meeting of the Creditors
under the Creditors’ Scheme, with any adjournments as
may be appropriate, for the purpose of considering and,
if thought fit, approving (with or without modification)
the Creditors’ Scheme proposed to be made between the
Company and the Creditors pursuant to Sections 670, 671,
673 and 674 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). A hearing of the High Court for the
purpose of sanctioning the Creditors’ Scheme was scheduled
on 29 November 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 20 November 2023, the Scheme Meeting was convened
and held for the purpose of considering and, if thought
fit, approving (with or without modification) the Creditors’
Scheme proposed to be made between the Company and the
Creditors pursuant to Sections 670, 671, 673 and 674 of the
Companies Ordinance.

A total of 30 Scheme Creditors holding Voting Claims
(as defined in the Explanatory Statement of the Scheme
Document) in the aggregate principal amount together
with accrued and unpaid interest of HK$1,009,153,816.42
(representing 98.46% of the total value of outstanding
Voting Claims) attended and voted, in person or by
proxy, at the Scheme Meeting, with a total of 26 Scheme
Creditors holding Voting Claims in the aggregate principal
amount together with accrued and unpaid interest of
HK$946,353,267.75 (representing 92.33% of the total value
of outstanding Voting Claims voting at the meeting) voting
in favour of the Creditors’ Scheme. As such, the Creditors’
Scheme was approved by the requisite majorities of Scheme
Creditors.

On 29 November 2023, the Creditors’ Scheme was
sanctioned without modification by the High Court at the
Sanction Hearing. The Creditors’ Scheme has not become
effective, and the Company has yet to enter into the
Restructuring Agreement to supersede and replace the
legally-binding Term Sheet. The Creditors’ Scheme will not
become effective until (1) an office copy of the order of
the High Court sanctioning the Creditors’ Scheme (without
modification) is registered by the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong under Part 2 of the Companies Ordinance and (2)
the Initial Cash Payment in the amount of HK$45,000,000 is
received by the Scheme Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

The Restructuring Agreement and the Subscription

On 25 January 2024, the Company and the Investor
entered into the Restructuring Agreement in respect of the
conditional Subscription by the Investor of 850,000,000
Subscription Shares at the Total Subscription Price of
HK$85,000,000, representing a Subscription Price of
HK$0.10 per Subscription Share. Upon the allotment
and issue of the Subscription Shares to the Investor,
the Subscription Shares shall in aggregate represent
approximately 11.24% of the Enlarged Issued Share Capital.

The Subscription is subject to, among other things, the
Independent Shareholders’ approval at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened and held for considering and
approving, among other things, transactions contemplated
by the Proposed Restructuring which requires shareholders'’
approval (the “Restructuring EGM"). The Subscription Shares
will be allotted and issued under the Specific Mandate to be
granted by the Shareholders at the Restructuring EGM.

Further details of the Proposed Restructuring are disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 25 January
2024 (the "Restructuring Announcement”). Unless the
context otherwise requires, capitalized terms herein shall
have the same meanings as defined in the Restructuring
Announcement.

The Creditors’ Scheme

The Creditors’ Scheme involves, among others, (i) the Scheme
Share Issue (under which the Company will allot and issue
the Scheme Shares to the Scheme Creditors, or in the case
of any Scheme Creditor who has validly elected to receive
cash in lieu of the Scheme Shares that they would otherwise
be entitled to receive under the Creditors’ Scheme, to the
Scheme Company for the benefit of such Scheme Creditor);
and (ii) the Disposal (under which Interests in Scheme
Subsidiaries will be disposed to the Scheme Company).

Appointment of Independent Financial Adviser

On 14 February 2024, Alpha Financial Group Limited, a
corporation licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities)
and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), was appointed as the Independent
Financial Adviser to advise the Independent Board Committee
and the Independent Shareholders in respect of the
Subscription, the Disposal and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As detailed in Note 2.2 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Note
2.2"), conditions existed as at 31 December 2023 indicating
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt regarding the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. In view of such circumstances, the
management of the Group (the “Management”) has given
careful consideration to Group’s current liquidity, performance
and available sources of financing in considering the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Management has
also taken or will continue to implement the measures as
further detailed in Note 2.2 to mitigate the Group’s liquidity
pressure and to improve the conditions of cash flow. Taking
into account the successful and continued implementation
of such measures, the Management and the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital
for a period of not less than 12 months from 31 December
2023, and hence it is appropriate to prepare the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
The Management and Directors are of the view that the
Group will, based on the action plan devised, have sufficient
cash resources to satisfy future working capital and other
financing requirements as and when they fall due for the
period of not less than twelve months from 31 December
2023.

Disclaimer Opinion

Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of the independent
auditors’ report, our auditors have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion, and do not express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group (the
"“Disclaimer Opinion”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

Action plan to address the Disclaimer Opinion

In order to address the uncertainties which may cast doubt
regarding the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
and with a view to removing the Disclaimer Opinion, the
Company had taken and intends to continue to implement
the measures as further detailed in Note 2.2 to mitigate the
liquidity pressure and to improve its cash flows, including:

0 The management is endeavoring to improve the

Group's operating results and cash flows and will focus
on the existing business of the Group.
Reference is made to the Restructuring Announcement
regarding the Proposed Restructuring comprising the
Subscription, the Scheme Share Issue, the Disposal and
the Creditors’ Scheme.

As disclosed in the Restructuring Announcement, as
part of the Disposal, the Company will dispose of
the Scheme Subsidiaries, namely, Shenzhen Qianhai
Dahuangyuan, Linxiang Qiangsheng, Lianyungang
Huajin Huahong and Shenzhen Meiming Wenshi. As
disclosed in the Restructuring Announcement, after
disposing of the Scheme Subsidiaries, the Group will
focus on the core businesses of the Group, i.e., the
Remaining Food Business and the Rental Business of
the Retained Group, with the view to maintaining
stable cash flow and gradually turn into profitability.

The Disposal, as with the entire Proposed
Restructuring, is still subject to the conditions
precedent of the Creditors’ Scheme being fulfilled
or waived. As disclosed in the Restructuring
Announcement, while the Creditors’ Scheme has
already been approved by the requisite majorities of
the Scheme Creditors at the Scheme Meeting and
sanctioned by the High Court back in November
2023, the Subscription is still subject to Independent
Shareholders’ approval at the EGM which has yet to
be held.
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(i)

(i)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is settling the defaulted debts with its
bondholders and creditors through the Creditors’
Scheme.

As disclosed in the Restructuring Announcement, as
part of the steps of the Creditors’ Scheme, all Claims
owing by the Company to the Creditors as of the
Effective Date, including the said Defaulted Secured
Bonds, the Defaulted Unsecured Bonds, the Defaulted
Other Loans and the Defaulted Construction Payables,
will be discharged and released in full as against the
Company.

As explained in the Restructuring Announcement
and above, the coming into effect of the Creditors’
Scheme is still subject to the conditions precedent
being fulfilled or waived. As disclosed in the
Restructuring Announcement, while the Creditors’
Scheme has already been approved by the requisite
majorities of the Scheme Creditors at the Scheme
Meeting and sanctioned by the High Court back in
November 2023, the Subscription is still subject to
Independent Shareholders’ approval at the EGM which
has yet to be held.

The Company is negotiating with investors with a view
to obtain further financing to improve the liquidity of
the Group.

Apart from the Subscription which is mentioned in
paragraph (iv) below, the Company is also constantly
exploring other fund-raising opportunities, whether
by way of issue of equity, convertible securities and/or
bank or other borrowings. However, such negotiations
have yet to be concluded and no legally-binding
agreement has been reached in respect of such other
financing. Further announcement(s) will be made by
the Company if any of these fund-raising opportunities
materialize which triggers any disclosure obligation on
the part of the Company.

(i)

(i)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERE SRR

(iv)

(v)

On 25 January 2024, the Company and an investor
has entered into a conditional Restructuring
Agreement in respect of the conditional Subscription.
As explained in the Restructuring Announcement, as
part of the Proposed Restructuring, if the Subscription
proceeds to completion, the Company can raise
gross proceeds in the amount of HK$85 million
through the issue of 850,000,000 Subscription
Shares, representing approximately 11.24% of the
Company’s enlarged issued share capital. However,
as explained in the Restructuring Announcement and
above, the Subscription is still subject to Independent
Shareholders’ approval at the EGM which has yet to
be held.

The Creditors’ Scheme has been proposed by the
Company to its scheme creditors whereby the
Admitted Claims will be settled by the Scheme Shares
or Cash Dividends and the Scheme Subsidiaries will be
disposed of and transferred to the Scheme Company.

As disclosed in the Restructuring Announcement,
under the terms of the Creditors’ Scheme, in
exchange for the Creditors’ discharge and release
of their respective Claims against the Company,
the Scheme Creditors will be entitled to receive the
Cash Dividend and, in the case of Scheme Creditors
who have not elected to receive cash in lieu of
the Scheme Shares, the Scheme Shares, for full
and final settlement of their respective Admitted
Claims. However, as explained in the Restructuring
Announcement and above, the coming into effect of
the Creditors’ Scheme is still subject to the conditions
precedent being fulfilled or waived. As disclosed in
the Restructuring Announcement, while the Creditors’
Scheme has already been approved by the requisite
majorities of the Scheme Creditors at the Scheme
Meeting and sanctioned by the High Court back in
November 2023, the Subscription is still subject to
Independent Shareholders’ approval at the EGM which
has yet to be held.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Views of the Management, Board and Audit Committee
In respect of each measure proposed to be taken by the
Management and the Directors to improve the Group's
liquidity as set out above, the Management is of the view
that the Company has a reasonable prospect of successfully
implementing the Proposed Restructuring (particularly the
Disposal and the Creditors” Scheme), principally because the
Company has managed to obtain creditors’ support and the
Court’s sanction of the Creditors’ Scheme back in November
2023. As regards the Subscription, the Management is
of the view that the Company has a reasonable prospect
of successfully implementing it principally because the
Company has entered into a legally binding Term Sheet
with the Investor back in March 2023, and a legally binding
Restructuring Agreement in respect of the Subscription in
January 2024. As regards other financing opportunities,
the Management is of the view that with the successful
implementation of the Proposed Restructuring, the Group
should be able to restore to better operational status (and
therefore profitability), financial position and cash flow, which
is in turn expected to enhance the Group’s capability in
attracting new funding by way of equity or convertible issue
and/or by bank or other borrowing.

After considering the reasoning and explanations of the
Management, the Directors and the Audit Committee are
satisfied with the Management’s views and action plans,
and concurred with the Management that it is appropriate
to present the Company's consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. The Directors and the Audit
Committee are given to understand that the differences with
auditor are factual rather than substantially judgmental, as
the Company also agrees that the planned measures are
subject to conditions and contingency, and is therefore not
in the position to provide any binding document(s) and/or
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to prove the successful
implementation of such measures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

As disclosed in the Results Announcement, the total
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023 amounted
to HK$1,250 million. If the Proposed Restructuring becomes
effective, we expect, on a pro-forma basis, that:

(@) approximately HK$614 million owed to external
parties will be discharged upon the Creditors’ Scheme
becoming effective;

(b) approximately HK$413 million of total liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 will be included in
the Scheme Subsidiaries and deconsolidated upon the
completion of the Disposal;

(@) approximately HK$85 million of trade, other payables
and accrual and HK$112 million of lease liabilities will
remain in the Remaining Group.

As regards item (c), i.e., the remaining liabilities of the
Remaining Group, they are either intended to be settled
by the Group's cashflow from operations in future, and/or
financed by further fund-raising activities whether by way
of equity or convertible issue and/or additional borrowings
from banks/lenders. In the past few years, investors and
financiers were waiting for the successful implementation of
the Proposed Restructuring so that uncertainties are removed
to enable them considering the provision of additional
funding to the Group. With the expected completion of the
Proposed Restructuring in or around the third quarter of
2024, the Company is optimistic about its prospect of raising
further capital by way of equity, convertible or debt. Further,
as explained above, with the debt reduction brought about
by the Proposed Restructuring, it is hoped that the Group
will restore to operation cash inflow and profitability in due
course.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impact of the Disclaimer Opinion on the Company’s
financial position

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as
a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Audit committee’s view on the Disclaimer Opinion

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer
and also the management’s position and action plan of
the Group to address the Disclaimer Opinion. The Audit
Committee is in agreement with the Management with
respect to the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
and in particular the actions or measures to be implemented
by the Management of the Group with a view to remove the
disclaimer of opinion in 2023 financial statements.

Addressing the Disclaimer Opinion

Based on the Company’s discussion with the Auditor, as the
Disclaimer relates to a going concern issue, in preparing the
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2024,
the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and the appropriateness
of preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis, based on the conditions and
circumstances as at 31 December 2024. In accordance with
the Hong Kong Standards on Auditing, sufficient appropriate
audit evidence should be made available regarding the
appropriateness of the Management's use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
Group’s financial statements, so that to enable the Auditor
to conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
multiple uncertainties exist regarding the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE R D

The Management's assessment of the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern as at 31 December 2024
should be based on the conditions and circumstances as
at 31 December 2024 and cash flow projections covering
a period of not less than 12 months from 31 December
2024. The Company's auditors have communicated with the
Management on the Company’s action plans, particularly the
Proposed Restructuring, and concur with the Management
that the Company’s action plans, if successfully implemented,
will help to significantly improve the Group’s liquidity. Barring
unforeseen circumstances or change of situations and
subject to the successful implementation of the Proposed
Restructuring and satisfactory business operating results of
the Remaining Group, the auditors will re-assess the situation
of going concern when the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2024 are ready
for audit in or around February and March 2025.

The Management expects that the Company will be able to
satisfy all conditions to enable the Proposed Restructuring
to become effective in or around the third quarter of 2024.
Assuming all the above plans or actions can be completed
as planned and no new circumstances and conditions have
occurred, subject to satisfactory completion of the Proposed
Restructuring and assuming the availability of sufficient
and appropriate evidence, the Company targets to remove
the Disclaimer Opinon in connection with the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ending 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 147
(2022: 167) employees in Hong Kong and the PRC with
total staff costs amounting to approximately HK$9.32 million
(2022: HK$11.24 million). Remuneration of employees is
offered at competitive standards, generally structured with
reference to market terms and individual qualifications. The
Company has adopted the share option scheme aiming to
provide incentives to participants for their contributions to
the Group, and to enable the Group to recruit and retain
quality employees to serve the Group on a long-term basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has always recognised the importance of
shareholders’ transparency and accountability. It is the belief
of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company
that shareholders can maximise their benefits from good
corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all code provisions set out in
Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code")
contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the year
ended 31 December 2023, except where otherwise stated in
this report.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate culture
focusing on customer first, reliable products and services, and
highest standard of business conducts, which is underpinned
by its objectives and values that enable employees across
the Group to thrive and meet their full potentials by acting
in a lawful, ethical and responsible manner that allows the
Company to deliver sustainable performance for long term
development and operate in a way that benefits society and
the environment.

The Company’s objectives and values serve as a guide
for employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that
they are integrated throughout the Company's business
practices, workplace policies and practices and stakeholder
relationships.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performances. Daily operations and execution
are delegated to the management. The Board is also
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
as set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;
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(@) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to directors
and employees; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The executive directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) provide the Group with a wide range of expertise
and experience. Their participation in Board meetings bring
independent judgment on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interests and management
process, to ensure that the interests of all shareholders are
taken into account. The independent non-executive directors
ensure that the Board accounts for the interests of all
shareholders and that all issues are considered in an objective
manner.

The Board believes that the balance between executive
and non-executive directors is reasonable and adequate to
provide checks and balances that safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Group. The Company considers that the
Board has the necessary skills and experience appropriate for
discharging their duties as directors in the best interests of
the Company and that the current Board size is adequate for
its present operations.

At 31 December 2023, the Board comprised three executive
directors, namely Mr. Jiang lJiancheng (Chairman), Mr. Ke
Xionghan and Mr. Chen Chen; three non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Zhao Wanjiang (Vice-chairman), Ms. Ho Wing
Yan and Mr. Li Dawei; and three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Chong Cha Hwa, Mr. Yang Yunguang
and Mr. Chen Zhifeng. Biographical details of the directors
are set out on pages 51 to 54 of this annual report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to (i)
at least three independent non-executive directors under Rule
3.10(1); (ii) at least one of the independent non-executive
directors must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise under
Rule 3.10(2); and (iii) the independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the board of directors under
Rule 3.10A.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors and considers them to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. This
is achieved by giving directors access to external independent
professional advice from legal advisers and auditor, as well
as their declaration of independence according to the Listing
Rules during the Year. The Board reviews the implementation
and effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanisms on an
annual basis.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other except
(where if any) as disclosed in the “Directors’ Biographies” of
this annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

The Company did not officially have a position of chief
executive officer since 24 June 2016. The Chairman of the
Board provides leadership to the Board to ensure that the
Board works effectively and all important issues are discussed
and dealt with in a timely manner. During the period from
1 January 2023 to 13 June 2023, Mr. Jiang Jianjun was the
Chairman of the Board. Mr. Jiang Jiancheng was appointed
as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 14 June
2023. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness
of the Group’s structure as business continues to grow and
develop in order to assess whether any changes, including
the appointment of a chief executive officer, are necessary.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

The procedures of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are laid in the Articles of Association of the
Company. The procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as a director are available on the website
of the Company.

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, one-third of the directors for the time being,
shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting. The non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors are appointed for specific term ranging
from two to three years.

Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides
that directors appointed either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting after their appointment, and shall be
eligible for re-election by the shareholders.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee to oversee different aspects of
the Company’'s affairs. The terms of reference of these
committees are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee since
2001. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Group's financial statements, overseeing the Group's financial
reporting, risk management and internal control systems,
and making recommendations to the Board. Meetings of the
Audit Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

At 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chong Cha
Hwa, Mr. Yang Yunguang and Mr. Chen Zhifeng. Mr. Chong
Cha Hwa is the chairman of the committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there were two
meetings held by the Audit Committee to (i) discuss auditing
and financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, and the unaudited financial statements for the six
months ended 30 June 2023 with recommendations to
the Board for approval; (ii) review the independence of the
auditors; (iii) review and make recommendations to the Board
on the auditors’ re-appointment and remuneration; and (iv)
review the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 15
September 2005. The Remuneration Committee is
responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy. No individual director or any of his/her
associates is involved in decisions relating to his/her own
remuneration. The remuneration of directors is determined by
the Board by reference to his/her duties and responsibilities
with the Company, the Company’s remuneration policy and
the Remuneration Committee’s recommendation. In order to
align the interests of directors, employees and consultants
with the Group, share options may be granted to directors,
employees and consultants under the Company’s share
option scheme. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
the model under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management. Meetings of the Remuneration Committee
shall be held at least once a year.

At 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
comprised one executive director, namely Mr. Jiang
Jiancheng; and two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Chong Cha Hwa and Mr. Chen Zhifeng. Mr.
Chong Cha Hwa is the chairman of the committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there were three
meetings held by the Remuneration Committee to (i)
review and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the directors and senior management; and
(ii) review and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the new director.

Details of the remuneration paid to directors and members
of senior management by band for the year ended 31
December 2023 are disclosed in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 15
September 2005. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors, making recommendations to the Board
on nominations, appointment of directors and Board
succession with reference to the board diversity policy and
the nomination policy of the Company. Meetings of the
Nomination Committee shall be held at least once a year.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view
to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development.

Selection Criteria: Selection of candidates will be based on
the Company’s Nomination Policy as well as the following
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard to
the benefits of diversity on the Board and also the needs
of the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect.
The Board's composition will be disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report annually.

Review: The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time. It will discuss any revisions
to the Board Diversity Policy and make recommendation to
the Board for approval.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy sets out the key selection criteria and
nomination procedures of the Nomination Committee in
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors.
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Nomination Criteria: In assessing the suitability of the
candidate to the Board regarding the appointment or re-
appointment of any existing director(s), the Nomination
Committee will consider the following factors: the candidate’s
character, integrity and competent to act as director,
skills, knowledge, and experience in the commercial and
professional fields which are relevant to the principal business
of the Group, availability to devote time and attention to the
Board; and with due regard to the Board Diversity Policy.

Nomination Procedures and Requirements. The Nomination
Committee shall convene a meeting to invite nominations
of candidates from directors (if any) or it may also nominate
candidates for its consideration. The Nomination Committee
shall use adequate due diligence in making recommendation
regarding the appointment or re-appointment of any existing
director(s) for the Board’s consideration and approval. The
procedures for shareholders’ nomination of any proposed
candidate for election as a director should follow the
"“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election
as a Director”. The Board shall have the final decision on all
matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand
for election at a general meeting.

Review: The Nomination Committee will review the
Nomination Policy from time to time. It will discuss any
revisions to the Nomination Policy and make recommendation
to the Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee considered that the Board
has sufficient diverse expertise, particularly in corporate
management, financial control, business development and
human resources management, for the Company’s business.

At 31 December 2023, there was one female director (non-
executive director) and eight male directors (comprising three
executive directors, two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors), which was about 11%
female representation of the Board. The Board targets to
maintain at least the current level of female representation
and will continue to take opportunities to increase the
proportion of female members over time as and when
suitable candidates are identified.
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As at 31 December 2023, more than 37% of the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) was female, with
no senior management roles being held by women. The table
below summarizes the share of women at different position
levels across the Group as at 31 December 2023.

RIB_=ZF+"RA=+—H &x&EEKNT
FAEBBKMA (BRESREERE) P37% U LR
Yt WEMEESRERE - TRBMN
TR ZF+ZR=t+—HXEBTEB®K
AL G EE

Level
#R A
Senior
Director Management Manager Employee
Gender 4 5Bl o SiRERE FCELE =]
Male S 8 3 11 73
Female poges 1 = 10 44
Note: The above data is calculated based on the number of total MisE: ULEBEBEDERAERHE_ZT_=

employees of the Group as of 31 December 2023.

i The Senior Management of the Group comprises all
executive directors.

The Board considers that gender diversity is achieved in
general. The Board will continue to explore opportunities to
increase the proportion of female Board members and female
staff across the Group's workforce over time as and when
suitable candidates are identified.

At 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
comprised the Chairman of the Board, Mr. Jiang Jiancheng,
and two independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa and Mr. Chen Zhifeng. Mr. Jiang
Jiancheng is the chairman of the committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there were three
meetings held by the Nomination Committee to (i) review the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) assess the
independence of independent non-executive directors with
reference to the requirements under the Listing Rules; (iii)
nominate the retiring directors for re-election at the annual
general meeting held on 28 June 2023; (iv) review the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy; and (v) nominate
the proposed candidate for appointment to the Board and
Board committees.

The directors’ attendance at the above committees’ meetings
held in 2023 is set out in the section headed “Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” below.
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MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

The Board meets at least four times each year and more
frequently as the needs of the business demand. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, there were five regular Board
meetings held by the directors to (i) review and discuss the
matters relating to the Group's development strategies,
investment projects, business operations and financial
performance, and (ii) approve the annual results for 2022
and the interim results for 2023. Under code provision
C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should
be given of a regular board meeting to give all directors an
opportunity to attend. During the Year, certain regular Board
meetings were convened with less than 14 days’ notice to
enable the directors to react timely and make expeditious
decisions in respect of transactions which were of significance
to the Group’s business. As a result, the aforesaid regular
Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period than
required with no objection by the directors. The Board will do
its endeavours to meet the requirement of this code provision
in future. In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of
the Board met with the independent non-executive directors
without the presence of other directors.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Minutes of meetings of the Board
and Board committees with appropriate details are available
to all directors for inspection. Draft minutes are circulated to
all directors for comment and approval after the Board and
committee meetings.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information,
and they can ask for further information or retain
independent professional advisers if necessary. They also have
unrestricted access to the advice and service of the Company
Secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
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Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial ~EAFEREIEE T RBENDEE > AR
shareholder or director arise, the matter is discussed in a EERNIRGEE LH WIFERAERAR
physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by written ~— FZZERRIE o I 9 R A R B X 2 B IENIT
resolution. Independent non-executive directors with no EEZFTHEFEH UREFXEFT -BEFE
conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with BE (BIEEZEZEg FTWZEEKRESLE
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, B IZEgeR I YERBEESEEEL
Remuneration and Nomination Committees, follow all the  FBZFIEBEREZERKIEF

applicable practices and procedures used in Board meetings

for committee meetings.

Details of directors’ attendance at the Board meetings, Board EREHEREBEE_Z_=F#+-_8A=+—H
committees meetings and annual general meeting held IFEERTEEZCEE EELETTE
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out as  &IREAZZIEREHFINTF :
follows:
Attendance/Eligible to attend
HERY ABEREERY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting®
Name of directors EElS EZges ENZAEEHE FHZEEeE RLZEEE: BRAgC
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Jiang Jiancheng® LR EEY 1 - 0/0 0/0 11
Mr. Jiang Jianjun© TREREO 33 - 1 11 0/0
Mr. Ke Xionghan gL 5/5 - = = 11#
Mr. Chen Chen RERE 5/5 = = = 11#
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Zhao Wanjiang HETEE 2/5 - - - /1
Ms. Ho Wing Yan ML L 5/5 - - - 1/1#
Mr. Li Dawei FREBEE 2/5 - - - 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors — BUHHTTEE
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa BRERE 5/5 0 33 3R 17
Mr. Yang Yunguang BEAEE 5/5 212 - - 1/1¥
Mr. Chen Zhifeng R E 5/5 212 33 3/3 Ak
= The director is not a committee member. - ZEELIFEEEME -
#: The director attended the annual general meeting held on 28 98 EEEBETERCHER S =64
June 2023 by electronic means. ZHNBHRITHRESAE

(a) According to the Company's Articles of Association, there @) RIEAR A BAAMZIZMA) > BERIECETHE
is no provision to provide that attendance by the director at EEEETHRTCHEREAGAIAEAR
a general meeting by electronic means may be counted as BUHESH-
physical attendance.
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(b) Mr. Jiang Jiancheng was appointed as an executive director,
the Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company on 14 June 2023. He retired at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2023
("2023 AGM") pursuant to the Articles of Association of
the Company and was re-appointed as an executive director,
the Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company at the Board meeting immediately held after
the 2023 AGM.

(©) Mr. Jiang lJianjun resigned as an executive director, the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company with effect from 14 June 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All newly appointed directors have been provided with an
induction on their appointment to the Board so as to ensure
that each of them has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that they are
fully aware of their responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has provided relevant
materials published by professional bodies or regulators to
the directors to keep them abreast of the latest development
of legal, regulatory and corporate governance. The Company
has also devised a training record in order to assist the
directors to record the training they have undertaken and
they are requested to provide a training record to the
Company.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the
training that the directors received for the year ended 31
December 2023 is summarized as follows:

BEBEAABDRFILCH EFNHBEE_S
T+ AT HLEFEEZZEIIR
I

Attending seminars/
conferences/courses/
readings relevant to
the business,
corporate governance
or directors’ duties

BEBRER-
ﬁ¥%;ﬁﬁ§$ﬂﬁ§§2
FEXE g,
Name of directors EEN4 =2 RERRAMN
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Jiang Jiancheng® IR ST E® 4
Mr. Jiang Jianjun® IEESLE v
Mr. Ke Xionghan i3 e v
Mr. Chen Chen fR R T4 4
Non-executive Directors FEPITEE
Mr. Zhao Wanjiang HEIILE 4
Ms. Ho Wing Yan Ak IRZ v
Mr. Li Dawei EREBRE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFBITEE
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa SRRIESLE 4
Mr. Yang Yunguang e Sarpira 4
Mr. Chen Zhifeng PRES #25E 7
Notes: Mt -
(a) Mr. Jiang Jiancheng was appointed as an executive director, @) SIEREER - E = \A+NHES

the Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company on 14 June 2023. He retired at 2023 AGM
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company and
was re-appointed as an executive director, the Chairman of
the Board, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company at
the Board meeting immediately held after the 2023 AGM on
18 June 2023.

(b) Mr. Jiang lJianjun resigned as an executive director, the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company with effect from 14 June 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code on ethics and securities
transactions (the “Code"”), which incorporates a code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) of the Listing Rules. Specified
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company are also subject to the
compliance with the Code. Having made specific enquiry of
all existing directors, the Company confirms that the directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the
Code and the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
ACCOUNTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced
assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects. The
directors also acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. The Group had defaulted in
repayments of its debts, (the “Defaulted Debts”), including:
i) default in repayment of principal amount of secured bonds
of HK$109,000,000 and interests thereon of approximately
HK$135,360,000 (the “Defaulted Secured Bonds"); ii) default
in repayment of principal amount of unsecured bonds of
HK$249,414,000 and interests thereon of approximately
HK$84,981,000 (the “Default Unsecured Bonds”); iii) other
loans of principal amount of HK$20,800,000 and interest
thereon of approximately HK$3,449,000 (the “Defaulted
Other Loans”); and iv) default in settlement of construction
payables which, including additional penalties thereon,
amounted to approximately HK$131,848,000 (the “Defaulted
Construction Payables”), in respect of which the Group
had received a notice from the contractor of the event of
default and demand for payment. In addition, the Group
had outstanding bank and other borrowings other than
the Defaulted Secured Bonds and Defaulted Unsecured
Bonds of approximately HK$62,439,000 as at 31 December
2023 which were due for repayment or renewal in the next
twelve months after 31 December 2023 and incurred a loss
for the year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately
HK$145,588,000. These events or conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2.2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Save for disclosed above and
in note 2.2 to the consolidated financial statements, for the
purpose of the Company’s financial year ended 31 December
2023, the Board was not aware of any other events or
conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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In the light of the various measures or arrangements to
improve the working capital and liquidity and cash flow
position of the Group together with the expected results
of the other measures which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Disclaimer of Opinion - Action plan to address the
Disclaimer Opinion” in the Management Discussion and
Analysis of this annual report, the directors are of the view
that the Group will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirements and it is reasonable to expect the Group
to remain a commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the
directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the auditors with respect to these
financial statements are set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on page 72 of this annual report. However, because
of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of the independent auditors’ report, our auditor was
not able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
outcome of these measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties.

The Audit Committee after considering all factors above
concurs with the Management and the Board on preparation
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of
the measures under management’s assumptions, which
are subject to multiple uncertainties. In all other respects,
in the opinion of the Auditor, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to the external
auditors of the Company, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited, in respect of their audit services provided to the
Group was HK$1,600,000.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Goals and Obijectives

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management
and internal control systems are designed for managing
risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Board has delegated its responsibilities of risk
management and internal control to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems, and the management has to ensure
the effectiveness of these systems.

Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main
responsibilities of each level of the structure are summarized
below:

The Board is responsible to determine the business strategies
and objectives of the Group, and evaluates and determines
the nature and extent of risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives; ensures that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems; and oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems.

Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to
perform its responsibilities of risk management and internal
control systems; overseeing the Group'’s risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis; reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems at least annually, and such review should
cover all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance control, as well as the process for the
identification, evaluation and management of significant
risks (including ESG risks) faced by the Group; ensuring the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget for the Group's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company's ESG performance
and reporting; and considering major findings on risk
management and internal control matters, and reports and
makes recommendations to the Board.
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The senior management designs, implements and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems; identifies, evaluates and manages the risk
that may potentially impact the major processes of the
operations; monitors risk and take measures to mitigate risk
in the day-to-day operations; gives prompt responses to and
follow up the findings on risk management and internal
control matters raised by the internal auditor or external
risk management and internal control adviser; and provides
confirmation to the Board and Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems.

Internal auditor is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems; and reports to the Audit Committee on the
findings of the review and makes recommendations to the
Board and management to improve the material systems
deficiencies or control weaknesses identified.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and considers them
effective and adequate, save that the Company has not had
a Financial Controller in overseeing the Group’s finance and
accounting function since September 2022. The Company
has been proactively identifying the candidate with the right
qualification and experience for appointment as the Financial
Controller of the Group.

Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s responsibilities, the Company has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal
control defects. Senior management is responsible for the
annual risk reporting process. Internal auditor will meet with
various members of the senior management to review and
assess risks and discuss solutions to address material internal
control defects, including any changes relevant to a given
year. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation
plans are documented. The risk assessment is reviewed by
certain members of senior management and presented to the
Audit Committee and the Board for their review.
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Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management
based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on the
Company’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the risk
will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which a risk could
occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the
risks as follows:

o Risk elimination — senior management may identify
and implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

o Risk mitigation — senior management may implement
a risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the
likelihood, velocity or the severity of the risk to an
acceptable level.

o Risk retention — senior management may decide that
the risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable
for the Company and that no action is required. The
risk would continue to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of risk does
not increase to an unacceptable level.

Internal Audit Function

The Group’'s internal audit function is performed by the
internal auditor who reports directly to the Audit Committee.
Internal auditor plays an important part in the assessment
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reports directly to the Audit
Committee on a regular basis.

The internal auditor conducts internal reviews on material
controls and compliance with policies and procedures of the
Group at both operational and corporate levels. Plans and
tools for corrective actions and control improvement are
identified and communicated with operations management
to address an issue, non-compliance or deficiencies identified.
The internal auditor monitors the implementation of his
recommendations by operations management and reports
the outcomes to the Audit Committee.
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The Group is fully aware of its obligation of handling and
dissemination of inside information under the Listing Rules
and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has a set of procedures
and controls in place to preserve the confidentiality of inside
information relating to the Group. All Board members and
senior management, who are likely to possess the Group’s
inside information because of their offices or employments
in the Group, are required to follow the guidelines of the
code of conduct and the staff handbook to keep unpublished
inside information strictly confidential.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Kwong
Leung, Eric, who is engaged and appointed by the Company
from an external secretarial services provider and his primary
corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. Chan Siu
Fung, the Vice General Manager of the Company. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Chan Kwong Leung,
Eric has complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, the issuer
should have a policy on payment of dividends and should
disclose it in the annual report. As the Company is still in its
development phase and the performance will continue to
be impacted by the relevant industry and economic outlook
in the foreseeable future, the Board is of the opinion that it
is not appropriate to adopt a dividend policy at this stage.
The Board will review the Company’s status periodically and
consider to adopt a dividend policy if and when appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary general
meeting and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, any two or more shareholders (including a
recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))) holding, as
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on a
one vote per share basis, in the share capital of the Company
can deposit a written request at the head office and principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room
225, 2/F, Mega Cube, 8 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board or
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general
meeting (“"EGM").

The Company will verify the request with the Company's
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong
and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the Board will be asked to convene an EGM by
serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders in
accordance with the requirements set out in the Listing Rules
and the Company’s Articles of Association. In the event that
the request has been verified as not in order, the shareholders
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly,
an EGM will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition,
the Board does not proceed duly to convene an EGM, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the EGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit
of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of the Board or Company
Secretary via the followings:

Address :  Room 225, 2/F, Mega Cube,
8 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax © (852) 2880 5398

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 28 June 2023, the shareholders have approved at the
2023 AGM the proposed amendments (the “Amendments”)
to the Memorandum and Articles of Association by way
of adoption of the new Memorandum and Articles of
Association in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the
existing Memorandum and Articles of Association in order
to (i) conform to the core shareholder protection standards;
(i) bring the Memorandum and Articles of Association in
line with amendments made to the Listing Rules and the
applicable law and procedures in the Cayman Islands; and
(i) incorporate certain housekeeping changes. Details of the
Amendments were set out in the circular of the Company
dated 5 June 2023. The latest amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant
information to shareholders in a timely manner. The
Company also recognises that people other than
shareholders, such as potential investors and the investment
community generally may have an interest in information
about the Company.
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Annual and interim reports offer comprehensive operational
and financial performance information to shareholders
and the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. All
the shareholders of the Company are given not less than 21
days' notice of the date and venue of the annual general
meeting of the Company. The Company complied with the
requirements concerning voting by poll under the Listing
Rules. Details of the poll voting procedures and the rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are explained by the chairman
of general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions proposed
at general meeting are voted separately.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements
and notices of general meetings, as well as the terms of
reference of Board committees are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy including steps
taken at the general meetings, the handling of queries
received (if any) and the multiple channels of communication
and engagement in place, and considered that the policy has
been properly implemented during the Year and is effective.
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The directors of the Company as at the date of this annual
report are as follows:

Mr. JIANG Jiancheng, aged 52, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company and the Chairman of the
Board on 14 June 2023. He retired at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2023 (“2023
AGM") pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company and was re-appointed as an executive director of
the Company and the Chairman of the Board at the Board
meeting of the Company immediately held after the 2023
AGM. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company. He also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Jiang was the executive director of the
Company for the period from April 2014 to November 2017.
He graduated from Department of Industrial Control And
Automation of Hefei University of Technology. Mr. Jiang has
been engaged in real estate leasing industry since 1993 and
has extensive experience in marketing and management. He
is the brother of Mr. Jiang Jianjun, the ex-chairman and an
ex-executive director of the Company.

Mr. KE Xionghan, aged 59, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in June 2016. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ke graduated
from the Department of Law of Huazhong University of
Science and Technology. He is the president of Shenzhen
Tiantianwang Taige Technology Co. Ltd.* GEIIK KL ZRE
Bl ARAT), a company mainly engaged in the import
and export business of electronic products and mineral
products. Mr. Ke was the general manager of Indonesia
Huaming Yang International Trading Company* (ENJE ZBE[5
EPR & 5 A E)) and worked in the Bank of China, Zhanjiang
Branch for over 20 years, during which period, he served as
the section chief of Retail Business Department, Company
Business Department and Credit Management Department as
well as the president of the sub-branch.

Mr. CHEN Chen, aged 24, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in September 2021. He graduated
from Wuhan Sports University (El;£8& 5 2 B5%) majoring in
sport training. Mr. Chen is currently working in Dongguan
Junjing Hardware Products Company Limited* GREEMEE &
FEHEERAR).

*  For identification purposes only
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Mr. ZHAO Wanjiang, aged 46, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company and the Vice-chairman of
the Board in January 2022. He is currently the department
head of Human Resources of Beidahuang Trading Group Co.,
Limited* Qb AT BEBEBRASEEE (A7) #EK) and
a director of Beidahuang Business Group (HK) International
Trade Co., Limited (“Beidahuang HK"), a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Ms. HO Wing Yan, aged 42, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company in April 2015. She holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration in Applied
Economics from Hong Kong Baptist University and a Master
Degree of Corporate Governance from The Open University
of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong Metropolitan
University). Ms. Ho is an Associate Member of both The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute ("HKCGI") and
The Chartered Governance Institute. She is also a holder
of the Practitioner’s Endorsement issued by HKCGI. Ms.
Ho is a director of BMI Listed Corporate Services Limited
and is responsible for managing the business operations of
the company secretarial and administrative services for the
reputable listed groups in various industries. She has extensive
experience in a diversified range of professional corporate
services for Hong Kong and offshore companies from various
business sectors. Ms. Ho particularly specializes in corporate
governance advisory, corporate restructuring, corporate
financing and directors’ professional development with
emphasis on listed companies and she continues to advise
on these matters on a consultancy basis. Ms. Ho actively
participates in the formulation and execution of strategy at
the companies. She has been providing practical professional
services to companies listed on the Main Board and GEM of
the Stock Exchange for over 15 years. Ms. Ho currently serves
as a non-executive director of Silkwave Inc, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and as an independent non-executive director of Solowin
Holdings, the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaq in the
United States.

*  For identification purposes only
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Mr. LI Dawei, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company in January 2022. He graduated from
Mineral Processing and Utilization Engineering Department of
Coal Chemical Technology, Heilongjiang Mining Institute (£
B IBEERBYNIANAIRZBELECIIEER). Mr
Li is a senior accountant. He is currently the general manager
of Tianjin Dahuang Electronic Commerce Co., Limited* (<
BATMBTFEFBRAR)and a senior management of the
member companies of Beidahuang HK.

Mr. CHONG Cha Hwa, aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in
December 2018. He is also a member of the nomination
committee, the chairman of each of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Chong is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants. He holds a bachelor degree of management
with honours from the University of Science, Malaysia.
Mr. Chong has more than 20 years of experience in the
accounting and finance area servicing private and publicly
listed companies in Hong Kong and the Southern Asia region.
He currently serves as an independent non-executive director
of Solowin Holdings, the shares of which are listed on the
Nasdag in the United States. Mr. Chong was an independent
non-executive director of Sino Energy International Holdings
Group Limited from March 2021 to October 2022, the shares
of which were delisted from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 16 December 2022. He was an
executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited
(currently known as Wuxi Life International Holdings Group
Limited) from October 2020 to April 2021, the shares of
which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

*  For identification purposes only
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Mr. YANG Yunguang, aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in July
2018. He is also a member of the audit committee of the
Company. Mr. Yang holds a Master's Degree in National
Economics from Northwest University. He has served as senior
management positions of insurance companies in the PRC
since 1989. Mr. Yang has over 30 years of experience in the
financial industry and corporate management.

Mr. CHEN Zhifeng, aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in May
2021. He is also a member of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Chen graduated from Zhanjiang Ocean
University (currently known as Guangdong Ocean University)
majoring in Business English. He is currently a manager of
Shenzhen Qianhai Badi Industrial Company Limited* &Il
mAE N \MEZEERAT). Mr. Chen has over 9 years of
experience in property leasing and management in the PRC.

*  For identification purposes only
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's
principal activities during the Year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 73 to
231.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the Year.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate,
is set out on page 232. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 is provided in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 28 of
this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the Year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the
Financial Highlights on page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the Year are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company's reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$Nil, representing
the share premium account of the Company of approximately
HK$1,662.11 million less the accumulated losses as at 31
December 2023 of approximately HK$2,079.49 million.
Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands (as
amended), the share premium account of the Company is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium account may also be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, sales attributable
to the largest customer of the Group amounted to
approximately 8% of the total sales and the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for 28% of the Group’s
total sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases
attributable to the largest supplier of the Group amounted to
approximately 13% of the total purchases and the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for 32% of the Group’s
total purchases.
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None of the directors of the Company or any of their close
associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of
the directors own more than 5% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group's
five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Jiancheng (Chairman) (appointed on 14 June 2023,
retired at the 2023 AGM on 28
June 2023 and re-appointed on
28 June 2023)

Mr. KE Xionghan
Mr. CHEN Chen

Mr. JIANG Jianjun (Chairman)  (resigned on 14 June 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Wanjiang
(Vice-chairman)

Ms. HO Wing Yan

Mr. LI Dawei

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHONG Cha Hwa

Mr. YANG Yunguang

Mr. CHEN Zhifeng

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Jiang Jiancheng will retire and being eligible,
has offered himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Ke Xionghan, Mr. Chen Chen and Ms.
Ho Wing Yan will retire by rotation and being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company are set
out on pages 51 to 54 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company's board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party subsisted at any time during the
Year or at the end of the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the

meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as

otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of directors

B4R
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s

M. Jiang Jiancheng
TEREE

Mr. Ke Xionghan
Tl 89 7

Mr. Chen Zhifeng
PR #EEE

Ms. Ho Wing Yan
sk =

Mr. Yang Yunguang
BENXRE

Mr. Li Dawei
FAERE

Capacity and nature of interest shares held issued shares
(E VNS
BEITRMNZ
BRREZEE RERNKEE BABERL
Beneficial owner 27,868,000 0.440%
BalEBA
Beneficial owner 10,120,000 0.160%
EmEEA
Beneficial owner 900,000 0.014%
BmEAA
Beneficial owner 900,000 0.014%
BalEBA
Beneficial owner 900,000 0.014%
EmEEA
Beneficial owner 40,000 0.001%
BmEAA
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Long position in share options of the Company:

Name of director

REQACEREZER

Number of
share options
directly
beneficially
owned
EREEEEZ
fBiREHE

Mr. Chong Cha Hwa

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the directors had registered an interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the following interests in shares
of 5% or more of the issued shares of the Company were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHRE
Long position: G~
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Name Capacity and nature of interest shares held  issued shares
% VNS
BEITRNZ
e, 4 S kERNEE FRERHHUB BAEaL
Beidahuang Business Group (HK) Beneficial owner 660,000,000 10.42%
International Trade Co., Limited
(formerly known as Beidahuang (HK)
International Trade Co., Limited)
("Beidahuang HK")
LTARHEER (&8 BREZBRAT BEnEEA
(RITBILATE (B8 BREZERAHE)
(HERFREA)
Heilongjiang Nongken Beidahuang Business Interest of controlled corporation 660,000,000% 10.42%
Trade Liability Group Co., Ltd*
(“Beidahuang Business Group”)
BRIRBLATHEEREREELH SEREE S
(MERRHEER))
Beidahuang Agribusiness Group Co., Ltd* Interest of controlled corporation 660,000,000% 10.42%
(formerly known as Heilongjiang Beidahuang
Agribusiness Group Corporation*)
("Beidahuang Group”)
TAFRREBERARAR FIRERIILAR REREEET
=EEEEAT) (MEARER))
Jiang Jianjun Beneficial owner 456,173,182 7.20%
IRE BEnEEA
Interest of spouse 3,800,000 0.06%
FofdtE
Li Zhuoxun Interest of spouse 456,173,182¢ 7.20%
B8 FofdtE
Beneficial owner 3,800,000 0.06%
BREEA
*  For identification purposes only * [EEBF
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Notes:

(a) These 660,000,000 shares were held by Beidahuang HK,
which was wholly owned by Beidahuang Business Group
which in turn was wholly owned by Beidahuang Group.
Accordingly, each of Beidahuang Business Group and
Beidahuang Group was deemed to be interested in the
660,000,000 shares held by Beidahuang HK by virtue of the
SFO.

(b) These 3,800,000 shares were held by Ms. Li Zhuoxun, the
spouse of Mr. Jiang Jianjun. Mr. Jiang Jianjun was therefore
deemed to be interested in the 3,800,000 shares held by Ms.
Li Zhuoxun by virtue of the SFO.

(0) These 456,173,182 shares were held by Mr. Jiang Jianjun,
the spouse of Ms. Li Zhuoxun. Ms. Li Zhuoxun was therefore
deemed to be interested in the 456,173,182 shares held by
Mr. Jiang Jianjun by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person,
other than the directors of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares
and Underlying Shares” above, had registered an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2017
Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 June 2017
(the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the 2017 Scheme is
to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Group. The 2017 Scheme, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
the Adoption Date. Further details of the 2017 Scheme are
disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27
June 2022, the scheme mandate limit for the 2017 Scheme
was refreshed and approved by the then shareholders
to allow the Company to grant share options entitling
holders thereof to subscribe for up to 622,512,568 shares,
representing approximately 9.83% of the issued shares of the
Company as at the date of this report. Such limit together
with 399,754,000 outstanding share options previously
granted, the total number of shares available for issue under
the 2017 Scheme is 1,022,266,568 shares, representing
approximately 16.14% of the issued shares of the Company
as at the date of this report.

At the abovementioned annual general meeting, the
then shareholders also approved the imposition of vesting
condition to 397,000,000 share options granted to 54
consultants (the “Consultants”) on 11 June 2021. The
vesting condition has to be satisfied before the Consultants
can exercise their share options. The Board is of the view that
the imposition of the vesting condition can serve the purpose
of the 2017 Scheme. Up to the date of this report, the
vesting condition has yet been satisfied. For further details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
27 May 2021, 11 June 2021 and 25 February 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated 26 May 2022.

During the Year, 18,946,000 share options were exercised,
and no share options were granted, cancelled or lapsed under
the 2017 Scheme.

The number of share options available for grant under the
scheme mandate limit of the 2017 Scheme as at 1 January
2023 and 31 December 2023 was both 622,512,568.
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s ~ FTXRIFEBFARARRIEFE T — L F&H8/%
share options granted under the 2017 Scheme during the 2 BB ES) .
Year:
Number of share options
fEREHE
Exercise
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed At price of
Name or category 1 January during during during during 31 December Date of grant of  Exercise period of share
of participants 2023 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2023 share options share options options®
7
i —g”=
ZBZ= +ZA fRlRtE
SHEERLNLER —A—-B FREH FRTHE FRFHH FREK =+-B  BRERHBH BRETES fTEEe
HK$
per share
SRET
Directors
£
Ms. Ho Wing Yan 900,000 - (900,000) - - - 11-06-21 11-06-21 — 10-06-24 0.1
(BBl es
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa 900,000 - - - - 900,000 11-06-21 11-06-21 — 10-06-24 0.1
RRERLE
1,800,000 - (900,000) - - 900,000
Other Employees
Hittfe S
In aggregate 19,900,000 - (18,046,000) - - 1,854,000 11-06-21 11-06-21 — 10-06-24 0.1
st
Consultants
R
In aggregate 397,000,000 - = - - 397,000,000 11-06-21 11-06-21 — 10-06-24 0.1
st
418,700,000 - (18,946,000) - - 399,754,000
Notes: Mk -

(a) The exercise price of the share options is subject to (a) EHR AR 1T AR B PR AR H A 8 1L
adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar BENER T BRENTEEEEHH
changes in the Company’s share capital. o

(b) The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares (b) FRAREEREETEEBRIRNABRMG
immediately before the dates on which the share options MEFHWRHERER0.19E T
were exercised during the Year was HK$0.19 per share.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended M EXFRIEEEIIN R E _E_=F+_
31 December 2023 were rights to acquire benefits by B=+—HUIEFEEFAEE EEGHER
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the BziEmRmt/\ R FeEEREIRK
Company granted to any of the directors or their respective BEARNT R N ERESEERNm R 1
spouses or children under 18 years of age, or were any LR ETETEARER ; KT KREEM
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any B A IR ms] (A28 M(FEESEn]
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the I BT E s A\ B BE > A RAH#ER o

directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank
loan of HK$24,686,000 and bills payables of HK$63,674,000
were guaranteed by the investment properties of the Group,
Mr. Jiang Jianjun (substantial shareholder of the Company as
at 31 December 2023) and his wife and related parties.

The personal guarantees made by Mr. Jiang Jianjun and his
wife and related parties as guarantors in favour of the Group
in the abovementioned bank loan constituted connected
transaction of the Company in the form of financial
assistance under the Listing Rules. According to Rule 14A.90
of the Listing Rules, such financial assistance received by the
Group is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as the directors consider
that it is conducted on normal commercial terms or better
and it is not secured by the assets of the Group.

Continuing Connected Transactions
During the year, there was no continuing connected
transactions of the Company subsisted.

The related party transactions as disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements fell under the definition
of “connected transactions” or "continuing connected
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Group has complied with the disclosure requirements, where
applicable, in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

transactions”

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares was
held by the public as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

At 31 December 2023, none of the directors was interested
in any business, apart from the Group’s business, which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the paragraph titled “Share Option
Scheme” on page 62 of this report, the Company has not
entered into any equity-linked agreement during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Details of the discussion on the environmental policies and
performance of the Company are set out in the standalone
Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Employees are one of the most important assets and
stakeholders of the Group, their contribution and support are
values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies according to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Share options
are granted to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the
Group to different levels of success.

The Group encourages its staff to participate in external
seminars and lectures to keep abreast of changes and
updates on areas of legal, compliance, financial accounting
and reporting, and market industry practices. Through these
types of training, we believe that the Group can increase
its efficiency and productivity while in general, the risk and
uncertainties of the Group can be reduced.

The Company encourages continuous professional
development training for the directors and employees to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills which includes
seminars and workshops, updates on regulatory requirements
and development and corporate governance practices.

The Group also strives to provide a healthy and safe working
environment to the employees.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

RELIEF FROM TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of
their holding of the shares of the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity
against liability incurred by directors and other officers of the
Group is currently in force and was in force throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
as the auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Jiancheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BAAZBETIRS

B it EH A RN A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the shareholders of China Beidahuang Industry
Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 73 to 231, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going concern
basis

As stated in Note 2.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the Group had
defaulted in repayments of its debts, including: i) secured
bonds of principal amount of HK$109,000,000 and interests
thereon of approximately HK$135,360,000 (the “Defaulted
Secured Bonds”); ii) unsecured bonds of principal amount
of HK$249,414,000 and interests thereon of approximately
HK$84,981,000 (the “Default Unsecured Bonds”); iii) other
loans of principal amount of HK$20,800,000 and interest
thereon of approximately HK$3,449,000 (the “Defaulted
Other Loans”); and iv) construction payables which, including
additional penalties thereon, amounted to approximately
HK$131,848,000 (the “Defaulted Construction Payables”),
in respect of which the Group had received a notice from
the contractor of the event of default and demand for
payment. In addition, the Group had outstanding bank
and other borrowings other than the Defaulted Secured
Bonds and Defaulted Unsecured Bonds and Defaulted
Other Loans of approximately HK$62,439,000 as at 31
December 2023 which were due for repayment in the next
twelve months after 31 December 2023 and incurred a loss
for the year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately
HK$145,588,000. These events and conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in Note 2.2, indicate that material
uncertainties existed as at 31 December 2023 that cast
significant doubts on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.
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The Directors have assessed the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern and are undertaking measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position and
enable the Group to meet its liabilities as and when they fall
due. These plans for future actions in relation to the going
concern assessment, which are set out in Note 2.2 to the
consolidated financial statements, include: (i) management
is endeavoring to improve the Group's operating results and
cash flows through cost control measures and will focus
on the existing business of the Group; (i) the Company is
negotiating with investors with a view to obtain further
financing including but not limited to equity financing,
bank borrowings and issuance of new convertible bonds to
improve the liquidity of the Group; (iii)) On 25 January 2024,
the Company and an investor has entered into a conditional
restructuring agreement in respect of the conditional
subscription by the investor of 850,000,000 subscription
shares at the total subscription price of HK$85,000,000,
representing a subscription price of HK$0.10 per subscription
share; and (iv) a creditors’ scheme (the “Scheme”) has been
proposed by the Company to its scheme creditors whereby,
in consideration for the full and final settlement of their
respective admitted claims, the Company will allot and issue
the scheme shares to the scheme creditors, or pay cash
dividends in the case of those scheme creditors who have
validly elected to receive cash in lieu of the scheme shares
that they would otherwise be entitled to receive under the
creditors’ scheme which will involve the disposal of certain
subsidiaries at nil or nominal consideration.

The validity of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis depends on the successful
eventual outcome of the above mentioned plans and
measures, which are inherently uncertain and as at the date
of this report cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty
and are still subject to multiple uncertainties, particularly in
respect of whether the Scheme and Proposed Restructuring
will eventually be successfully completed.
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Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes
from the above-mentioned plans and measures, it might
not be able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their net
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that
may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of
management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
because of the lack of detailed analyses provided by
management in relation to its plans and measures for future
actions in its going concern assessment which take into
account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and
measures and how variability in outcome would affect the
future cash flows of the Group. Any adjustments found to
be required may have consequential significant effects on
the consolidated net assets of the Group as at 31 December
2023 and the consolidated loss and other comprehensive
expense and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023, and the related elements and disclosures
thereof presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BAAZRENIRS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSA") issued by the HKICPA
and to issue an auditors’ report and solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
toward or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate number: P06901

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERmAHEMEEEARR

Year ended 31 December 2023
BHETE T -—F+-BA=1+—HLEFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i FAET TFET
Revenue WA 5 844,999 930,276
Cost of sales THE A (736,708) (795,067)
Gross profit EF 108,291 135,209
Other income, gains or losses HAm A~ Iz s 518 6 2,422 2,697
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDIHEE (18,015) (22,924)
Administrative expenses THERHEX (114,125) (92,196)
(Loss)/profit from operation 1 (F518) /aA (21,427) 22,786
Net allowance of expected credit losses FEHEA(E BB H F5A (414) (40,351)
Other operating expense H&EM= - (38,903)
Finance costs ALE A A 8 (100,553) (148,496)
Share of loss of associates DMLBE A BEE (22,468) (19,934)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBABZ W 34 - 627
Loss before taxation PRI ARS8 7 (144,862) (224,271)
Taxation I8 11 (726) 1,872
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEBE (145,588) (222,399)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Efth2mE (i) WA
ltems that may be reclassified HEBJEEMDEE
subsequently to profit or loss: Bm2IEE
Release of exchange differences upon  HE M B A B R0
disposal of subsidiaries b 72 = 2B = 5,655
Exchange differences arising on ME B INETS KB
translation of foreign operations and NEEFEZERERE
associates (28,809) (117,283)
Total comprehensive expense FELHMAZARLE
for the year (174,397) (334,027)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
rERmAkHMEEBARR

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=F+"_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P EE FHET TFAET
(Loss)/profit for the year TEEFE (B18)
attributable to: A
Owners of the Company KABHEA A (153,317) (218,450)
Non-controlling interests TR R 7,729 (3,949)
(145,588) (222,399)
Total comprehensive (expense)income F7fELEERE
for the year attributable to: (%) IR A4BZE
Owners of the Company KABHEB A (181,801) (326,868)
Non-controlling interests JFEER T 7,404 (7,159)
(174,397) (334,027)
LOSS PER SHARE BiREE 13
— Basic and diluted (in HK cents) —EARKREE GBI (2.42) (3.49)

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBIRRER
31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M sE FAET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y ERN =Y 4 14 36,756 44,004
Investment properties KREME 15 403,448 412,381
Right-of-use assets EHREEE 16 65,051 96,522
Goodwill EES 18 3,605 3,675
Other intangible assets HihwmEE 19 = -
Interests in associates N NI 20 169,772 204,738
678,632 761,320
CURRENT ASSETS WENEE
Inventories =78 21 163,782 149,351
Properties for sale HEYE 22 398,388 383,980
Trade receivables FEW B Z R 23 126,787 145,567
Loan receivables EE = 17 194,597 199,358
Prepayments, deposits and other TE(TRRIB ~ & R HAth
receivables FEU I8 24 287,050 290,518
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 25 12,996 14,880
1,183,600 1,183,654
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Trade and bills payables e B Z R
FE B 26 146,821 157,291
Other payables and accruals HME N RIE R
FEst & A 27 406,318 247,566
Contract liabilities asHasE 28 110,573 132,835
Bank and other borrowings BT REMES 29 441,653 440,044
Amounts due to related parties FE A RA Bk 75 7R 39 3,900 691
Tax payable FEIRIE 5,953 5,461
Lease liabilities HEas 31 32,408 38,569
1,147,626 1,022,457
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENE ERE 35,974 161,197
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEMRERRBEE
LIABILITIES 714,606 922,517

FEEATEEEEZERERAR 75
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
trE MR R

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

2023 2022
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
s F#ET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENEE
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEBEE 30 24,073 24,446
Lease liabilities HESR® 31 79,296 112,437
Total non-current liabilities JERENBGEMEEE 103,369 136,883
Net assets BEEFE 611,237 785,634
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners TREHEE ANEIGHEZE
of the Company
Share capital [N 32 633,231 631,337
Reserves i (13,220) 170,475
620,011 801,812
Non-controlling interests JEVERG S (8,774) (16,178)
Total equity T 4B EE 611,237 785,634

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 231 BIREBNBZGEMBRRAEZTEGN -2
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of —PUE=ZH_—+ N\ B A& REBETE > I H
directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: THEERREE !

Jiang Jiancheng ARES53 Ke Xionghan A 1 388
Director BEZF Director BEF

76 China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AR EER
Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_=Ft+"_A=+—HLEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRE AL
Share Share Exchange Non-
Issued premium option fluctuation Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total equity
Ex
BETRE IRiMEREER ERERRE RENRE iR it ERigs [ §atd
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TEn TEr TEn T TEn TiEn TE#n FEn
At 1 January 2022 RZ%--£-A-H 622,513 1,669,298* 3,732* (163,800)* (1,003,063)* 1,128,680 (24,284) 1,104,39
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (218450) (218450) (3,949) (222,399)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEEMZER:
Release of exchange differences upon HENBARRREER
disposal of subsidiaries - - - 5,655 - 5,655 - 5,655
Exchange differences on translation REBNEBRBENTELEL
of foreign operations and associate EREE - - - (114,073) - (114,073) (3.210) (117,283)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FE2ERTLE - - - (108,418) (218,450) (326,868) (7159 (334,027)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests SFFEERER RS - - - - - - (169) (169)
Lapse of share options BRELAN - - (99) - 9 = o =
Exercise of share options bt 3 8,824 (5,839) (2,985) = = = = =
Adjustment upon disposal of subsidiaries HENBARRBER 3% - - - - - - 15,434 15,434
At 31 December 2022 and RIBZZETZA=+-ARK
1 January 2023 ZZ--5-f-H 631,337 1,663,459* 648* (272,218)* (1,221, 414)* 801,812 (16,178) 785,634
Loss for the year FEHE - - - - (153,317) (153,317) 7,729 (145,588)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEEMRERY
Exchange differences on translation BEBNEBRBEATEL L
of foreign operations and associate ERER - - - (28,484) - (28,484) (325) (28,809)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEXERZAE - - - (28,484) (153,317) (181,801) 7404 (174,397)
Exercise of share options EERE 3 1,894 (1,347) (547) - - - = =
At 31 Decemoer 2023 RIBZZEHZAZ-B 633,231 1,662,112+ 101 @002 (1374731 620011 (8774) 611237
5 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves — * ZEHRBEREINGEUBR AR ZER

of HK$(13,220,000) (2022: HK$170,475,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

& (13,220,000 T (2 - —F ¢
170,475,000 7T) ©

PEILAGEEERZERERAT
2023 FiR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\T | Eﬁ$ /)llgi

Year ended 31 December 2023

BE_TZ_=—F+_A=+—HLFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FAET TFET
CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM RETHFAFHRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation PRI AT RS IE (144,862) (224,271)
Adjustments for: LT A
Finance costs RRE A A 8 100,553 148,496
Share of loss of associates DMEBE A B R IE 22,468 19,934
Bank interest income IRITH] EUWA 6 (52) (34)
Interest income FEUWA 6 (560) (2,087)
Net allowance for expected credit TLIEU B Z IR 2
losses recognised for trade TEEREEEGERE
receivables SR 7,876 1,391
Net allowance for expected PhE M FE W RIE
credit losses (reversal)/recognised (&E) R
for other receivables FEHREERIE
B R XA (10,073) 11,621
Net allowance for expected MIEWERHER,
credit losses recognised/(reversal) (Bsa) 2 FEHREE
for loan receivables 5B P 5R 3,365 (1,663)
Net allowance for expected credit PMEE QA BB (B E)
losses (reversal)/recognised for SR AR EERE
advances to associates B E T 5 (754) 29,002
Impairment loss on FEREEERERBIE
right-of-use assets 16 - 38,614
Impairment loss on property, ey
B0 cauipment RS RERE 14 - 289
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBRATEZ
I & 34 = (627)
Depreciation of property, MZE- BB RZEITE
plant and equipment 14 13,897 12,449
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREEITE 16 31,380 152,474
Unrealised fair value loss on LB REIR
investment properties RAERE 15 1,121 2,325
24,359 187,913

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EERERER
Year ended 31 December 2023
BHETE T -—F+-BA=1+—HLEFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TFET
Increase in properties for sale RFEMFEIL (21,907) (8,820)
Increase in inventories FEEM (17,416) (44,670)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEURE ZERFURID
(g0 15,551 (12,051)
Decrease in prepayments, AMRIE-EER
deposits and other receivables LA 8 SRR T Rk 18,279 45,064
(Increase)/decrease in loan receivables — FEUWE =R (EH0) FL (2,403) 68,005
Increase in trade payables FET B 5 AR T D 984 43,429
Increase/(decrease) in bills payable FESTZ I, CRl2) 26,350 (9,217)
Increase in other payables and accruals ~ ELfth FE{H FRIE K
FEsT B RE N 33,947 23,227
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERLD (19,878) (34,202)
Cash generated from operations KESRE 57,866 258,678
Tax paid BENRIE (56) (13)
Net cash generated from KEEEPTR
operating activities HE3E 57,810 258,665
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING KREESBFARERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUIRITHIR 52 34
Purchases of property, BEYE -BENRE
plant and equipment (6,863) (293)
Net cash outflow from HEWNBABZRE
disposal of subsidiaries TR B RE 34 = (14,085)
Net cash flows used in investing KEEBPTA
activities HWEMEFEE (6,811) (14,344)

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

\\T | EE$ /)llgi
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE =& FH=t+—HItEE
2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M sE FAET FET
CASH FLOWS USED IN R EEEFR A
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REReE
New bank and other borrowings MG IRIT REMEER 27,857 40,748
Dividends paid to non-controlling S FIRERERZRKRE
interests — (169)
Repayment of bank and BERFTREMEE
other borrowings (23,753) (92,693)
Repayment of lease liabilities T%f?ﬁ%ﬂ%%%\ (47,426) (167,735)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to  FE{TBE B A =k
related parties i‘j]l]/ /UZ"‘ 3,209 (17,391)
Interest paid BF 2 (7,509) (16,364)
Net cash flows used in financing MEEBMARERE
activities FRE (47,622) (253,604)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RERREEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS @, GrL) B8 3,377 (9,283)
Cash and cash equivalents FYNRERIREZFEY
at beginning of year 14,880 27,433
Effect of foreign exchange rate SMBERBENN R E SRR
changes, net (5,261) (3,270)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHRNRERIATEED
AT END OF YEAR 12,996 14,880

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
is a public limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Jiang lJianjun,
Beidahuang (HK) International Trade Co., Limited,
and Ms. Li Zhuoxun are the beneficial owners of the
Company. The registered address of the Company
is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal
place of business is Room 225, 2/F, Mega Cube, 8
Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
43 to the financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatory effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
followings new and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting

Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

2.1

e BT
31 December 2023
. =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

17 O =

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

2.1

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatory effective for the current year
(continued)

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the Year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group's accounting policies.

Impact on amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

The amendment narrows the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The Group has applied
the amendments on temporary differences related to
leases as at 1 January 2022. However, they did not
have any material impact on the overall deferred tax
balances presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as the related deferred tax balances
qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.

2.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs") (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

The Company and its subsidiary are operating in Hong
Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to employees
under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group
makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for
the retirement benefits of each individual employee.
Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of
the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and
LSP (the "Abolition”). The Abolition will officially
take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).
In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance,
the last month's salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date (instead of the date of termination
of employment) is used to calculate the portion of
LSP in respect of the employment period before the
Transition Date.

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance
for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this,
the Group has implemented the guidance published
by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising
from employer MPF contributions that have been
vested with the employee and which could be used
to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed
contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account
for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction
of the service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of
the Abolition, these contributions are no longer
considered “linked solely to the employee's service
in that period” since the mandatory employer MPF
contributions after the Transition Date can still be used
to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it
would not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“independent of the number of years of service” and
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS
19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service
in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying
paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs") (continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) - Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (continued)

Based on management’s assessment, the change
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sales or Contribution of

And HKAS 28 Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture!
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

eidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
Report 2023
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2.1

2.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024
. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
properties which are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

2.1

2.2
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the assets in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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2.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had defaulted
in repayments of its debts, including: i) secured
bonds of principal amount of HK$109,000,000 and
interests thereon of approximately HK$135,360,000
(the “Defaulted Secured Bonds"”); ii) unsecured
bonds of principal amount of HK$249,414,000 and
interests thereon of approximately HK$84,981,000
(the "Defaulted Unsecured Bonds"”); iii) other
loans of principal amount of HK$20,800,000 and
interest thereon of approximately HK$3,449,000
(the “Defaulted Other Loans”); and iv) construction
payables which, including additional penalties thereon,
amounted to approximately HK$131,848,000 (the
“Defaulted Construction Payables”), in respect of
which the Group had received a notice from the
contractor of the event of default and demand for
payment. In addition, the Group had outstanding
bank and other borrowings other than the
Defaulted Secured Bonds, Defaulted Unsecured
Bonds and Defaulted Other Loans of approximately
HK$62,439,000 as at 31 December 2023 which
were due for repayment in the next twelve months
after 31 December 2023 and incurred a loss for the
year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately
HK$145,588,000. The events and conditions
described above indicate that material uncertainties
existed that cast significant doubts on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore
that the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

However, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$12,996,000 as at 31
December 2023 and the financial resources available
to the Group as at 31 December 2023 are not be
sufficient to repay the Defaulted Secured Bonds, the
Defaulted Unsecured Bonds, the Defaulted Other
Loans and the Defaulted Construction Payables and
other liabilities of the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

In the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group.
The Directors have taken into account the plans and
measures being implemented by the Group in order
to improve the working capital and liquidity and cash
flow position of the Group (as set out below) and are
of the view that the Group will continue to operate as
a going concern in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the directors have determined that it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

The plans and measures being implemented by the
Group are as follows:

1) Existing business
Management is endeavoring to improve the
Group's operating results and cash flows
through various cost control measures and will
focus on the existing business of the Group.

2) New funding
The Company is negotiating with investors
with a view to obtain further financing when
necessary including but not limited to equity
financing, bank borrowing and issuance of new
convertible bonds to improve the liquidity of
the Group.

3) Entering into agreement with investor for
proposed restructuring
On 29 March 2023, the Company and the
Investor entered into the legally binding Term
Sheet and pursuant to which, inter alia, the
Investor has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue, 850,000,000 Subscription
Shares for an aggregate subscription price
of HK$85,000,000. On the same date, the
Company and the Investor entered into the
legally binding Term Sheet and pursuant to
which, inter alia, the Company will initiate a
Creditors’ Scheme between the Company and
the Scheme Creditors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

3)

Entering into agreement with investor for
proposed restructuring (continued)

On 20 November 2023, a Scheme Meeting was
convened and a total of 30 Scheme Creditors
holding Voting Claims attended and voted, in
person or by proxy, at the Scheme Meeting,
with a total of 26 Scheme Creditors holding
Voting Claims voting in favour of the Creditors’
Scheme. As such, the Creditors’ Scheme was
approved by the requisite majorities of Scheme
Creditors.

On 25 January 2024, the Company and
an investor has entered into a conditional
restructuring agreement and for in respect of
the conditional subscription by the investor
of 850,000,000 subscription shares at the
total subscription price of HK$85,000,000,
representing a subscription price of HK$0.10
per subscription share. Moreover, a creditors’
scheme has been proposed by the Company to
its scheme creditors whereby in consideration
for the full and final settlement of their
respective admitted claims, the Company will
allot and issue the scheme shares to the scheme
creditors, or pay cash dividends in the case of
scheme creditors who have validly elected to
receive cash in lieu of the scheme shares that
they would otherwise be entitled to receive
under the creditors’ scheme which will involve
the disposal of certain subsidiaries at nil or
nominal consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
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2.2

3)

Entering into agreement with investor for
proposed restructuring (continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, in light of
the various measures or arrangements being
implemented during and after the end of the
reporting period together with the expected
results of these and other measures, the Group
will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirements and it is reasonable to
expect the Group to remain a commercially
viable concern. Accordingly, the Directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

However, the validity of the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements on going
concern basis depends on the successful
eventual outcome of the abovementioned
plans and measures, which are inherently
uncertain and as at the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements cannot be
ascertained with reasonable certainty and are
still subject to multiple uncertainties. Should the
Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any future
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient
to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group'’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent ownership interests entitling their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (continued)

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination. Contingent assets are not
recognised.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangement of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.

2.3

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H
BEAEHBRERBE (8)

maBE (@
EHCH (B
RUEE R BB Z RIE A B E KPR
AEZBEREAAEBETURES  ET
FIIRBFRIN

. BEMBEEHNEBURERH
EBERMZHZEENERE
DRREEB G ERF 1258
PRGMnEB G T ERE195%
BERM MR KAEE ;

. BERREL URND X ARIELR
HrEl R 25 BV AR UK B 75 AR 0
SXNAMEBELHFME] LZAEE
UEMmIREZramza
B TE RREAMSR
BEBMBRESEF29E LR
PRI RIEFE (R T XEEHK

e

=®) ;

. RBEE B HRES ERB55RET
FHENFERBEERR LK
EEBOESFFHEZEE
(HHEHST) DREZERIG
=<4

. HEaEZRFTHEYR (E&
REBMBREERE165%) /Y
REEDKREtE MNP ER
ERWEHAMEE  E@)HE
HIR B B B2 B RAEER 5 20
bIEEEERABEENHEERR
ShofEREBEEZEBRMEESR
EUEIESEREL YRR A (=
58 B DA e BR E2 75 35 IR AR AR EE
AN AREE MR-

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR

97



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

31 Dec

—

2.3

R 75 ¥R R P 51

ember 2023

=F+-“HA=1+—H

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree
(if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
Other types of non-controlling interests are measured
at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income,
as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously
held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Gooadwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-
generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of
the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of associates is described below.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting,
except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is
classified as held for sale, in which case it is or the
portion so classified is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5. Any retained portion of an investment
in an associate that has not been classified as held for
sale continues to be accounted for using the equity
method. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests, that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of that associate.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investments in Associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after re-assessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investments in Associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investments in Associates (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives and contract costs to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Related parties (continued) RAEE TS (48)

(b)  (continued) (b) &)

(i) the entity and the Group are joint (i) ZERHAXNERAERS
ventures of the same third party; =N EETE,

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third vy —EEBRAFE=ZH5E
entity and the other entity is an associate NEEtE Mr—S5
of the third entity; REZFEZFERNEEA

Bl ;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ZERANEREKE
plan for the benefit of employees of BEERENELEAREEREF
either the Group or an entity related to BB AKRERETE
the Group;

(vii  the entity is controlled or jointly Vi) ZBRESFTIEEAZES
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(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant i)  @O)FTIEEAHZERETT
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 33%

10%-25%

10%

Leasehold improvements,
furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

Infrastructure and building

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings,
plant and machinery and other fixed assets under
construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing cost on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Trademarks

Trademarks with definite useful lives are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
30 years.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(continued)

Contracts

Contracts are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over 5
years.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is a contract contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising
from business combinations on or after the date
of initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not
to separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of properties that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an

index or rate, initially measured using the index
or rate at the commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the
lessee under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,

if the lease term reflects the exercise of an
option to terminate the lease.
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the commencement date
at amounts equal to the Group’s net investment in
the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit
in the respective lease. Initial direct costs (other than
those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors)
are included in the initial measurement of the net
investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-
lease components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each
component. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction
of rentals.

(i) Operating leases
The Group accounts for a modification to
an operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivable arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL") are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE
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31 December 2023
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2.3

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, loan receivables,
deposit and other receivables, advances to associates,
pledged bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting period with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade receivable, loan receivables, advances to
associates and deposit and other receivables)
are each assessed as a separate group. Loans
to related parties are assessed for ECL on an
individual basis);

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, convertible bonds,
amounts due to related parties, lease liabilities
and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in the profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined
on the weighted average method. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make sale.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Properties for sale

Properties for sale are classified as current assets.
Except for the leasehold land element which is
measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net-
realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalized. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘(loss)/profit
before taxation’ as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sales, except for freehold land, which
is always presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognizes the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9.
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

In contrast, a receivable

A contract liability represents the group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer. A contract
asset and a contract liability relating to same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good
or service underlying each performance obligation
is determined at contract inception. It represents
the price at which the Group would sell a promised
good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-
alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.

Revenue from the sale of wine and liquor, trading of
food products and mineral products are recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of
the products.

Rental income from properties leasing under operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to employees (continued)

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted
at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the
end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve. For share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Share options granted to non-employees
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the
fair value of the goods or services received, except
where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in
which case they are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterpart renders
the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses unless the goods
or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

2.3

EXRGHBRENEGE (B)

KR 2 {4 mR I8 (48)
B BRI BIIX S (B)

BRTEEZERE (B
S2ERNRLAPRHBRIEZ 2NE
MEECERBZARE TWUERE
REBIAXE WAREMER (B
RIERER) - RIREMER > AEREF
HHEREsIEREE 2 BREHBR
st ESTRIESHELENRE WA) X
Bm PSS R 5T RBREIEST
st BRBEBTE ZBRES MR
RHBHNRRB ZBREMS &Y
2R RN ENIBm AR

ERRREITER SRR ERERAE
R TERFBRERMDGE - BB
IRt iR B AR R W E R BI R B 4TS
RITRER  SeRI R IR IR R R N HESD 2
TRERBRERSER

mIFEER LR

M{EE NI AT FE RS E LR
P IER R 5 % P I E m e AR
BHAREBEE BEARBRERRE
fastER T AIRIRAT R LR E T AR
ERENERNBFHIRHRBERD
MR RESE - FREIREmERFBHIA
nERSE A% (RIFEME MRS
MEBERERREE) °

BEEF

BIRBEFIEAK
BEIEARE B MM EER M
IRFFEEN S BERERHREERR
FsZ °



2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Shore term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in
the liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For
properties under development for which revenue is
recognised over time, the Group ceases to capitalize
borrowing costs as soon as the properties are ready for
the Group's intended sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying asset is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise except for exchange differences on monetary
items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to
occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially
in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary
items.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statement, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of exchange reserve (attributable to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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2.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributable to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or
loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed through
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
property under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gain or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit of loss for
the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalized as part of the
carrying amount of the investment properties under
construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 2.3, management
is required to make judgments,
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

estimates and

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Estimation of expected credit losses of trade
receivables, advances to associates, loan and other
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement at amortised cost in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in note 41.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision for inventories

Provision for inventories is made based on the
assessment of net realisable value. Estimates of net
realisable value are based on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimates, such differences will have an
impact on the carrying amounts of inventories and the
amount of provision/reversal of provision in the periods
in which such estimates have been changed.

Estimated net realisable value on properties for sale

In determining whether allowances should be made
for the Group's properties for sale, the Group takes
into consideration the current market environment
and the estimated net realisable value (i.e. the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale).
An allowance is made if the estimated or actual
net realisable value of the properties for sale is
less than expected as a result of change in market
condition and/or significant variation in the budgeted
development cost, material provision for impairment
losses may result. As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of the properties under development
is HK$398,388,000 (2022: HK$383,980,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
liabilities arising from investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have determined that
all of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
December 2023 amounting to HK$403,448,000
(2022: HK$412,381,000) situated in the PRC are
held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. The presumption that the
carrying amounts of certain of the Group’s investment
properties situated in the PRC are recovered entirely
through sale has been rebutted and the deferred
tax on the changes in fair value of these investment
properties is recognised according to the relevant tax
rules.

Impairment of right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment

Right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an
asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators that
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
amounted to HK$65,051,000 and HK$36,756,000
(2022: HK$96,522,000 and HK$44,004,000),
respectively. Impairment losses of approximately
HK$289,000 and HK$38,614,000 was recognised
on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets during the year ended 31 December 2022.
Details of the right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment are disclosed in notes 16 and 14
respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker (the “CODM")
has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company. The CODM reviews the Group’s internal
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has six reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) the wine and liquor segment is engaged in the
sale and distribution of wine and liquor;

(b)  the trading of food products segment is
engaged in wholesaling and retailing of staple
food, cooking oil, alcohol and beverage, frozen
and fresh food, commodity hog;

(c) the construction and development segment is
engaged in construction and land development;

(d)  the rental segment is engaged in the leasing
of logistic facilities in Hong Kong and office
facilities in the People's Republic of China
("PRC");

(e) the financial leasing segment is engaged in the
provision of financial leasing services; and

(f) the mineral products segment is engaged in the
flotation selection of non-ferrous metals mines
and sales of mineral products.

The CODM monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment results.
Segment results are measured consistently with the
Group’s loss before taxation except that interest
income, finance costs as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude bank and other borrowings,
amounts due to related parties and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on group basis.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A =
e SRR MG
31 December 2023
—®-=st+-A=+—H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4., EESEBE (8)
Trading  Construction
Wine and of food and Financial Mineral
liquor products  development Rental _leasing products Unallocated Total
i BERR ERREE HE HERE HE bl a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FEr Tin FEn Tn Fin FAn Fin FEn
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z-ZE+R=+-B
LLERE
Segment revenue: RERA
Sales to external customers HEFHRER 3 445,197 - 96,729 12,744 290,286 - 844,999
Revenue from contracts with customers EE&AHMA
Timing of revenue recognition AR
Ata paint i time REBE L] 445,197 - - - 290,286 = 735,526
Revenue from other sources ERBRA - - - 96,729 12,744 - - 109473
Other gains Hftilii - 865 - 1350 8 1 - 24
Other operating expenses AT e - 8,000 (33) (820) (3,365 (4,834) = (1,052)
3 454,062 (33) 97,259 9,387 285,453 - 846,171
Segment results REEE (142) 3916 (502) (8,004) (170) 97 - (5,265)
Reconciliation: .
Bank interest income RTRISHA 52
Unallocated other operating income or loss kA ELEMSEMA TS 146
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ~ REREMFNERZ (39.242)
Finance costs REHE (100,553)
Loss before taxation BRaSE (144,862)
Taxation 2 (726)
Loss for the year FEFR (145,588)
Segment assets NEEE 45,480 489,043 292,912 584,375 209,980 281,217 - 1,903,007
Reconciliation: .
Elimination of intersegment receivables HYHBRERTE (759,045)
Corporate and other unallocated assets ~ REREMFNREE 718,270
Total assets BELE 1,862,232
Segment liabilities HEEE 13,580 310,354 316,850 243,288 85214 95,146 - 1,064,432
Reconciliation: .
Elimination of intersegment payables HHNBREARE (759,045)
Corporate and other unallocated liabiities 2R EMAHEEE 945,608
Total liabilties BRES 1,250,995
Other segment information pE T
Share of loss of associates HMEBEATHR - - - - - - (22,468) (22,468)
Depreciation and amortisation REREH - 671 7 41,391 37 2,861 - 45217
Interests in associates REENE 285 - - - - - - 169,772 169,772
Capital expenditure* BARR - - - 6,300 - 563 - 6,863
Fair value loss on investment properties ~ REWEZ AREFE - - - (1,121) - - - (1,121)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023

“EC=HF+ZRA=+—H
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RKESFEEHE @
Trading Construction
Wine and of food and Financial Mineral
liquor products development Rental _ leasing products Unallocated Total
fit B BEREY g HERE BE & Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HWOOO HK$'000 HK$\'000 HK§'000 HK$j000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn TR TEn TR TEn TR TEn
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE_EZZE+R=+-H
LLERE
Segment revenue: HEBA
Sales to external customers HEFHRER - 464,803 - 231,852 16,128 217,493 - 930,276
Revenue from contracts with customers EE&LMA
Timing of revenue recognition AR
Ata paint in time REBE - 464,303 - - - 217,493 = 682,296
Revenue from other sources EhIuRBA - - - 231852 16,128 - S 247,980
Other gains At - 999 - 1455 16 7 = 2411
Other operating expenses HhEEm% - (7,891) (17) (39,708) (1,701) (3318) = (52,790)
- 457,911 (172) 193,599 14,443 214,182 - 879,963
Segment results PEER (1,703) 11,521 (378) (34,769) 768 5192 - (19,369)
Reconciliation: i
Bank interest income SRITRIEMA 34
Unallocated other operating income or loss kA ELEMEEMA TS 186
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ~ REREMFNERZ (56,626)
Finance costs EERES (148,49%)
Loss before taxation BRASE (224.21)
Taxation HIE 1872
Loss for the year FEFR (222,399)
Segment assets ﬁﬁﬁg 65,167 478,035 431,761 420,628 203,435 289,076 - 1,888,102
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment receivables ﬂiﬁﬁ@ﬁ!@%ﬂﬁ (547,692)
Corporate and other unallocated assets ~ REREMFNREE 604,564
Total assets BELE 1944974
Segment liabilities REBH 753 321,261 270,307 110,089 79,516 85,983 - 867,909
Reconcilition: e
Elimination of intersegment payables HUNEREARE (550,134)
Corporate and other unallocated liabiities 2R EMANEEE 841,565
Total liabilities BREAE 1,159,340
Other segment information HinAEER
Share of loss of associates HMEBEATHR - - - - - - (19,934) (19,934)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ERREEANEFE = = = (38,614) = s = (38614)
Impairment loss on property, plantand 9% \BRRRGEAESE
equipment - - - (289) - - - (289)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAT 2 hE - - 627 - - - 627
Depreciation and amortisation H’TB&%% = (2.297) (28) (159,221) (411) (2,966) = (164,923)
Interests in associates REEAE 2B - - - - - 204,738 204,738
Capital expenditure* L - - - 260 10 3 164 457
Fair value loss on investment properties &E? EAN N L] - - - (2,325) - . E (2,325)
@ Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, * BEABYEIENEYE - BEEE

plant and equipment and investment properties.

Geographical information

Over 90% of the Group's customers are located in
Mainland China and revenue of the Group is mainly
derived from operations in Mainland China. The
management considers that it is impracticable to
allocate the assets, revenue and segment results to
geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

17 O =

31 December 2023
—EC—F+"H=+—H

5.

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue generated from wine and
liquor, trading of food products and mineral products
business segments are revenue from contracts with
customers under HKFRS 15. Except for rental and
finance leasing, all contracts are for period of one
year or less, as permitted by practical expedient under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

An analysis of revenue by types of goods and services
as follows:

A

AEFRREBE BEERMMEEES
DEZWATNEBHYHBREERNE1S
MBETZEREHRA FHEHERRE
HEELUSN RIEB B HFREERIF15
A ZEATTRER L PREENZE
PR —FRUR DEEZS KBNS
N2 R ZBRTURE -

EREHWARS

BEmMRBERZWA DA T

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts with EREHRA
customers
Sale of wine and liquor HE R 43 -
Trading of food products BEEB® 445,197 464,803
Sale of mineral products HERE 290,286 217,493
Total revenue recognised at TR B BEFE 58 2 4B A
a point in time 735,526 682,296
Revenue from other sources H R U A
Rental HE 96,729 231,852
Financial leasing REHEE 12,744 16,128
844,999 930,276
Revenue from geographic market: MIFHIH 2 WA -
The PRC =] 783,668 870,121
Hong Kong 5A 61,331 60,155
844,999 930,276
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H

OTHER INCOME, GAINS OR LOSSES 6. HkA - -W=mEsia
An analysis of other income, gains or losses is as HEMW AN WESHEIEZ DWW
follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest income A EWA 560 2,087
Bank interest income IRITH BEWA 52 34
Government grants (Note) BB (B 5E) 455 533
Fair value loss on investment properties &% 2 A BB (1,121) (2,325)
Others Hth 2,476 2,368
2,422 2,697
Note: Btz -
Government grants were mainly granted to the Group as Y AEENHN@EE ETEAS S FPEHM
subsidies to support the operation of the PRC subsidiaries. BATIEENEE) o R AR H e ay
There are no special conditions or contingencies that are REBEEBERT BEBRIERE A -

needed to be fulfilled and they were non-recurring in nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

The Group's loss before taxation is arrived at after

7. [EBiAIESIR

7 & B 2 FRAR Al S 18 4K

wmER GtA)

charging/(crediting): TIEBEERAES
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Cost of inventories recognised as BRARSZ 2 FEEMRAE
an expenses 447,509 484,421
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERZBINE
equipment 13,897 12,449
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 31,380 152,474
Expenses related to short term lease ~ BHEHATAE MEEEEE
and low value assets BN 782 3,285
Gross rental income HEWALEZE (96,729) (231,852)
Less: Direct operating expenses that B FREEHEERAZ
generated rental BEELERY
income during the year 49,583 133,746
(47,146) (98,106)
Auditors’ remuneration ZEETEN £ 1,600 1,400
Employee benefit expenses (including EE®@AEX (BIFEEEMD) !
directors’ emoluments):
Wages and salaries TERHE 8,592 10,580
Pension scheme contributions BAREF B 724 663
Other expenses: Hhpax -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets* {5 FA 1 & & 8 {E 5 18 - 38,614
Impairment loss on property, ME B E K& ERERBIE"
plant and equipment* - 289
s [tems included in other operating expenses * B A EMSSHY

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H

FINANCE COSTS 8. FhEMA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Interest expenses on bank and other  R{TREMMEEZF BHX
borrowings
— wholly repayable within five years — AR AFERTHER 91,633 110,140
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEERZAEHRX 8,920 38,356
100,553 148,496
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEITM
Details of the directors’ remuneration of the Company FRRNABEENHFINGEES > BiE L
for the year, disclosed pursuant to Listing Rules and HRRA R B EATEG E3I83EIFZE
Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance T
are as follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fees BE 910 5,120
Other emoluments: EHMENE :
Salaries, allowances and e ERMEREYH G
benefits in kind 2,890 339
Pension scheme contributions BRI 51 36
2,941 375
3,851 5,495
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE
31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

9.  DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEIM (@)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions remuneration
e ER Bk
s B &E BELEEA 2 Pk
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MisE FTER FTER FTER FER
2023 —EC-=
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chen Chen RELLE 360 - - 360
Mr. Jiang Jianjun IRERE 0] = 1,900 9 1,909
Mr. Jiang Jiancheng (Chairman)  SIER%EE (FF) (i) = 656 7 663
Mr. Ke Xionghan MR E - 334 35 369
360 2,890 51 3,301
Non-executive directors FRTES
Ms. Ho Wing Yan (BB s 100 - - 100
Mr. Zhao Wanjiang HETRE 100 - - 100
Mr. Li Dawei TRERE 100 - - 100
300 - - 300
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
directors
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa REERE 150 - - 150
Mr. Yang Yunguang BEXEE 50 - - 50
Mr. Chen Zhifeng BRE#RLYE 50 - - 50
250 - - 250
910 2,890 51 3,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEIM (@)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
e ik BikE
ik bl AR Exa Fek
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Biist TAT TAT TAT TET
2022 —g_C
Executive directors HITESE
Mr. Chen Chen BELE 360 = S 360
Mr. Jiang Jianjun (Chairman) TEEAE () 0] 4,200 = = 4,200
Mr. Li Jiehong THBRE 12 - - 12
Mr. Ke Xionghan TR E - 339 36 375
Mr. Zeng Jixiang BEALE 7 = - 7
Mr. Yu Zicong RTELE 7 = = 7
4,586 339 36 4,961
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Ho Wing Yan KR £ 100 - - 100
Mr. Zhao Wanjiang HETIRE 92 = = 92
Mr. Li Dawei FRBRE 2 - - 92
284 - - 284
Independent non-executive B FRTEER
directors
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa RRERE 150 - - 150
Mr. Yang Yunguang BELRE 50 - - 50
Mr. Chen Zhifeng BREHLE 50 - - 50
250 - - 250
5,120 339 36 5,495
Note: These represent the estimated fair value of WsE : ZETHIERBAQABDNR 22—t F
share options granted to the directors under the FAZ+=BRMZERETIE
Company's share option scheme adopted on 23 May FTESZEREZGSANE Z
2017. The value of these share options is measured LR BETIREH 2. 3PHE
according to the Group's accounting policies for TEBBRAURNMENRERZZ
share-based payment transactions as set out in note B BRSE - ZEBYN G (81
2.3. The details of these benefits in kind, including BRHBREZ TEBRARHEE) 25F
the principal terms and number of options granted, BREZERETERETEI—BR
are disclosed under the paragraph share option MIEE334 B8 o

schemes in the report of the directors and note 33.

FEIATEEEEZERERAT 151
2023 FiR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

31 Dec

_=__—

9.

10.

R 75 ¥R R P 51

ember 2023

=F+"A=1t—H
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company, its chief executive officer
and senior management of the highest paid individuals
as a discretionary bonus or an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2023.

None of the directors of the Company and chief
executive officer of the Company agreed to receive
or waive any emoluments in the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023.

(i) Appointed on 28 January 2022 and resigned on 14
June 2023.

(i) Appointed on 14 June 2023, retired at the 2023
AGM on 28 June 2023 and re-appointed on 28 June
2023.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
include one (2022: one) director, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining four
(2022: four), highest paid employees who are not a
director of the Company, are as follows:

10.

ERFM (&)

BE_Z__FRCZ_=F+°"A8
=+—HEFE FERTEQDBRS
MALTZERATES HITBHBERS
REBEXVME  FRRSIMALRSE
EE R IMASERFEREIBIEAL
TR o

BE_ZT__FRZT=F+"A1
=+—HLEFE  ARATVEZERHTH
BMETEFNEEZ B RERME -

(i) RIE__F—A-+N\HEZE
WHZFEZ=F/"A+HBEEE-

(i) RZE_=ZFA+HHEZE-
N ZEZ=FRAZ+NEHZZZ
TEERREFARE LRETRZ
E_=ZFERNBZTNEHEMES
e

huREHES

FRN - hhReHEEEE—% CZ
“TF R EE HFMFBER
PR EXMEE9 e M AFEE R » HERII%
(CET-F M%) o ES L
ERBER) ZHFMFBOT ¢

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Salaries, allowances and e 2 REYH @
benefits in kind 3,195 2,031
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETEIMRR 45 81
3,240 2,112
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10.

11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The number of non-director and highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

10.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H
TaREHES (B)
FMNAFETIHEBE s RESHIEESE
SHBEWT:

2023 2022
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 4 4
TAXATION 11. R\
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax BEPHECEREMREIRTERER
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax FEERAA PERB AR MEEEN
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. MEIG%25%
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong RIBEEBFEH MR GIF] 128X
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of E r58REEERE2,000,000E7T
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, B FI R 1%8.25 % IR R EHIR > Mk
and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 2,000,00078 7Y /& F) BII3216.5% BRI #2
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for KR o AR EMERGIFEREFNESE
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continued R EBERN N EEIZ16.5%1
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the B—MEHR AL cEREREE
Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity 898 2,000,00078 o fh 5t FEER R i ) Az
is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 of H8382,000,0007 7T B9 {t 51 FE SR 1R i A
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the Th D Al328.25% K% 16.5% NI X EE
estimated assessable profits above HK$2,000,000. BHER o
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT AT
Current tax: BIHATRIA :
- Hong Kong —&5HF 589 600
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —El RPN 43 50
632 650
Deferred tax IRIEFRIB 94 (2,522)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year ~EERIBRS (K %) 4848 726 (1,872)

FEIEATEEEEZERERAT 153
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR MY 5E

31 December 2023

ms T —F+—_A=1t—H

11. TAXATION (continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss
before taxation at the statutory rate for Hong Kong in
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled

11.

I8 (48)

RAEE ERBAREWEAE M
#) SEEMERBRANRRIRAIBIENIRE
M BEERRERSENRAMX S

to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a BE DI RBEAREK EEEHRX) BER
reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory MEEHEROT
tax rate) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TFET
Loss before taxation BRI ATRS 18 (144,862) (224,271)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEENRIE (23,902) (37,005)
Effect of different tax rates of MEABRERENEE
subsidiaries (5.,487) (15,624)
Income not taxable for tax BERRUA (300) (814)
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary  REEDE R EREZ MIETE
difference 7,542 8,162
Utilization of tax losses previously not BN 4cRIRIEER Z IR IEES 1B
recognised 19,537 28,793
Expenses not deductible for tax ARHRAEX 8,953 19,600
Loss attributable to associates BE A BEILEIE (5.617) (4,984)
Tax expense/(credit) at the Group's BRAREBERMREAEN
effective rate MBS (&%) 726 (1,872)

12. DIVIDENDS
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$nil).
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOSS PER SHARE

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

13. ©BREIE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share AANBEEANELZERERNLEE
attributable to owners of the Company is based in the IR RE T &iEsTE

following data:

Loss 518
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Loss for the purpose of basic and ARstBESRERREEEE
diluted loss per share 2518 (153,317) (218,450)
Number of Shares GRS d=]
2023 2022
‘000 ‘000
TFhg T
Weighted average number of ARt ESREARE SR
ordinary shares for basic and Emp IR
diluted loss per share 6,327,838 6,258,701
The basic and diluted loss per share are the same for AR A AT IS E B A R E1EA
the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December NEREARBESEFEHAEE _ =
2023 as the effect of the Company’s share options T HE+_B=t+—HR_ZE_=

were anti-dilutive.

+ZA=+—HLEFEHF-

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE
31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ME--BERRE

Leasehold
improvement,
furniture Infrastructure
and Motor Construction and
fixtures Vehicle in progress building Total
HE
MERE- BRI
FERKE "E EEIR KT it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEm TEw Thn TEn TEn
Cost S
Asat 1 January 2022 RZE-__&-F—-H 128,449 4,229 23975 38915 195,568
Additions AE 293 - - - 293
Disposal k3 (1,667) - - - (1,667)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) HEMBAT (Hf34) (4,708) = = = (4,708)
Exchange realignment EQRHAR (2,038) (141) (2,079 (3,557) (7,815)
As at 31 December 2022 and  RZEZZF+ZA=+-HE
1 January 2023 ZZ¥Z-FE-F-H 120,329 4,088 21,896 35,358 181,671
Additions HE 6,863 - - - 6,863
Disposal e (50) (916) = - (966)
Exchange realignment EQBRE (7.227) M) (#18) (3,958) (11,674)
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+ZF=1-H 119,915 3,101 21,478 31,400 175,894
Accumulated depreciation ~ BHTERA(E
and impairment
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_&#-HF-A 79,651 3,604 23975 30,641 137,871
Depreciation for the year Em%ﬁe 10,297 293 - 1,859 12,449
Disposal (1,667) - - - (1,667)
Disposal of subsidaries (note 34) Hﬁﬁﬁ%’tﬂ (Miz£34) (4,693) = = = (4,693)
Impairment loss recognised in - R BERRRIRERE ()
profit or loss (Note) 289 - - - 289
Exchange realignment EQBAR (1,521) (95) (2,079 (2,887) (6,582)
As at 31 December 2022 and  RZBZZE+ZE=1+-Hk
1 January 2023 “Z”-F-f—-H 82,356 3,802 21,896 29,613 137,667
Depreciation for the year FRTE 11,840 282 - 1,775 13,897
Disposal e (50) (916) = - (966)
Exchange realignment EQHAR (7,11) (67) (#18) (3,861) (11,460)
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+ZA=1-H 87,032 3,101 21,478 21,521 139,138
Carrying amount RELH
As at 31 December 2023 REEsSERSHS TSR 32,883 - - 3873 36,756
As at 31 December 2022 RZB-"#+"B=+-H 37,973 286 - 5,745 44,004
Note: The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of s : AEEZASAERHEEREASEFEA

the property, plant and equipment based on higher
of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
Please refer to Note 16 for the details of impairment
assessment.
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15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. REYHE

HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2022 B2 _HF—H—H 454,913
Valuation loss on arising from NABEEHEENGERE
changes in fair value (2,325)
Exchange realignment bE DA R (40,207)
At 31 December 2022 and A B F+_A=+—HK
1 January 2023 —E-=_fF—HF—H 412,381
Valuation loss on arising from NABEEHEENGERE
changes in fair value (1,121)
Exchange realignment bE DA EE (7.812)
At 31 December 2023 A _E_=F+_"BA=+—H 403,448
Unrealised net loss in fair value of investment & BY2E 2 AN BERESIREIEFEE
properties, included in profit or loss (5t A38m) 1,121

(a)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
investment properties

The fair value of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 December 2023 has been
arrived at the basis of a valuation carried out by
independent qualified professional valuers not
connected to the Group and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations.

The fair value was determined based on
income capitalisation approach, which involves
estimating the rental incomes of the property
and capitalizing them all on appropriate rate to
produce a capital value respectively.

(a)

TEEREMEZARESE

rEBRBEYER-_ZE_=

+TZA=T—HZAREDER
BAREERTEREZIBIIGER
BRLEMETZMEER ZA
AIEABEEER RYHEMME
Z LR ETAEZ AR

ARET D RIRBWA B REE

P RfEstZMEZHAERA
REBEMEREHBRBER
EUSHEREE) EE -

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

15.  INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. BEBEYE (@)
(a)  Fair value measurement of the Group’s (a) AHEERSYEZAAGEHE
investment properties (continued) (48)
There has been no change to the valuation FEPQ o {5 B B 1 0 S o

technique during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties,
highest and best use of the properties is their
current use.

Details of the Group's investment properties
and information about the fair value hierarchy

RIS IEN AR ER  PEH
RARRERESBRBR-

REBESHR AEBREVMEL
HBEURERAREBERZE

as at the end of the reporting period are as B
follow:
2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F—k B4R B4R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FHET
Investment properties REYE - — 403,448
2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B B B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET
Investment properties KREYE = = 412,381
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. IEEBYE (8)
(@) Fair value measurement of the Group’s (@) TEERSEMEZANREE
investment properties (continued) €)
Relationship of
unobservable inputs
Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs  to fair value
EATTRRBAUER
R R EAXTHRERBALR RRENRME
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
A7 S
Commercial properties 332,565 339,582 Income capitalisation approach and ~ Capitalisation rate, taking into A slight increase in the
located in the PRC market comparable method account the capitalisation of rental  capitalisation rate
income potential, nature used would result in a
of the property, and prevailing significant decrease in fair
market condition of 4.8% to 5% value and vice versa.
(2022: 4.8% to 5%)

Saleable unit rate per square foot A significant increase in
which compare with similar the saleable unit rate
location and other factor such used would result in a
floor level, building age, size and significant increase in fair
conditions of the properties are value and vice versa.
HK$59,000 to HK$63,000 (2022:

HK$38,000 to HK$57,000)

(EL LY ES BABRLERTHLEA THRENMCEAESUANE  FRRERCHLEBM LT
BERERTR EACLES  HERAREEETR
48%F5% (CEZZE48%  RzZBMe
Z5%)

BRmtEREMENYZRE FATHLEEEAEL
188 R RIREEERL FREHANBEAEE
SYHRAEHEEEA,000 I RZFAe
HETLE3,0008T (CBZ2F:

38,0007 £57,000%7)
Residential properties 70,883 72,799 Market comparable method and Saleable unit rate per square foot A significant increase in

located in PRC the saleable unit rate
used would result in a
significant increase in fair

value and vice versa.

Income capitalisation approach which compare with similar
location and other factor such as
floor level, building age, size and
conditions of the properties are
HK$8,000 to HK$10,000 (2022:
HK$9,000 to HK$11,000)

Capitalisation rate, take into account

A slight increase in the
capitalisation rate

the capitalisation of rental
potential, nature of the property,
and prevailing market condition of
4.5% (2022: 4.5%)

used would result in a
significant decrease in fair
value and vice versa.

ARFENEENE MRERERRABALE AREHEREMANDEER. FEIRNEEEAEGL
B AONERRSRREL &8  RRERAAGARE
FARABHESEAS00ET I R2ZIFAe
210,000 7T (ZEZ 249,000
BITEN,000%7T) FrRBA{CILRBEM L7
SHEENMCBEERSRA NE  RERLAEBETR
BEREFHRL EXELEE  RZBRe

There were no transfer into or from level 3

during the year.

45% (CEZZHF D 45%)

FR WEEBANBHE =R

PEERREXRERMERBRAR

2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A1 35 IR R MY EE

31 December 2023
=F=+_"_A=+—H
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

4 A
17 O =

— & —

—

15.

(b)

(c)

(d)

The analysis of the carrying amount of
investment properties is as follow:

All the investment properties is situated in the
PRC under medium lease term to long-term
lease arrangement.

Pledge of investment properties
Investment properties with a carrying amount
in aggregate of HK$294,831,000 (2022:
HK$300,188,000) are pledged to bank for
Group's bills payables and borrowings, details
of which set out in notes 26 and 29.

Investment properties leased out under
leases

All of the Group’s property interests held under
leases to earn rentals are measured using the
fair value model and classified accounted for
investment properties.

The Group leases out its investment properties
to various tenants. The leases typically run for
an initial period of 1 year to 10 years, at the
end of which period all terms are renegotiated.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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15.

REME (8)

(b)

(c)

(d)

REMEZIREZEINMOT :

FHERAEAEZHFETZAR
BEREYMEMNPE-

KR EYE

IRE S5 $£294,831,0008 7T
(ZEZ_"4 :300,188,000&

TD) LR EMECRAEBZE

NEEKREEIRRTIRIT  H5¥

B EE26/229 ©

RBEEHBAZREYE

AEEREHEERFA UBREE
EZFIEMERZRBAAR
BRIFE Wt AKRBEYE-

FEBRZLERHBEERE
WE- BN —RVTHP—FE
+E R ENEEA K
R AR AR



16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. ERAEEE

Leased
Properties
HEME
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amounts IREEE
At 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=F+"B=+—H 65,051
At 31 December 2022 N2 __F+_B=+—H 96,522
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z-=-F+-“HA=1+—HILEE
Depreciation charge rESH 31,380
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_B-__F+BA=t+—HIEE
Depreciation charge TESH 152,474
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
HE BHE
—e=F 2T
+=A +=A
=-=—15 ==
ILEFE IEEFEE
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Expenses relating to leases of low- ERREEEERE 2 HX
value assets excluding short-term (FrEFEREEEEZ
leases of low-value assets FHATRE) 782 3,285
Total cash outflow of leases HERSREEZE 47,426 167,735
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries 7%t E B A =) BF (0]
(note 34) (Pfy5E34) - 328,411
Impairment loss recognised in i8R YR E k518
profit or loss - 38,614
Additions of right-of-use assets REFEREEE - 164

PEERREXRERMERBRAR

2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

31 Dec

—

16.

R 75 ¥R R P 51

ember 2023

=F+-“HA=1+—H

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Details of total cash outflow of leases is set out in the
consolidated cash flow statements.

During the current year, the Group leases properties
for own use. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 2 to 10 years (2022: 2 to 10 years).
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, due to
continuous loss and future uncertainty in a rental
business in PRC, an impairment loss of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment (Note 14)
of approximately HK$38,614,000 and HK$289,000
respectively was recognised. The recoverable amount
was based on value-in-use calculation. The cash flow
projection was based on a five-year profit forecast
reviewed by the Directors in respect of the relevant
identifiable CGU. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period were extrapolated using growth rate of 2.5%,
which did not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the rental business industry. The cash flows
were discounted using a discount rate of 14.7%. The
discount rate used was pre-tax and reflected specific
risks relating to the rental business segment. Other key
assumptions involve management’s expectations for
the market development.
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HAENRAER ~EBRASONE
FOMETEA FITENEAREAR -

BE_T__HF+"HA=+—HIHF
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GEAHERRZ FRAREERYE -
MRE K& (MzE14) 2 BEEED 5
#38,614,0008 75 %289,0008 7t EF
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOAN RECEIVABLES 17.

An aged analysis of the loan receivables as at the end
of the reporting period is as follows:

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

FEWE R
REEHR > BURERZARE 740
T

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
0 — 30 days 0&E30H 13,839 7,063
31 to 60 days 31E60H 22,549 26,413
61 to 90 days 61290H 25,940 26,574
91 to 180 days 91&180H 34,512 59,299
181 to 365 days 181&2365H 67,788 82,772
Over 365 days 365H L £ 136,178 101,763
300,806 303,884

Less: Allowance for expected credit B FEHEERE (BEE
losses (“ECL") Bi8)) BE (106,209) (104,526)
194,597 199,358

Movement in the allowance for expected credit
losses of loan receivables

Movement in allowance for ECL that has been
recognised for loan receivables in accordance with
general approach set out in HKFRS 9 for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

R EMREREEGREEES

BE-S-—&R-S-=&+_8
SR EEREEEYBREE
R S OYEFR B — AR 75 % SR AE W AR
D EBEEBREERE.

Total

4Ezt

HK$'000

FET

Balance 1 January 2022 A B _F—HB—HZ4&R 116,506

Reversal of ECL TEHAE B AR # O] (1,663)

Exchange realignment B A2 (10,317)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 and W _E_ _#+_HB=+—H

1 January 2023 kRZBZ=F—B—HZ#&E 104,526

Recognition of ECL TAHRE BB # [ 3,365

Exchange realignment bE DA R (1,682)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 RIE_=F+"RA=+—Hz#&&&% 106,209

Details of assessment of expected credit losses are set
out on note 41.

TRHAE BB IR T sr BRI aE41 ©

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE
31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

18. GOODWILL 18. w5
Total
st
HK$'000
FET
Cost % Zs
As at 1 January 2022 RN_E-_HF£—H—H 130,367
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) HEMRB RSB (i5E34) (30,509)
Exchange realignment BE 2 SH 2L (11,017)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R_ZT-_—_F+_"_B=+—HK
—E-_F—HF—H 88,841
Exchange realignment bE DA R (1,696)
As at 31 December 2023 B =%+"HA=+—H 87,145
Accumulated impairment 2itiRE
As at 1 January 2022 A BT F—H—H 126,335
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) HEWBAS (FizE34) (30,509)
Exchange realignment fE R (10,660)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RIZE-"HF+"A=+—HK
B =—F—HF—H 85,166
Exchange realignment BE 2 SH 2L (1,626)
As at 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+_"_H=+—H 83,540
Carrying amount IREE%E
As at 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+_H=+—H 3,605
As at 31 December 2022 K_B__&+_A=+—H 3,675

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has
been allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU") of
mining business and the sales of green food products

BEEBCHEBZHEEIKEE
BEEZRHEGBERmREELE
(MREEWNBEA) LUETRERR -

for impairment testing.
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill

After recognition of impairment losses, the carrying
amounts of goodwill are allocated to groups of cash-
generating units as follows:

18.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
SET B = o-—E

& (&)

B A
RERRERER BERASESS
BETREEHEMAR

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Mining business EENEETS 673 686
Sale of green food products HEMABR M 2,932 2,989
3,605 3,675

The recoverable amounts have been determined based
on value in use calculations using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
prepared by independent valuers and approved by
senior management.

Sales of green food products

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 14.27% (2022: 14.83%) and cash
flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated
using a growth rate of 2% (2022: 2%).

Mining business

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 12.95% (2022: 10.58%) and cash
flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated
using a growth rate of 2% (2022: 2%).

The key assumptions for value in use calculation
related to the estimation of cash inflows which
included budgeted sales and gross margin. Such
estimation is prepared by independent valuers based
on past performance and management’s expectations.

No provision of impairment loss on goodwill was
recognised to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year.

B U (0] 5 B8 75 AR % B 18 37 it (B Al A
RESHREEEREZRELFHRZ
MHERERBRERERAIRERE
BstEMERE -

HEMRE R
BRERRERERAZMNABRES

14.27% (ZEZ 4% : 14.83%) > M8
BRFRZRERENEABEER2%
(ZEZZF :2%) Ao

HEEER
FERRREREBAZRAIMIIRES
12.95% (ZZE "4 :10.58%) > M8

BRHERHZHEERENRBERE2%
(CEZZTHF 1 2%) #R

ERERABESEZEE2RKRTERN
RERAMGE HEEREHERER
Ko FRMEF T RB I AEMERBE

KEREEEHEMFL -
TERAFEZGEREaREMERE

WARKEDEE 2 REBERER-

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR MY 5E

31 December 2023
—EC—F+"H=+—H

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BithEREE
Trademarks Contract Total
[k =1 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEx FHET FiEx
Cost D%
As at 1 January 2022 W_E-_"%—HA—H 3,088 58,225 61,313
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) HEMBAT (HizE34) =S (51,858) (51,858)
Exchange realignment PE R A% (273) (6,367) (6,640)
As at 31 December 2022 and R _Z-"F+_HA=+—H
1 January 2023 N_ZEZ=F—H—H 2,815 - 2,815
Exchange realignment b R (54) = (54)
As at 31 December 2023 R_ZE_=F+"A=+—H 2,761 = 2,761
Accumulated amortisation R RRE
and impairment
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F—HF—H 3,088 58,225 61,313
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) HEKBAT (5£34) = (51,858) (51,858)
Exchange realignment PE 7 A% (273) (6,367) (6,640)
Asat 31 December 2022and ~ RZZEZ_HF+_A=+—H
1 January 2023 N_ZE-_=F—H—H 2,815 - 2,815
Exchange realignment b R 2 (54) = (54)
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+"A=1—H 2,761 - 2,761
Carrying amount FREEH
As at 31 December 2023 A _EBE_=H5+_B=+—H - - -
As at 31 December 2022 N B "F+"FA=+—H - - -

Other intangible assets of trademark of wine and
liquor as above amortised over its estimated useful
lives, which are 30 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
contract under CGU of rental business has disposed.
Please refer to note 34 for details.
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. MBS NS ZEDS
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Share of net assets PMLEEBEEZE 107,121 126,929
Advances to associates, net of NI SN 3
allowance for expected credit losses ~ FEERE ER B & 62,651 77,809
169,772 204,738
Details of assessment of expected credit losses on SHfEE AR B BBREERIEY
advances to associates are set out in note 41. EAEEN T

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A,
AR

31 Dec

—

20.

B 5 R MI5E
ember 2023
=&+"H=+—H

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The Group’s interests in its principal associates, which
are unlisted, are as follows:

Name

kY

Registered
share capital

AR

Place of
registration

R

REEQRZ#E (8)
AEERAETEBRERT GFLH) 2

@y

Percentage of
ownership interest
attributable to
the Group
HFEEERS
EREEGZASL

2023 2022

Principal activities

TEEH

Shenzhen Qianhai Dahuangyuan
E-commerce Group
Company Limited (i)

A TREATEBFEH
EEBRAF

Shenzhen Dahuangyuan
International Trading
Company Limited (i)
(Formerly known as Shenzhen
Dahuangyuan Green Food
Distribution Company
Limited)

FHATREERES
BRAB)

FERBRIATESE
BmEEEARAT)

Shenzhen Qianhai Dahuangyuan
Non-Financing Guarantee
Company Limited (i)

AT RS AR IERE M
ERBRAE0

Shenzhen Shengsiming Trading
Limited (i)

FImERHEE
BREAE)

Notes:

RMB200,000,000

AE1200,000,0007T

RMB50,800,000

AR 50,800,0007C

RMB50,000,000

AEK#50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AE#50,000,0007T

PRC/Mainland China

hE,/HRERH

PRC/Mainland China

e,/ HhE R

PRC/Mainland China

hE,/HRERAH

PRC/Mainland China

i,/ FE R

(i) The English name of the above PRC companies is for

identification purpose only.
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Sales of food and fertilizer

HERMREH

Sales of food, fertilizer,
wine and steel
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Guarantee
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General trading
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Summarised financial information

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s material associates is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s consolidated
financial statement prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

20.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
Ses B = —(5

REEQRZ#E (8)
MBENBE
MEEESEEAMEATD ZHBER
BMEHIW T - T BERBE
ThERBEERBV B RS ERRR 2B
ERBZGREHMBREFAIRZEEE

_=_—

BE_Z_=F+"-A=+—H1L
FE

Shenzhen Qianhai

Dahuangyuan
E-commence Shenzhen
Group Company Shengsiming
Limited Trading Limited
Y GTH D ik oo 23 sl
EFEHER LR#Eg
BRAR BRAR
2023 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ER TET
Non-current assets FREBEE 12,181 =
Current assets TEEE 401,985 26,011
Current liabilities TEEE (91,196) (437)
Net assets BETHE 322,970 25,574
Reconciliation to the Group’s BAREERBEREZ
interest in the associates: BEHE

Proportion of the Group’s ownership EAEREERELA 30% 40%
Carrying amount of the investment RERESH 96,891 10,230
Revenue W gn 47,302 -
Loss for the year FEHE (16,249) (43,983)
Group's share loss of associates AEENEBEARBE (4,875) (17,593)

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

31 Dec

—

20.

21.

BT ER AR MY
ember 2023
=#+-A=+—8H
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. MREEATIZ#EDS (48)
Summarised financial information (continued) EEREE (@)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEr_ - _—_&#F#+_-_g=+—81
FE
Shenzhen Qianhai
Dahuangyuan
E-commence Shenzhen
Group Company Shengsiming
Limited Trading Limited
FTEE AT & FlTH
ErmBER DREHE
ERAF BRAR
2022 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAET
Non-current assets FRBEE 28,869 =
Current assets RBEE 424,605 67,647
Current liabilities ii=t (120,037) (402)
Net assets BEFE 333,437 67,245
Reconciliation to the Group's HAEERBENT 2
interest in the associates: BRHR
Proportion of the Group’s ownership R ERBEARELA 30% 40%
Carrying amount of the investment RERASHE 100,031 26,898
Revenue W& 31,047 =
Loss for the year FEBE (16,793) (37,241)
Group’s share loss of associates TERDEHENTESE (5,038) (14,896)
INVENTORIES 21. F&
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Raw material JRA1 23,036 41,076
Finished goods E L 140,746 108,275
163,782 149,351
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22.

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

PROPERTIES FOR SALE 22, FEYE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Properties under development for sale &2 @Y 398,388 383,980

The properties under development for sale in the PRC
are under long-term leases.

TRADE RECEIVABLES 23.
Trade receivables are mainly arisen from sale of goods,
and rental income derived from rental business.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is

PENFEERTYESTERAMEE

FEUR B 5 AR TR
BREZERRTERBHESRKRHE
EXBEEZEESIWA-

REBEHR BB ZRFIZEZAH
ZEREC DM -

as follows:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 1 month — (@AW 46,371 47,402
1 to 2 months —EZWREAR 5,550 30,965
2 to 3 months ME=1E2 43,828 42,357
Over 3 months BB =1EH 57,198 43,719
152,947 164,443

Less: Allowance for expected credit A AR EEEREE
|osses (26,160) (18,876)
126,787 145,567

Included in the trade receivables consist of rental

EWE Z R EIERWES - AEEE

receivables. The aging analysis of the Group’s rental WIBEZESBDOWFINT :
receivables are as follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHBT
Up to 30 days 30H A 7.479 4,547

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

23.

Movement in the allowance for expected credit

losses of trade receivables

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
for trade receivables in accordance with simplified
approach set out in HKFRS 9 for the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2023.

FEURE 5 ARk (48)
BB ZRMEREEGRREEES

BE_E__FRIEZ=F+"A1
—t+—HIEFEREBEEBEVHERSGE
BIB9Sk FTEL I AME S A TLIE N B 5 BR
ez 2 HEREEREES -

Total

st

HK$'000

FET

Balance as at 1 January 2022 N_E_ _F—HB—HZ4&R 19,184

Recognition of ECL ERTEMEEEE 1,391

Exchange realignment bE AR (1,699)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 and RN_E-_ __#+_/BA=+—HFKE

1 January 2023 B2 —F—-B—Hz#& 18,876

Recognition of ECL MR TRHRE SRR 7,876

Exchange realignment bE D s EE (592)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 N TEBE T =f+"A=+—HZ4&ER 26,160

Details of assessment of expected credit losses are set

out in note 41.

TRHAE EBIRsT A sr BRI EE41 ©

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24, FERFRIE-REREMEWFRIE
RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Prepayments TAfRIE 146,235 152.370
Deposits and other receivables B& KR EMEWRZIE 189,380 197,863
335,615 350,233

Less: Allowance for expected credit B AR E EEEEE
losses (48,565) (59,715)
287,050 290,518

A China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movement in the allowance for expected

credit losses of deposits and other receivables
Movement in allowance for ECL that has been
recognised for deposits and other receivables in
accordance with general approach set out in HKFRS 9
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

24,

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H
FEHRIE & R H M EYFRIE

€9)
18 R EL A W R TEAR ( EASHR
e

BE_ES-__HKR-ZT=%+_A1
—t+—BHLEFERESBMBERSE
BUSEOSRFTEIN — M A AR RS R EH A
FEWHIERDB 2 BHEEEREESE
@Jo

Total

4Ezt

HK$'000

FET

Balance as at 1 January 2022 N BT _HF—HA—HZ4R 52,766
Recognition of ECL s TAERE BB 11,621
Exchange realignment bE s EE (4,672)

Balance as at 31 December 2022 and RN E__&#+_A=+—HK

1 January 2023 B —F—B—HZ4&&R 59,715
Recognition of ECL SRTERAE B8 (10,073)
Exchange realignment bE DA R (1,077)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 N _EBE-=F+-_B=+—B24& 48,565

Details of assessment of expected credit losses are set
out in note 41.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately
HK$241,180,000 (2022: HK$244,666,000) was paid
as trade deposit and prepayments for trading of food
and minerals products.

Rental deposits and construction deposits for the
warehouse amounting to HK$24,177,000 (2022:
HK$28,297,000) and HK$nil (2022: HK$401,000)
respectively were paid for the warehouse logistic
business for the year ended 31 December 2023.

TAHAE B IRsT(hsr IR MY aE41 o

KRB+ H=Fr=
#9241,180,0008 7T (Z & -
244,666,000 7T) EZN1EAEBE R M
KREEZBSRERTENHRIE

BREVMRER 2 EAEHERERES
& D R124,177,0008T (CE - "&£
28,297,000 t) XEHB T (ZTEZZ
F 1 401,000 70) EREBE-ZE "=
+ZA=+—HIEFEX [T

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

31 Dec

—

25.

Bt FE R R MY =T
ember 2023
=F+_HA=+—H
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERIREZEEY
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash and bank balances (note) H& KIR1T4 12,996 14,880
Cash and cash equivalents in the FERERERPNIRER
consolidated statement of BEEEY
cash flows 12,996 14,880

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
amounted to HK$2,572,000 (2022: HK$14,610,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

Note: As at 31 December 2023, there were bank balances
of approximately HK$1,000 (2022: HK$100) freezed
due to litigation.
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® RIRITHEERA2,572,0008 7T (T
T T4 114,610,000587T) © ZAMm 0 IRIE
R[] P it B 47 BB B R B e 4 B ~ ES B
ROEEERE ARBEATEHRIA
AEMER REBEESBERESE
THEEBNRTEARBRRAH

fthE# -

RIS RENRTERAEZTIH
FIZBRERR 8.  $RATAE 8D T OO
TR B BT

Mz RZEZ=F+"B=+—08%8
1,000 (ZTB -4 100ET) 2
IR1T A5 BRI SRl M R AL o



26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, are as
follows:

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H
FEft 8B ZEER KRB EE
RIREHRENE S RTIZEZ[E
ZARE DT

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Within 1 month — @A MN 10,768 5,579
1 to 2 months —ZEZMm{EAR 5,207 4,583
2 to 3 months MmE =187 2,733 2,761
Over 3 months Bl=Ea 64,439 72,417
83,147 85,340

Bills payables NS 63,674 71,951
146,821 157,291

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and
are normally settled on 30-day terms (2022: 30-day
terms).

Included in trade payables are construction payables
amounted to approximately HK$105,709,000
(2022: HK$71,443,000) in which approximately
HK$62,362,000 (2022: HK$66,105,000) are
defaulted.

As at 31 December 2023, bills payables
of approximately HK$63,674,000 (2022:
HK$71,951,000) were secured by investment
properties with fair value of approximately
HK$294,831,000 (2022: HK$300,188,000) and
personal guarantee by shareholder of the Company
and related parties.

All the trade payables and bills payables are
denominated in Renminbi.

BB SRS R —RIZ308R
HH (—7——ﬂ5 30E||ZEHH) /\D%O

ENEZRIABIEENIREIRLY
105,709,000 T (ZE - _F :
71,443,000 7t) » HH4962,362,00078

7T (B 166,105,000/ 7T) BE&E
i‘\

A =y sl = R
T EE 463,674,000 (ZE -
£ :71,951,00087T) HAARELY
#294,831,0008 5 (ZE & :
300,188,000 7T) NI B X FIRIF &
AN B R LR S EHEAER

FIF 75 B 1 B8 57 R AR R P19 SRR 29 U
RIS Ee

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR MY 5E

31 December 2023
—EC—F+"H=+—H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HihENZIERESER
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Other payables Hih (I Ia 56,978 45,442
Accruals fEsTE R 349,340 202,124
406,318 247,566

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an
average term of three months.

Included in other payables are amounted
to approximately HK$23,108,000 (2022:
HK$25,280,000) rental deposits received from the
tenants of logistic warehouse.

Included in the accruals:

i) the default interest of secured bond of
approximately HK$135,360,000 (2022:
HK$78,969,000) (note 29e);

ii) the default interest of unsecured bond
of approximately HK$10,766,000 (2022:
HK$7,860,000) (note 29g);

iii) the default interest of unsecured bond
of approximately HK$42,218,000 (2022:
HK$28,886,000) (note 29h);

iv) the default interest of unsecured bond of
approximately HK$141,000 (2022: HK$92,000)
(note 29i);

V) the default interest of unsecured bond
of approximately HK$31,856,000 (2022:
HK$25,457,000) (note 29f);

Vi) the defaulted interest of other loans of
approximately HK$3,449,000 (2022:
HK$782,000) (note 29¢); and

vii) the penalties from default construction
payables of approximately HK$69,486,000
(2022: HK$29,892,000) (note 26).
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HthEAREAREZEBEFHRES=
(EVER

HihFEIER S EEH > 923,108,000
BT (C= 4 1 25,280,0005 7T) & B
MRE AR B EERE-

FEStEREE

i) EEBESEZELNANEY
135,360,000 75 (- " 4F :
78,969,000 7T) (MizE29e);

i) EIRFES ZEZNNBLY
10 766,0008 70 (ZE - _"F :
7,860,00077T) (Mi5E299) ;

i) BEFESFZENFNNEDN
42,218,000/%75 (ESRETEE
28,886,000 %) (Ffs29h) ;

v EEEFESZENFE ,\’\J
141,000 T (ZE -
92,0007 7T) (BF%29i) ;

V) EIRWMEBEBS Z2ELNF BLY
31 856,000 70 (ZE - _"F :
25,457,000%70) (FzE29f) ;

vii HMEBEHZEHNFE “’J
3,449,000 (Z&2 -
782,000 7T) (BMFs¥29¢) ; K

viih MAEN IR ZESESLH
69,486,000/ (&~ " & :
29,892,000 70) (ffz¥26) o



28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
. =

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. S#yaE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Receipts in advance from customers ~ FEHERTEWRE L RIE
in relation to trading of products 7,872 28,135
Receipts in advance from customers — FHIER KMBHEBEWREFRIE
in relation to construction and
development 102,701 104,700
110,573 132,835
Movement in contract liabilities for the years ended BE_TE__HFRIEZ=4+TAH
31 December 2022 and 2023: =t—HIEFEZENEEEH !
Construction
Trading of and
products development Total
BEER Bk =1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FET
Balance at 1 January 2022 R_E_"F—HF—H
2 KEER 94,350 114,872 209,222
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result RFEERN EM st AGH
of recognising revenue during the BRZEABA
year that was included in the contract B Z &4
liabilities at the beginning of the year ~ &1{&R/D (94,350) = (94,350)
Increase in contract liabilities excluding &HBEIEN FEEER
amounts recognised as revenue BRABWAZ &5
during the year 28,135 - 28,135
Exchange realignment fE R = (10,172) (10,172)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and W_E__#+_H
1 January 2023 =t+—HRZIZEZ=F
—B—BZ &% 28,135 104,700 132,835
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result HEEZR E4 5t ABH
of recognising revenue during the BRZEABA
year that was included in the contract Bz &4
liabilities at the beginning of the year ~ &1{&R/L (28,135) = (28,135)
Increase in contract liabilities excluding &#EEIEN  FEEER
amounts recognised as revenue BRABWAZ &5
during the year 7,872 - 7,872
Exchange realignment ERAE = (1,999) (1,999)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R_BE_=F+_H8
=+—Bz &% 7,872 102,701 110,573

PEERREXRERMERBRAR

2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

31 Dec

—

29.

R 75 ¥R R P 51

ember 2023
=F=+_"_A=+—H
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

29. IRITRHEMEE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Secured bank loans (note a) BIRRIRITEMN
(FyzEa) 24,686 20,944
Unsecured other loans mIEHEMER (f15EbZEd)

(notes b to d) 58,553 58,686
Secured bonds (note e) BIRIFES (fste) 109,000 109,000
Unsecured bonds (notes f to i) mIMES (R 249,414 251,414

441,653 440,044
Carrying amounts repayable REE R T EE R H A

within one year based on BR—FRNEENRESEE

scheduled payment dates set out

in the agreement 441,653 381,230
Carrying amounts not repayable BEARBREGHAERE—FAE

within one year from the end BEAFREREERR

of reporting period but contain RE®%E GInAsRBEaR)

a repayment on demand clause

(shown under current liabilities) 2,068 58,814

441,653 440,044
Less: amounts due within one year B AR AREBEN
shown under current liabilities — RN TR (441,653) (440,044)

Amounts shown under
non-current liabilities
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a

(b)

As at 31 December 2023, the secured bank
loans of approximately HK$24,686,000 (2022:
HK$20,944,000) was secured by investment
properties with fair value of approximately
HK$294,831,000 (2022: HK$300,188,000) and
personal guarantee by shareholder of the Company
and his wife and related parties.

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured other
loan of approximately HK$33,687,000 (2022:
HK$34,343,000) was borrowed from Beidahuang
Marketing Co. Ltd., the non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary of the Group. The purpose for the
loan was purchasing staple food and liquor wine
products.

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured other loans
of approximately HK$22,868,000 was borrowed
from independent third parties and approximately
HK$20,800,000 was matured and overdue for
repayment. The Group has received a winding up
petition issued by an unsecured loanholder for the
debt amount of approximately HK$10,714,000.
Please refer to note 45(viii) for further details.
The default interest amounted to approximately
HK$3,449,000 (2022: HK$782,000) with default
interest rate of 3% to 18% per annum (note 27).

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured other loan of
approximately HK$1,998,000 (2022: HK$4,289,000)
was borrowed from a shareholder of the Company
(Note 39(a)(ii)).

As at 31 December 2023, secured bond
of approximately HK$109,000,000 (2022:
HK$109,000,000) were borrowed from an
independent third party and secured by the
equity interests of two subsidiaries. The secured
bond was matured during the year ended 2019
and as at 31 December 2023 the default interest
amounted to approximately HK$135,360,000 (2022:
HK$78,969,000) with default interest rate of 10%-
30% per annum (note 27) (the
Bond”). The Group is negotiating with secured
bondholder to extend the Default Secured Bond.

"Default Secured

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
$+ B=+—H

_=_—

by aI 5

(a

RIEZ=F+ZF=+—H’B
IR ER 1T B 7 A924,686,00058 7T (Z
T 4 120,944,000 7T) TSEA
MIE#I294,831,0008 T (ZBE -
£F 1 300,188,000/ 70) IR E Y E/E
BERRBARATEREREETUR
RN S EHEAIER

B =F+"HA=+—H &
IR E B F04933,687,00078 75 (—
T T4 134,343,000 7T) THEE
$$M¢%@TE@3E?’“M&%1E%
HEHERMERAB ZERLE
ERETEREEERBR

RZEZ=F+ZRA=+—H &
R EMth &3 4922,868,000% 757
BEEBILE=7/%#20,800,000
BrbERTAAER AEEE
WE —2BEIERERTAE ARE
2 EEAIA10,714,0008 T2 HB
/ﬁmlEE;EJOE 5u¥rﬁuﬁ%§§f5ﬁ£
45(viii) c FREBHNFEFIE3I%E18%
STERBAF B4 43,449,000 7T
(ZEBEZ 4 :782,000587m) (MisE
27) e

A—E_=ZFE+"H=+—H>
IR E M E 491,998,000 7T (_
T T4 14,289,000/ 7T) THfE B A
NE)—ZRRE (HFEE39(a)ii) °

A =B =1 B =TSR
I EF49109,000,000/8 7T (—
T 4 : 109,000,000 T) b
EEBILE=A AMBEKNBARE
ZH%EET’HEH@ BIRFESREE

—NWEEFER®R MRZE
f:¢+fﬁ:+—5 BENFE
ME10%-30%T ERELNF B L
135,360,000 7T (B -4 !
78,969,0007&7T) (fizF27) (MENE
EIFES)) - AEBIEHEBIEKFR
SRAAERLRENEIRRGES
ZHARR o
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29.

=F+-R=+—H

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(f)

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured bonds
of approximately HK$64,000,000 (2022:
HK$64,000,000) was the principal amount of
matured convertible bonds. The default interest
was approximately HK$31,856,000 (2022:
HK$25,457,000) with default interest rate of 10%
per annum (note 27).

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured bonds
of approximately HK$69,414,000 (2022:
HK$71,414,000) were borrowed from independent
third parties. Approximately HK$69,414,000
(2022: HK$70,414,000) was defaulted as at 31
December 2023. The Group has received a winding
up petition issued by an unsecured bondholder for
the debt amount of approximately HK$7,198,000
in respect of approximately HK$6,100,000 (2022:
HK$7,100,000) of the unsecured bonds. Please
refer to note 45(iii) for further details. The default
interest was approximately HK$10,766,000 (2022:
HK$7,860,000) with default interest rate of 2% to
6% per annum (note 27).

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured bonds
of approximately HK$111,100,000 (2022:
HK$111,100,000) was the principal amount of
matured convertible bonds. The unsecured bonds
was matured during the year ended 2021 and
the default interest was HK$42,218,000 (2022:
HK$28,886,000) with default interest rate of 12%
per annum (note 27).

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured bonds of
approximately HK$4,900,000 (2022: HK$4,900,000)
was borrowed from independent third party. The
unsecured bonds were matured. The default interest
was approximately HK$141,000 (2022: HK$92,000)
with default interest of 1% per annum (note 27).
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Z T4 1 71,414,00087T) A B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 29. $RITREMES (B
The above bank and other borrowings that are PR AREMESHUBRERS
denominated in currencies other than the functional BETHAE L5 & DI ANy S & 28 > &5 W
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out T
below:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
RMB AR 81,989 83,280
HK$ BT 359,664 356,764
441,653 440,044
The ranges of interest rates on the Group’s bank and AEESRTEEMESHNHXEE
other borrowings are as follows: T
2023 2022
% %
Secured bank loans BIRFIRITER

(note a) (MyzEa) 4.80-5.00 5.20-5.28
Unsecured other loans mITHEMER (fI5EbZEd)

(notes b to d) 3.00-18.00 3.00-18.00
Secured bonds (note e) BifiRES (f5te) 10.00 10.00
Unsecured bonds (notes f to i) IR ES (RN 1.00-12.00 1.00-12.00
DEFERRED TAX 30. IRIEFRIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MR SRR RxR T 23 M= &
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax TFIRIERIBEEHEEEMEIEHE 7

assets and liabilities have been offset. The following
is the analysis of deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purpose:

MHBEE2RENETZEERBEERS
DT -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Deferred tax assets RICRRIEE (5,855) (5,969)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 29,928 30,415
24,073 24,446

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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30.

=F+"A=1t—H
DEFERRED TAX (continued)
The following are the major deferred tax assets and
liabilities recognised and movements thereon during
the current and prior years.

30. EIEMIA (48)

Eéﬁifﬁfg&i@ﬁfﬁfgﬁﬁm ZEBIRIE

MEBEEREBER

Revaluation Accumulated

Allowance

of investment losses  for expected
property  recognised credit losses Total
B B BHEE
BREME 2itii8 EEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEr TET TET
Deferred tax liabilities at = —— ey S R &
1 January 2022 ZIEERIESE 33,987 (6,549) 1,942 29,380
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated SEAFTA
statement of profit or loss and other &R BHEREMEZE
comprehensive income during WAz Z ELERE
the year (note 11) (ME11) (580) - (1,942) (2,522)
Exchange realignment ERRHE (2,992) 580 = (2,412)
Deferred tax liabilities at RIZZZF+ZA=+—-Hk
31 December 2022 and “E_ZF-RB—HZ
1 January 2023 EERESR 30,415 (5,969) = 24,446
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated £ Pzt A
statement of profit or loss and other &R EHKEMEE
comprehensive income during WA SRR 2 EIERRIE
the year (note 11) (GEARD 9% - - 94
Exchange realignment ERRHE (581) 114 = (467)
Deferred tax liabilities at A_E_=E+"A=1+—-RHZ
31 December 2023 EERESR 29,928 (5,855) - 24,073

Tax losses of approximately HK$69,094,000 was
arising in Mainland China (2022: HK$61,270,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group’s lease liabilities arise from the lease of
properties of 2 to 10 years (2022: 2 to 10 years).
Interest rate underlying for the lease was from 6.90%
10 6.97% (2022: 6.48% to 6.97%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023, the
Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows:

e BT
31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H
31. THE&R
AEBZZHEGBBRELER2E10EFE (&

T TF 2105 WYEEE-HE

Mz £ =

NF6.90%E6.97% (=

T T F I 6.48%FE6.97%) 2B e

RIBZ-HF+-RA=+—HkKZ
“=#%+"RA=+—8> ZIS%@E%E&

ZHEEERNT

Present value
of the minimum
lease payments

Total minimum
lease payments

EEHE RIEHE

fIRRE IR
2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTET THET TAET
Within 1 year —FR 32,408 38,569 43,062 47,996
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBEMEA 16,594 32,523 21,413 38,942
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBLERN 56,998 53,676 64,239 64,696
Over 5 years EENE 5,704 26,238 5,865 27,544
111,704 151,006 134,579 179,178
Less: total future interest expenses B RRF B AREE (22,875) (28,172)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABRE 111,704 151,006

———

Lease obligations denominated in RMB was
approximately HK$37,613,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$44,250,000).

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk
with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are
monitored within the Group's treasury function.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were
release of lease liabilities upon disposal of subsidiaries
amounted approximately HK$367,941,000 (note 34).

STECZHFF+TH=1T—H'BAR

KitEZHES

F497537,613,0005 7T

(ZE =4 : 44,250,000387T) ©

mEEEaEMHEBREAR

%f@j:ﬁfﬁﬂﬁﬁ cHEBBNAERER

BAE NS BB 5R o

BE_S- 4+ =8 =1 LE
RHEWBATRELOEAEAEBY
367,941,0005 7 (MizE34) o

PEERREXRERMERBRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e MR MY 5E

31 December 2023
—EC—F+"H=+—H

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BB#
Shares &1
2023 2022 2023 2022
Number Number
#B 2B
‘000 ‘000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T Tk TERT TER
Authorised: AT
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 SREE10BTH
TEk 16,000,000 16,000,000 1,600,000 1,600,000
Issued and fully paid: BEBITRERER
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each SREE0.10ETH
EER
1 January R—A—H 6,313,366 6,225,126 631,337 622,513
Exercised share option BT E
(Notes a and b) (Mtstakb) 18,946 88,240 1,894 8,824
31 December Tr=EST—F 6,332,312 6,313,366 633,231 631,337
Note: MI5E -

Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed on 22
January 2022, the total authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$800,000,000 divided
into 8,000,000,000 ordinary shares of par value HK$0.01
each to HK$1,600,000,000 by the creation of additional
8,000,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01
each.

(a) 88,240,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were
issued as a result of exercise of share options under
the share options scheme adopted on 9 June 2017
in which 34,953,000 shares issued on 15 July 2022,
10,147,000 shares issued on 22 July 2022 and
43,140,000 shares issued on 15 September 2022.

(b) 18,946,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were
issued as a result of exercise of share options under
the share options scheme adopted on 9 June 2017 in
which 16,350,000 shares issued on 16 March 2023
and 2,596,000 shares issued on 13 June 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operates two share option schemes
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of,
the Group. A share option scheme was adopted by
the Company on 23 May 2007 (“2007 Scheme™)
and terminated on 22 May 2017, and a new share
option scheme (“2017 Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 June
2017 ("Adoption Date”). The 2017 Scheme, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the 2017 Scheme and
under any other schemes of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares
in issue at the date of the passing of the resolution for
the adoption of the 2017 Scheme. The total number
of shares issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each eligible person in any 12-month period up
to and including the date of grant shall not exceed
1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares in issue of the Company or having
an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

33.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
“EC=HF+ZRA=+—H
fBR A
KABIREMEBERESS > SER
SENRS2EERAERFMEEMAE
BENREREEF) o 128 4 5B R 8%
B —IEHERESEIN_-ZEZLtER
BZ+=BEARBEHEM ((ZTE2EL
FHEDUER_TE—tFRAZ+Z
B RRER _ZE—tF£/,BhH
(TERMNBHA)) BB 2 RZEE > — I8
EREstE (CE—tF:t8))) B
NEVRAN - PRIES EF S S EH1ERT
“E-tFFEKBERME L0
FR—BEEWM-

BE_ST-—tEFAERBERRFE
R E M5t 8 FIAE R H 2 BB IR BEFR Y I
ZRERNEE GHASBBNER
HERM _Z—LtFHREBEEH
BEITRMEBEZ10% - REEREA
H (B#E=%B) AiER12E A BHERF
BEERATZBREETERET
ZRIMBE AEBBRREBHEH
TRMNZ1% - BRZREBEZERME—
SEREBRE AIRNRRAS LEUSR
Rt

BARABRES THBMNEEZRETN
REEAEEARLBRERK

MIFRITEERS R E I AER
A EERRABIUIFATETIRS
BY{E AT Bk B A 3R H BV E T BB AR R B AE
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R ARG LR H -
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=F+"“A=+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

A grant of options may not be made after inside
information has come to the knowledge of the
Company until it has been published. In particular,
no options may be granted during the period
commencing one month immediately preceding
the earlier of the date of the Board meeting for
the approval of the Company’s results for any year,
half-year, quarterly or any other interim period
and the deadline for the Company to publish an
announcement of its results for any year, half-year,
quarterly or any other interim period. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised more than 10
years after it has been granted.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the 2017 Scheme shall
be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion
shall determine, save that such price must be at least
the higher of the official closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant, the average of the official
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant and the
nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 33. BERGHESTE (4B)
The following share options were outstanding under ER T B — - EH 218 RS
the 2017 Scheme during the year: H AT
2023 2022
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of  exercise price Number of
per share options per share options
hEFg I
SkiTEE BREHE SROTRE  BREHE
HK$ '000 HK$ ‘000
BT T3 BT T3
t 1 January K—FB—H 0.10 418,700 0.10 509,640
Lapsed during the year FEREM - = 0.10 (2,700)
Exercised during the year FERITHE 0.10 (18,946) 0.10 (88,240)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—8H 0.10 399,754 0.10 418,700

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share

options outstanding as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

R|BERR > RTEBRENITEER
TEHMT ¢

2023 —EZ=
Number of
Grantees options Exercise price* Exercise period
ERA fEkiEHE TEE 171EHA
‘000 HK$ per share
15 SRAT
Directors 900 0.10 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024
5% “ET—FRAt+—HE
“ETMFESRB+H
Other employees 1,854 0.10 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024
HtES T —FA+—H=E
“ETMFESRATH
Consultants 397,000 0.10 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024
EE _7:_5/\ﬁ+ HZE
“ETMmFESRB+H
399,754 0.10

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

- A 3 ==
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 33. BERGHESTE (4B)
2023 (continued) —EB-=F (8B
Number of share options
BREYE
At Exercised Granted Cancelled Lapsed At Date of Exercise price
Name or category of 1 January during during during the during the 31 December  grant of Exercise period of of share
participant 2023 the year the year year year 2023 share options share options options
#® RZBZ=f
ZRIZE +ZB
SEERANER —-B-8 FRITE FREH FREH FRENR =+-B BREEHAS BRETES BRETEE
HKS per share
BRET
Directors
=
Ms. Ho Wing Yan 900,000 (900,000) ~ = = - 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
(IS . ZBT-fF B -FBt+-HE
~A+-H “B-mERATA
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa 900,000 = ~ = = 900,000 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
RRERE ZBT-fF 2 -F/B+-RHE
~A+-H “B-MERATA
1,800,000 (900,000) = = = 900,000
Other Employees
Hites
In aggregate 19,900,000 (18,046,000) = = = 1,854,000 11 Jun 2021 11 Jun 2021 to 10 Jun 2024 0.10
st - BT —F5AT-HE
#~B+—8 ZZ_MERBTA
Consultants
L]
In aggregate 397,000,000 = = = = 397,000,000 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
a5t & B -E5AT-HE
ARtT—H “B-MERATA
418,700,000 (18,946,000) = = = 399,754,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 33. BERGHESTE (4B)
2022 s
Number of
Grantees options Exercise price* Exercise period
EBEA fERiEHE TEE 171EHA
‘000 HK$ per share
15 BRET
Directors 1,800 0.10 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024
5% —_E_—FA+—H=E
“EIMFERATH
Other employees 19,900 0.10 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024
Hithfg & —_E—FB+—HE
—EHWFRBTH
Consultants 397,000 0.10 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024
S —_E_—HFA+—H=E
“ETMFERATH
418,700 0.10
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * EHREHARBTHARBREAR

adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

IR LIESHERT  BRENTT
EEARFHARE

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 33. BERGHEstE) (48)
2022 (continued) —EZ_F (@)

Number of share options

At Exercised Granted Cancelled Lapsed At Date of Exercise price
Name or category of 1 January during during during the during the 31 December  grant of Exercise period of of share
participant 2022 the year the year year year 2022 share options share options options
S i St
—E-CEF +-R
SEERRHER —-A-8 FRITE FREH FREH ERRH =+-B RBRERHAS BRETES FRETEE
HK$ per share
SRET
Directors
3
Mr. Li Jiehong 900,000 - - - (900,000) - 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
FRBRLE - kS e =
~B+—8 “2-MERBTA
Mr. Ke Xionghan 4,060,000 (4,060,000 - - - - 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
k3 P ZST-F ZE_-F/Bt+-HE
~A+-H “B-MERATA
Mr. Zeng Jixiang 900,000 - - - (900,000) - 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
BERRL 2% B A+-HE
7~B+—8 Z2-MERBTA
Mr. Yu Zicong 900,000 - - - (900,000) - 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
AFREE & B/ A+-HE
~A+T-H “B_MERATA
Ms. Ho Wing Yan 900,000 - - - - 900,000 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
B es ZB2--& B A+-HE
7~B+—8 “2_MERBTA
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa 900,000 - - - - 900,000 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
RRERE & B/ A+-HE
~A+T-H “B_MERATA
Mr. Yang Yunguang 900,000 (900,000) = = = - 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
BEREE Z2--f B A+-HE
7~B+—8 “2_MERBTA
Mr. Chen Zhifeng 900,000 (900,000) - - - - 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
REEEE B_—% B/ A+-RE
~A+-H B MERATA
10,360,000 (5,860,000) = = (2,700,000) 1,800,000
Other Employees
HitifE&
In aggregate 102,280,400 (82,380,400) - - - 19,900,000 11 Jun 2021 11 Jun 2021 to 10 Jun 2024 0.10
st ZEC—f B4 A+-HE
ART—H ZE-mERAHA
Consultants
)
In aggregate 397,000,000 - - - - 397,000,000 11 June 2021 11 June 2021 to 10 June 2024 0.10
st & B/ A+-HE
~AT-H B mERATA
509,640,400 (88,240,400) - - (2,700,000) 418,700,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 33. BERSHEEtE| (88)
The fair value of services received in return for share DB RE 2 ANET
options granted is measured by reference to the RBRIEHERENARNESE  ER
fair value of share options granted. The fair value R EEREADEREY BB
of equity-settled share options during the year was Ao_EREpEEEEEE G &
estimated as at the date of grant, using a binomial B RERS E H AIE  R E  DA R Fl 3%
option pricing model, taking into account the terms W TEIBRE o TR FFAER S
and conditions and following assumptions adopted EER
upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:
Grant date
11 June 2021
R B
ZEZ—F
~A+—H
Fair value at measurement date RetE2B8ZzANE
(HK$ per share options) (B EBEREETT) 0.034
Dividend yield (%) f% B (%) =
Expected volatility (%) TERR R ME(%) 107
Historical volatility (%) & SR & (%) 107
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4% 7 B A1) 2R (%) 0.16
Expected life of options (years) B ETEEAFHR (5) 3
Weighted average share price MEEHRE (ERET)
(HK$ per share) 0.10
Closing share price (HK$ per share) W RRE (B AT 0.068

The expected life of the options is based on the
historical data over the past three years and is not
necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

BRENEHREHEREBAE=ZCENE
LHESE HARABBTREEARNE
13 o FRHA IR 8 Sz R FE SE IR M8 PI 45 TR AR 2R
BENERR AT AL EERER -
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34.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
had 399,754,000 (2022: 418,700,000) share options
outstanding under the 2017 Scheme. The exercise in
full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 399,754,000 (2022: 418,700,000) additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$39,975,000.

The total number of shares available for issue
under the 2017 Scheme is 399,754,000 (2022:
418,700,000) representing approximately 6.31%
(2022: 6.66%) of shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of this annual report.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 8 November 2022, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement to disposal of its
100% equity interest in Beijing Mumian Shangyuan
Investment Management Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries
which engaged in rental business to an independent
third party (“the Purchaser”) for cash consideration
of RMB$550,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$605,000). The disposal was completed on 25
November 2022.
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RERefEstEl (8)
RHBEBREMEEMBERAALR
BEREtE-

BE_Z”-_=fF+Z"HA=+—H
EFEE > ARBREBEZZT—tF5t
2)5399,754,0001p (Z&E - —
418,700,00017) BEPREE RITfE -
EARBIRBEEARAEET  BHIT
FHRTHEEREEERAQS
£%47399,754,000f (ZE - _ & :
418,700,0008R) RBSM S 18 A% K 3% AN AR A<
39,975,000 7T ©
TETEFHEBETAHEETZRMG
488 #399,754,0000 (Z B ==
418,700,0008%) > 4G A A B R A F
HEZBE1TRINZ631% (T2
F:6.66%) °

HEMBARE

. — ey = DA =R NS v
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34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023

B -Ft+”"RA=+—H

34. LEMBAR (&)

Summary of the effects of the disposal is as follows: HeE> BEEWTF

HK$'000
Consideration: RE: FET
Total consideration AR E 605

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which

control was lost

KREEHEZEEREGEDH

HK$'000
FAET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment EN =Y 15
Rental deposit paid B HEEE 4,079
Right-of-use assets ERAESE 328,411
Trade receivables FEUL & 5 AR 86
Other receivables HAth YR IE 86,575
Amount due from related parties & Uit A Bt 75 TR IE 440
Cash and cash equivalents REKRIBEEEBEY 14,690
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade payables FET B 2R (4,188)
Other payables and accruals HAth T RIE K FE 5t & A (48,808)
Contract liabilities =R (25,667)
Lease liabilities HEaE (95,244)
Short term borrowings RHREE (8,803)
Non-current liabilities JERENAE
Lease liabilities HEaRE (272,697)
Net liabilities disposed BHEASBFER (A 8513
Release of exchange difference upon REHEREREIERERR

disposal 5,655
Release of non-controlling interest ("NCI") A H & B[O JE AR i 25

upon disposal (TFEEZERE ) 15,434

(22)
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31 December 2023
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 34.

HEHBAE (&)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAT ZInEs
HK$'000
FET
Consideration received BUWRE 605
Net liabilities disposed BHEASBEFEEE 21,111
Release of exchange difference RHERECIEREL
upon disposal (5,655)
Release of non-controlling interest R ER RO IR (TFEIER )
("NCI") upon disposal (15,434)
627
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBASZIRE R E4E
HK$'000
FET
Consideration received in cash and ~ UIRE AR S EYWEIRE
cash equivalents 605
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BHERENREEEY
disposed of (14,690)
(14,085)
35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 35. EBEEER

Details of the Group's bank loans, which are secured
by the assets of the Group, are included in notes
26 and 29, respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.
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36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases certain properties for rental income
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one
to five years.

As Lessors

At 31 December 2022 and 2023, the Group has
contracted with tenants for the following future
minimum lease payments:

36.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B -Ft+"A=+—H
KEHELH
FEERBEESHEZHHEEETY
EUESHESRA - MEHERER—
ELFHEC

EREHEA

R_E - —_EKR_E_=ZF+_H
=+—B> xEESBLA MU T RRE
EHEENETA -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year — &R 54,483 60,448
In the second to fifth years F_FERTF 32,127 122,317
Beyond five years B A E 847 1,421
87,457 184,186

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases
are negotiated for an average term from two to three
years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do
not include contingent rentals.

KEHEENREREEREETHA
EYERGZEE - HEN TR
BAamE=F > BESRERNEE
NEFES AR

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. Ezkg(?%
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
Capital expenditure in respect of the BB ERNGETH
construction cost of properties for RERPEEZHFEMERER
sale contracted for but not provided A2 B AR
in the consolidated financial
statement 7,262 7,403

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR

iS5



196

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
17 O =

31 Dec

—

38.

R 75 ¥R R P 51

ember 2023

=F+"“A=+—H

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a
registered scheme under the MPF Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of
an independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employers and their employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at
a rate specified in the rules. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the MPF Scheme. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees
and capped at HK$1,500 per month.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss
represent contributions payable to the funds by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The employees employed by the entities in the PRC
are members of the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC
entities are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government is to make the
specific contributions under the schemes.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, no forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years.

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

38.

BRAEFFTE
rEEREEERGERESRMR
fIEABEEE (TREE58))) 88
58D ERE GRFIME AT S5 BIF
P B -BREABNEERBULR
EAUESEE TEAEENEED
FIfT A - IRIFBEEFTEIRVRE  BE
RERBERDIZRERNLERMABRIE
EETEFHER - REFE I REE S
WE—SERMBREZSEFHEE
BY1H 7R o 7 5= [ #2048 R S R B A5 BY5 %
mstBER MESTAZRASFTES
EEftak - | AR ER21,50058 7T

BiEm M REBE S 58 MEERR
IEAET IR DA ERRERE 5T
FRENLERAZFE T EELR M

=+
o

FEERTEAERMERNES 95
o B U R 9 B AR AR AR A BT B AY
pE - FHBR A M EEHENET
B (ERRAEN BB MR A
E BN PEBATEERRIKERN 5 E
W —-—SEARESEFLRERH#

=+
o

A T N i = [ e 2 o ==L e ]
=+—H ARERTED LA HERRE
BIER/DRKEERMAIMR



39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group entered into the
following material related parties transactions:

(a) Transactions with related parties and
connected transactions

(i)

(ii)

As at 31 December 2023, the bank
loan of HK$24,686,000 (2022:
HK$20,944,000) (note 29(a)) and
bills payables of HK$63,674,000
(2022: HK$71,951,000) (note 26)
were guaranteed by Shenzhen Jianlai
Industrial Co., Ltd. CRYITFTEREXE
FR/AT)), a related party of the Group in
which the shareholder of the Company
has beneficial ownership, shareholder of
the Company and his wife.

At 31 December 2023, the unsecured
other loan of HK$1,998,000 (2022:
HK$4,289,000) (note 29(d)) was
borrowed from the shareholder of the
Company.

39. EXR
BREZEES
EE/5TU

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
Ses B = —(5

_=_—

Hﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&nn ?

MBREFERBEEN &
TEXREBERZS

() ERMAETZIREKRAE
X7

(i)

(ii)

W& Z=%+"H
=+—H RBRITEX
24,686,000 (&
4 120,944,000 7T)
(Mt5E29(a)) REENME
63,674,000 (ZF
Z 4 171,951,000 7T)
(f¥sk26) Th B A EERE
BARNINTEREEAR
NE (RRABRERERE
BEEnkEAR) - KAAH
BEREEFEHERC

RZEZ=%+2ZAH
=+—H EEFEME
1,998,000 T (=&
T4 4,289,000 7T)
(FF5E29(d)) THfEBAA
BIRRER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

31 December 2023
—EC—F+"H=+—H

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 39. EABBA RS RiEEF (@)
BALANCES (continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) HEHEABAZEKEESLEER:
2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =% FHET TAT
Due to related parties  FE{TRAH: A5 TIE
Mr. Jiang Jiancheng IR ) 3,900 =
Mr. Li Jiehong RS E (i) - 691
3,900 691
Notes: MI5E
(i) An executive director and chairman for the (i) KANBAREERITEERTE
current year of the Company. f&o
(i) A ex-director of the Company. (i) KABRIESE ©
The balances with other related parties are EAH EA B 75 2 AR ER A SRR IR
unsecured, interest free and repayable on REREBREREIR
demand.
() Compensation of key management (0 FEEEBABZHMN
personnel
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Short term employee benefits  52HiE E&F 3,800 5,409
Post-employment benefits BHEEN 51 36
Total compensation paid to iﬁ%IE%ﬁAEZ%ﬁM
key management personnel 4E%E 3,851 5,445
Further details of directors’ emoluments are EREENezE—TEBEH
included in note 9 to the consolidated financial RIRE B RRMEE o
statements.
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

40.

RENESTHNEMIA
RESHR SRR T AKEETR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting T
period are as follows:
Financial assets SREE
2023 2022
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised amortised
cost cost
BAFERZ AT Z
ERMEE EMEE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Myt FTHET FHET
Trade receivables FEU E 7 8RN 23 126,787 145,567
Financial assets included in STATE(IFRIE
prepayments, deposits and other B REMEK
receivables REZETHEE 24 140,815 138,148
Loan receivables FEWE R 17 194,597 199,358
Cash and cash equivalents BERBEEEY 25 12,996 14,880
475,195 497,953

PEERREXRERMERBRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE
31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40.

(continued)

RENSSNEMIA (B

Financial liabilities SEiEE
2023 2022
Financial Financial
liabilities liabilities
at amortised at amortised
cost cost
RS A B
5iRZ HERZ
EMEE ETHMERE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Byt FTHET FET
Trade and bills payables e B 2R B B4 26 146,821 157,291

Financial liabilities included StAEMBEARIER

in other payables and accruals BHERz:HERE 27 406,318 247,566
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEE 29 441,653 440,044
Amounts due to related parties ~ FE{TREEE 5 I8 39 3,900 691
Lease liabilities HE&RE 31 111,704 151,006
1,110,396 996,598

The carrying amounts of the above balances
approximate to their fair values.

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41.

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
bank and other borrowings, amounts due to related
parties, lease liabilities and cash and cash equivalents.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk mainly in relation to variable rate bank balances.
The Group's exposure to fair values interest rate risk is
mainly caused by lease liabilities and fixed-rate bank
and other borrowing. The Group monitors the interest
rate exposure on a continuous basis and adjusts
the portfolio of bank balances, lease liabilities and
borrowings where necessary.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had no
significant exposure to cash flow interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China
and all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of
the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB, except for certain bank balances denominated
in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and United States
dollars (“USD"). The Group has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

The Group currently does not expect any significant
movements in the exchange rate of USD to HKD and it
is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in RMB.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy, however, the management monitors
the foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currently exposure should
the need arise.

41.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
Ses B = —(5

FRER (8)
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EREREIEZBE

2= | B
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AnENXREREIEREEEEKRE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, advances
to associates, loan receivables and cash and cash
equivalents.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.
The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and expected credit loss. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual debt at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in PRC, which
accounted for approximately 97% (2022: 97 %) of the
total financial assets as at 31 December 2023.
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023

“EBC=F+"HA=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41, SREMRTIEZBERKE (B)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (@)
Trade receivables (continued) JEIS B ZBRA (48)
Approximately 75.2% and 67.54% of total trade RN -~ B _=—F+_ ﬁ
receivables outstanding at 31 December 2022 _—|— HAEEEEINE ZIRZ4E
and 2023 respectively were due from top 5 trade DBN475.2%K%67.54% ] /J_EAE_‘:L?(WE
receivables which exposed the Group to concentration WBEESH W AEB Y EERHE
of credit risk. Ho
Past due
Past due from Past due
Not within -~ 3110 120 over
past due 30 days days 120 days Total
B ki beal:f
As at 31 December 2022 RIZZZH+ZA=1+—H Kam 30BR  31E1208  #BiB1208 st
Expected credit loss (“ECL") rate BHEERE (BREERR) X 4.45% 9.04%  17.17%  21.60%  11.48%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) SREAE (FET) 78,620 10,647 41,230 33946 164,443
Lifetime ECL (HK'000) 2HBHESEE (TED (3,500) (963) (7,081) (7332  (18,876)
75,120 9,684 34,149 26,614 145,567
Past due
Past due from  Past due
Not within ~ 31t0 120 over
past due 30 days days 120 days Total
bl i bt B
As at 31 December 2023 RZZ-=F+"R=+-H KA 30HA 31E120H #1208 Hazt
Expected credit loss (“ECL") rate FRHEERE (RHEEHR) X 8.89%  1248%  2257%  2554%  17.10%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) SREAE (TAT) 62,171 9,397 44,545 36,834 152,947
Lifetime ECL (HK'000) 2HBHESES (TED (5525  (1,173) (10,055  (9,407)  (26,160)
56,646 8,224 34,490 27,427 126,787
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables HE LB EINER REMEL

v
In determining the ECL of the Group's advances to

REEAEEBRZRATRR  BIER

associates, loan receivables and other receivables, the REMEWRIBE AR EEEER &
management assessed the expected losses individually EEREEHSAMKCESHBETX 2R

by estimation based on general economic conditions

BEATE SR E R DRI E A (EME

of the relevant industry in which the debtors operate,
value of any pledged assets, financial position of the
debtors and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.

The Group’'s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in PRC, which
accounted for approximately 99% (2022: 99%) of the
total financial assets as at 31 December 2023.

BHFAZHBRRIARERBEBHR
MRARFAR IR Z SHEEIT A5 (F
(ERIEEEE) S B E

rEERMEBUEZEERKRETE
EhRGE R _E_=F5+_8
T+ HEMEELELN9% (ZF
== G ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE
31 December 2023
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41, SRIEAMEEZEHEKREE (B)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (@)
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables ) G B2 I B2 F B 1=
(continued) IE (#8)
As as 31 December 2022
RZFZ_E+°-A=1+—H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
SR FREE HZMEER aast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET TET AT AT
Loan receivables, gross el ez 202,120 10,619 91,145 303,884
Less: ECL on loan receivables HENER EREE
SE= (10,007) (3,374) (91,145) (104,526)
Loan receivables, net EWER S 192,113 7,245 = 199,358
As as 31 December 2023
RZBZ=%+"_A=+—H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—PEE B B=REE fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FTHT THET THET THET
Loan receivables, gross el E ez 200,738 10,416 89,652 300,806
Less: ECL on loan receivables HENES BREE
518 (13,347) (3,210) (89,652) (106,209)
Loan receivables, net BWEHEE 187,391 7,206 - 194,597
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41.
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Advances to associates, loan and other receivables

(continued)

Movements for ECL of loan receivables are as follows:

fe= A
177 g == |

ST

A #5 SR AR P 5

31 December 2023

=F+"A=+—H

TREAREEZ BRREER (8)

EEmRE (8

BE R B W E T RE BRI

B (#8)

RWERBREEHEZFNT !

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—PEER FREER F=MER szt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT FHET TAT
At 1 January 2022 R_ZE__&F—H—H 16,506 - 100,000 116,506
Transfer of stages P ER R (522) 522 = =
Net allowance for ECL ERERZEREE
on loan receivables ARG FE (4,515) 2,852 = (1,663)
Exchange realignment FER R (1,462) - (8,855) (10,317)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZE__F
1 January 2023 +ZA=+—EBk
_E-=%—-A-H 10,007 3,374 91,145 104,526
Transfer of stages P ER RS = = = =
Net allowance for ECL BRERZEREE
on loan receivables BEEETFE 3,464 (99) = 3,365
Exchange realignment R (124) (65) (1,493) (1,682)
As at 31 December 2023 RZIB_=F
+ZBA=1+—-H 13,347 3,210 89,652 106,209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE
31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41, SRIEAMEEZEHEKREE (B)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (@)
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables ) G B2 I B2 F B 1=
(continued) IE (4
The major terms of our loan receivable customers HEKREFRELANTERS (B35
(including the dates of initial grant, renewal and KIBE - EERINBEAE AXEAD
maturity, interest rate and principal amount), the value | BERFREE -RKEEERS
of asset collateral, and the outstanding loan amounts ERTEHREEE1E (IFBERE8518))
and accumulated loss allowance of expected credit FtEEBERRTT
losses ("ECL") are summarized as follows:
Gross amount Loan receivable
Loan receivable of loan ECL asat
loan  asat2022.1231,  receivable allowance 223.1231,  Value of
Initial grant Date of Maturity date Interest  principal net of ECL asat asat net of asset
date of loan loan renewal of loan ratt  amount allowance 20231231 2023.1231 ECLallowance  collateral
RIBZZf RIBZZE RZBZZf
tZAZ+-RA RIBCZE +ZB  +IBR=t-H
ZRRER +ZB Zt-HZ ZRRER
BREL NRESEE =t-Bz  BEREE NRESEE BE
EXRAH EARRAN XA fE EhkeB PEEE EHEREE  BREG BRiEE HRREE
(RNB) (HKO00)  (HK00D  (HK'000) (HK'000) ~ (HKS'000)
(AR ) @D D FE
Stage 1 (initial ~ H—HE
recognition) ({5 D)
Customer €~ BFC 20180309 20030309 20040308 0% 23000 27,007 2787 162 6249 51889
“2-\FZAAR ZBIZEZAAR ZEIMEZANA
Customer D~ BFD 2017.0416 2023.04.14 20040415 0% 22,000 25833 26,660 (1,552) 5108 4929
“E-tEMA+AR ZRTZEMATRA CERCMEMATEA
Customer .~ BEE 2018032 2003032 20040301 0% 22,000 25833 26,660 (1552) /108 490
Z%-\¥ZRZH ZBZZFZRCH ECME=R-A
Customer P BFF 20020907 20030707 20040706 2% 16000 18788 19,389 (1,128) 18261 3418
Z3TEAAtE ZECZHEtAtR ZICMELASA
Customer 6~ BFG 20200719 20030719 20040718 2% 16000 18788 19,389 (1,128) 18261 3179
“ECREtAthE CBIZHFHATAR ZBIMELATAR
Customer) ) 2017.1020 2023.1020 20041019 2% 15000 17,614 18177 (1,058) 719 RN
ZZ-tE£+AZ+H ZBCZETACZHA ZBIMETATAR
CustomerL — EFL 2018.11.09 2003.11.09 2004.11.08 2% 15000 17,614 18177 (1,058) 719 373
“3-\E+-AAR ZB-ZE+-BAA ZZ-mET-ANR
Other customers ~ E1Z R various various various 1% -12% na 40,636 44,415 (4,249) 40,166 78,618
G Gl Gl TEE
Stage 2 (credit KRR
impaired) (fE&HE)
Customer| Al 017072 23072 20040721 12% 9,000 4 10416 (3210) 1206 18421
“EtE “BCCE ZITRE

= tB=+ZR tB=+-H
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023

B -F+ZH=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41, SREMRTIEZBERKE (B)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) FEERE (@&
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables e NG B2 FEIN B2 F B M EI =
(continued) E (#8)
Gross amount Loan receivable
Loan receivable of loan ECL asat
loan  asat2022.1231,  receivable  allowance 20231231, Value of
Initial grant Date of Maturity date Interest  principal net of ECL asat asat net of asset
date of loan loan renewal of loan rate amount allowance 20231231 2023.1231 ECLallowance  collateral
RZB-ZE RZB-ZE R-B-ZE
tZA=+-R RIBCZE +ZB  +IB=t-H
ZRWER +Z8 =t-Hz ZRWER
EERED NEESEE =t+-Az  BHEE MBEREE EE
EHAH ERERAS BREER HE EakdH BRAE RUERLE  BEBE BiEAGE HRREE
(RVB) (HK'000)  (HK00D)  (HK'00O) (HK'000)  (HKS'000)
(AE®) (F#7m) (F#7m) (F#m) (fén)  (FEn)
Stage 3 (credit-  H=ME
impaired) (E&HE)
Customer A~ ZPA 2017.05.18 20190518 2021.05.17 18% 14,250 s 16,730 (16,730) - 2150400
“5-tERAHNR ZB-AFERTAR ZBZC-FRATtH
Customer A~ BFA 2017.06.01 20190518 20210531 2% 19,500 . 289 (2289) - 3008500
Z3-tERE-B ZE-AERAHAR ZEC°-%
1A=+-H
Customer A~ BFA 2017.06.01 2019.06.01 20210531 12% 7,000 = 8219 (8219) - 1097100
“BtERE-A IZE-hEARB-A -BI-%£
1A=t-H
Customer A~ BFA 2017.11.10 2019.11.10 2021.11.09 8% 13400 = 15733 (1573)) - 5153300
“2-t£+-B+H ZB-AEt-A+E Z2Z-£+-AAA
CistomerB EFB 20190221 20200221 2011231 2% 26000 = 26071 (26,077) - 5751300
“5-hE “EC%E “E-&
ZRZ+-H ZAZt+-8 +2A=1-H
TOTAL 199358 300806 (106,209) 194,597
&3
To the best of the knowledge, information and belief BEESEE—VYESEBTHBRZERN
of the Directors and having made all reasonable ERLEE BEH A RIEFEHEALL
enquiries, each of the borrowers and security providers REEZEBEEREREBEANABIRAE

and their respective ultimate beneficial owners is a
third party independent of and not connected with
the Company, its connected persons or associates.
All the loans were made under finance leasing
arrangements, with pledged non-current assets valued
at above the principal amount of the loan provided
by the borrowers as collateral to fortify the repayment
obligations of the loans. The pledged non-current
assets used as collaterals are normally machineries
or production lines, the exact types of which would
normally depend on the nature of operating activities
of the collateral providers, ranging from mining
equipment, crane, plastic molding machines or
metallic wiring machines. As the Group is contractually
entitled to enforce the sales of the collaterals if the
loans default, the Board considers that the availability
of the pledged non-current assets collaterals should
provide higher certainty on the recoverability of the
loans.

NCIRR=EE LY=)o PN =L
BEIECZE=F FIEERREMSE
HEZHFEL > BLR B ARH
ERATEETHEZBIRBIER
BEEFARFR UNRERERS
Fo-AFERRRZBIRFIERGBEESR
BAMMKEES HEYHEE
ARRIERmERAZKEEZHMEE &
EERIER A EER B R RS
Bk AN AERERBESNERERT
BN RTIHERMERR EF
EIDL:‘%?/—\ET E?&?ﬁgE/JIL@jéi?*&ﬁaﬂﬂ
FEREIR = BT UREY 2 FEE 14 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE
31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41. ﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁﬁ"’qiizg$¥&ﬁ% (,%E)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (@)
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables ) G B2 I B2 F B 1=
(continued) 1B (4)
As as 31 December 2022
N_E__#+”"F=1+—H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—MER B E-EEL 1aEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT TAET FTAET
Other receivables, gross HtEUR B4R 168,587 = 29,276 197,863
Less: Lifetime ECL on other B HEREIEZ
receivables 2HBHEE
g (30,439) - (29,276) (59,715)
Other receivables, net HMEWHRIE % 138,148 = = 138,148
As as 31 December 2023
RZBZ=%+_A=+—H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—PEE B EE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THT FTHET
Other receivables, gross HittE M IER A 154,490 - 34,890 189,380
Less: Lifetime ECL on other B HEREIEZ
receivables 2HBHEE
518 (13,675) - (34,890) (48,565)
Other receivables, net HitEWRIERE 140,815 - - 140,815
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41. £REMRSIBEZEEREE (8B)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (@)
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables )\ G B2 I B2 FY B E =
(continued) IE (4#)
Movements for ECL of other receivables are as follows: HhEW BB EEEE8a&sHn T .
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F—PEE FIRE BPEER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET THERT
At 1 January 2022 R_E__&—F—H 20,646 S 32,120 52,766
Provision of ECL BHEEHRER 11,621 - - 11,621
Exchange realignment FER R (1,828) - (2,844) (4,672)
As at 31 December 2022 and S
1 January 2023 +ZA=+—-Hk
“ET=5—HF—H 30,439 = 29,276 59,715
Transfer of stage P R (73) = 73 a
(Reversal)/Provision of ECL BHESER BR) /
B (16,173) - 6,100 (10,073)
Exchange realignment ER (518) - (559) (1,077)
As at 31 December 2023 R_BZ=F
+ZA=+-H 13,675 - 34,890 48,565
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MG

31 December 2023

“EC=F+"RB=+—H

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVESAND 41, SRIEAMEEZEHEKREE (B)
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) FEERRE @
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables B L\ F B FEINE = R B fE =
(continued) IE (#8)

As at 31 December 2022
RZEZZF+ZA=1—H

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

E—MEER e ESMEER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER AR AT FET

Advances to associates, gross A= UNCIE LR ] = 114,714 = 114,714
Less: ECL on advances to associates i - BEE AT BRI

BHEERR - (36,905) - (36,905)

Advances to associates, net BENE BB E = 77,809 = 77,809

As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=F+ZB=+—H

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

F—PEER BREER BME 1zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHERT AT iR

Advances to associates, gross = lNSTE-E b - 98,097 - 98,097
Less: ECL on advances to associates i - BEE AT BEHZ

RHEEBE - (35,446) - (35,446)

Advances to associates, net = YNSTE-EGeR ] - 62,651 - 62,651

240 China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B IRRMEE

31 December 2023
“EC=HF+ZRA=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41. S REMRTSIEC BERKE (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERE (@)
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables )\ G B2 I B2 FY B E =
(continued) 1B (42)
Movements for allowance for ECL of advances to BME NS A= EEIEREL
associates are as follows: U -
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FMER 5 HEER F=PEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TERT
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_"%—H—H 8,671 = = 8,671
Transfer of stages PR Er (8,671) 8,671 = =

Allowance for ECL on advances to = NCI - (2l

associates SEEBEBEE = 29,002 = 29,002
Exchange realignment EREE = (768) = (768)
As 31 December 2022 and RZEZZ

1 January 2023 +ZA=+—-Hk

—E”_=-%5—-HF—H = 36,905 = 36,905
Reversal for ECL on advances to =Nt s 1

associates EEEBERR - (754) - (754)
Exchange realignment ERRE - (705) - (705)
As 31 December 2023 RZBZ=

+-B=+—H - 35,446 - 35,446

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

17 O =

31 December 2023

_=__—

41.

=F+"RB=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables
(continued)
Advances to associates, loan and other receivables are
categorised into the following stages by the Group:

Stage 1

Advances to associates, loan and other receivables
have not experienced a significant increase in credit
risk since origination and impairment recognised on
the basis of 12 months ECL (12-month ECLs).

Stage 2

Advances to associates, loan and other receivables
to customers have experienced a significant increase
in credit risk since origination and impairment is
recognised on the basis of lifetime ECL (Lifetime ECLs
non credit-impaired).

Stage 3

Advances to associates, loan and other receivables that
are in default and considered credit impaired (Lifetime
ECLs credit impaired).

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Advances to associates, loan and other receivables
(continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk of advances to
associates, loan and other receivables has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the advances
to associates, loan and other receivables assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii)
the financial asset is past due for more than 90 days.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in loan and other receivables from external or
internal credit rating (if available);

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group; and

- the financial asset is past due.

Cash at bank

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit risk
is considered to be low as the counterparties are
reputable banks.

Therefore, ECL rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made as of 31
December 2022 and 2023.

41.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H
EREAMEIRE 2z BERBEEK (&)

EEmRE (8
BE R B W E T RE BRI
B (#8)

REMEBE AT B BRERREM
RWRIBEZEERERB P FEBUR
BERRBEME > ZEBTLERNES
HEA RS ER ARG ZBmER
BB R E TR B A FE W Rk IR PR H
R2ZEBHWRR - RIFLENTEER > &
EERA HOBRAT KA ERARE
EEBRERNEFIERM WHFA)
FTHZBERTEREREHNH
FEEEME,; HilEMEEDEBIED
B AERENESF AEEEERESG
B EEREMER 8EBEL
BEREBAME AU EMEHEHE
IR ZAREEER -

BEETIE  RTAS S B A IR B 75 s
SIS B A B 0B » 2 S 2 7 L
TEK

—  BWERKHEME KRR
HAEME EFTAR WA) 2 BIR
FRHREERIE

- AR -mE - EENEREREZ
RENBRREHHEHFART
HHNAEBRSEZENEER
THEE &

- THEEAH-

RITH=E
MEBRETZREMS  EERRERK
BABE LTHREFATHEERYE
AYERTT

It - SR1TIR & 2 RS BB IR T
ERBLAZEARBE_T__FR_
T —F+_A=t—HULEFREE
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
frE M IRRMEE

17 O =

31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41, SREMRETIEZBERKE (B)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk TMENE & B S
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds KAEBMNBRKE M RERD T BB
using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool BESEBAS T EHESH T AN
considers the maturity of both its financial instruments SHEBEE WEKE ZES R EMEWK
and financial assets (e.g., trade and other receivables) =18 WEHAA R TER S EELE IR
and projected cash flows from operations. £ o
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance NEBEEBEABRIETESHREM
between continuity of funding and flexibility through S E SRS S RE T
the use of bank loans and other interest-bearing loans.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities REREHA R ) AEBERDIT4B KA,
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the HHzemaEsEETmT
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2023
Weighted
average
effective Total
interest On Within 1to Over undiscounted Carrying
rate demand one year 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
IS RER
BIRAE BER —&R —Enf BBLE REHEBEE BREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR FER FTERT FTER THET THET
Trade and bills payables ENBRRTKRENEE - - 146,821 - - 146,821 146,821
Financial liabilities included in 5t AELME I FIERK
other payables and accruals S ERZz&RAE - - 406,318 - - 406,318 406,318
Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMBEE 13.62 - 499,456 2,350 - 501,806 441,653
Amounts due to related parties &I BB A FUIE - - 3,900 - - 3,900 3,900
Lease liabilities HEEE 6.97 - 43,062 85,652 5,865 134,579 111,704
= 1,099,557 88,002 5,865 1,193,424 1,110,396
2022
Weighted
average
effective Total
interest On Within 1t0 Over  undiscounted Carrying
rate demand one year 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
mEEH REGIR
BREA=E BER —&R —ERfF BALE RERBLH KEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FTET FiEx FiER TERT TERT TET
Trade and bills payables ENEZERIRENER = = 157,291 = 2 157,291 157,291
Financial liabilities included in &t AE BT ZIER
other payables and accruals EHERZEHMER - - 247,566 - - 247,566 247,566
Bank and other borrowings RITREMES 8.93 58,814 416,399 - - 475,213 440,044
Amounts due to related parties  F& {3 Rk 75 7B - - 691 - - 691 691
Lease liabilties REak 6.91 = 47,99 103,638 27,544 179,178 151,006
58,814 869,943 103,638 27,544 1,059,939 996,598
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 41, SREMRTIEZBERKE (B)
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESREE (@)
Other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause WEREXRERERZHMESST A
are included in the “on demand” time band in the Rz RER | — - E
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2022, the T+ —HBA=+—RH ZEEHMES
aggregate carrying amounts of these other borrowings 2 AR E 4826 7458,814,000 7T o 5t & <
amounted to HK$58,814,000. Taking into account the EFECHBER N BEERAEEH AT
Group's financial position, the management does not AT ERN ISR ERIIEEH - B8
believe that it is probable that the lenders will exercise EBREZZSHEMESEEESSWME
their discretionary rights to demand immediate P& st B B AR EBEE % —
repayment. The management believes that such other ERMENEER BEREFBEHNTE
borrowings will be repaid in one to two years after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:
Maturity Analysis — Other borrowings with a BEI T — BB E M EEE
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled KiE# ANz BEMEE
repayments
Total
Within undiscounted Carrying
one year 1to 2years Over2years cash outflows amount
RIGRRE
—FR —EmE BBmE TR 4REE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FET
31 December 2022 —E__F+”"B=+—H 62,931 - - 62,931 58,814
Capital management BAREHE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

FEREXAEENBEZAR /ERE
SRAGBRELCENEN BERRRE
MERLLR U FHEHEREF > FIW
RABKRREE-
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2023 FiR

285



216

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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=F+"“A=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the capital plus net debt.
The Group's policy is to maintain an optimal capital
structure which reduces cost of capital. Net debt
includes trade and bills payables, other payables and
accruals, bank and other borrowings, amounts due to
related parties and lease liabilities less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:

41.

TREREEZ BRERER (@)

BAREIRE ()
AEBRBEKBEBEINESTREME
EZRBISE EEEEAREEBIELY
PR AEFNARERER ~EH
AEERAERERE BRBREER
WEEITHE o KEB I A ZEM IR
MMZzZERREMB - BEZS - F
+ZB=+—BKRZZEZ=%+2A
=t HIEFER AEBTEINE
EEEAZBEE - BEXGRER-

FEBUBESRLEEX (EFFFEMHFU
BERMER PR GEERBR &
B RBERRENEERRE BB
BARA - BFHFRABIERN E Z RN
REMRE HthENRIBERES &
A RIT R EAhE S - FE (T RREE 75 7R IR
KGR TAZRERREFE
Y ERCESATIER AE(GEE
REBEHR BEESRLERNT !

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEER 441,653 440,044
Trade and bills payables FE(T B Z R ENEE 146,821 157,291
Other payables and accruals HithEAMIBRE &R 406,318 247,566
Amounts due to related parties FE < B EGk 75 TRIE 3,900 691
Lease liabilities HE&R 111,704 151,006
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BRERREEEY (12,996) (14,880)
Net debt B2 58 1,097,400 981,718
Capital =Ei 620,011 801,812
Capital and net debt BARREFEFRE 1,717,411 1,783,530
Gearing ratio BEAMB/LEE 64% 55%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

Inputs to valuation techniques used to measure the
Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss had been categorised as level 1 and level 3 within
the fair value hierarchy which is defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group'’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

41.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
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ms T —F+—_A=1t—H

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash
flow were, or future cashflows will be classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows from
financing activities.

42. BMEFHEENEEHK

TEREFRAEEREIHEENER
28 AERERIFRTEFH -MET
HELNEEARTREBUARKREE
MEBEETERGREMBZRERTOES
MEZBMEENRERENGR-

Amounts
Bank due to
Lease  and other related
liabilities borrowings parties Total
RITR LRSS
HEaE HMEES A st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TR

As at 1 January 2022 R_2_"_F—F—H
Financial cost (Note 8) B (H58)
Interest payable PR F]E

Interest paid BFE

Addition of lease liabilities HREREERE

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) HEMBAT (HizE34)
Financing cash outflows MERSRY
Financing cash inflows MEFRERA

Currency translation adjustment S HEER

As at 31 December 2022 and ‘f:giiﬁ‘l'_ﬁ ===
1 January 2023 RZE2Z=F—HF—H

Financial cost (Note 8) B (H58)

Interest payable PIHIE

Interest paid BNFE

Financing cash outflows MEREMY

Financing cash inflows MERERA

Currency translation adjustment S BEER

As at 31 December 2023 oo B = e s = e

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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703,565 520,999 14,940 1,239,504
38,356 110,140 = 148,496

= (93,776) = (93,776)

= (16,364) = (16,364)

164 = = 164

(367,941) (8,803) 440 (376,304)

(167,735) (92,693) (17,391) (277,819)
= 40,748 = 40,748

(55,403) (20,207) 2,702 (72,908)
151,006 440,044 691 591,741
8,920 91,633 = 100,553

= (84,124) = (84,124)

= (7,509) = (7,509)

(47,426) (23,753) = (71,179)
- 27,857 3,209 31,066

(796) (2,495) = (3,291)
111,704 441,653 3,900 557,257




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H
R B AT R =
FTEWBABEFIBUWT :

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 43.
Particulars of the major subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/ Value of issued Percentage of equity
registration ordinary/registered attributable to
Name and operations share capital the Company Principal activities
AT BEITEE/
nig A REEME AfRAEE FATEGEEE AL TBEH
Direct Indirect
B kS
Most Success Corporation Limited (i)~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 40 Lending of logistic
RREZEFRAT i) E 10,000 7T facilities
THEMRRTE
Shenzhen Meiming Wenshi PRC/Mainland China RMB55,000,000 - 100 Distribution of
Trading Limited (i) HE /R E R AR #55,000,0007T wine and liquor
FmEREHEEERAE0) DHBE
Shenzhen Beidahuang Green Food PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 50  Sales of green food
Distribution Limited (i), (ii) T/ HERH, AE10,000,0007T products
RIEATHBERRE HEREBRR
BIRAE0 i)
Ever Gain Hong Kong Development Hong Kong HK$100 60 - Lending of logistic
Limited Bl 100 7T facilities
XEEBERERRT THEYIRR I
Shenzhen Qianhai PRC/Mainland China UsD10,000,000 - 100 Financial leasing
Dahuangyuan Financing Lease HE/ HE R 10,000,000 7T MEHE
Company Limited (i), (iv)
FHEEA T ERERE
BRAB (v)
Shenzhen Ming Jian Gold PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 - 100 Rental business
Industry Limited (i), (iv) HE /B AEK#80,000,0007T HEEH
RYBAREZEFRAT0 (v)
Shenzhen Huajinhuayin Industry PRC/Mainland China RMB39,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Company Limited (i), (iv) FE/ThE R AR 39,000,0007T REER
FNHESERBEFRAE0 (V)
Linxiang Qiangsheng Mining Industry PRC/Mainland China RMB60,950,000 - 100 Trading of mineral
Company Limited (i), (iv) HE/ B AR #60,950,0007T products
BT REREEREERA) (v BEMES
Shenzhen Dajin Zhenhe PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 Rental business
Industry Limited (jv) HE/ HERH AR 10,000,0007T HEER

AHEERNEXRRAT (v)

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
2023 FiR

219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHRRMEE

31 December 2023

—EC=F+"H=1+—H

43. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) RIB AT MR (8)

Notes:

(i) Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise
under the PRC law.

(ii) Registered as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture
under the PRC law.

(iii) The Company holds majority of members in the
board of directors which is the governing body of
these companies and therefore has the power to
direct the relevant activities of these companies, and
is exposed, or the rights, to variable returns from the
investment with the investee, and has the power to
affect the amount of those returns.

(iv) The English name of the above PRC companies is for
identification purpose only.

The above table lists the major subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests are set out below:

PEE

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

REFEGERZEMBINEEE L
¥O

BREFEAEEMATIEER
#,

FREFHAHEEE EFEREANE
EHE) SHEML R AN
BEZEARNAEREE LAZH
ERZARERRERTARENT
gho®m BAENTEZFRRE
LED

LA AR B BY 52 3 4 T A2 1 5 Al
ZHe

ERITEERRETEREFTERXE
HERAEFEEFETELDZAE
AR EEMBAE -EFBRIRMEEM
MEBARZFFEEERABTBNR IR

FEEBRBEERFERERZWEA
Bl ZEFIBEANT

2023 2022
Percentage of equity interest held by — FEIZERERFTITRET DLE -
non-controlling interests:
Shenzhen Beidahuang Green Food FINEA T AR BB micx
Distribution Limited BRAT 50% 50%
Most Success Corporation Limited EREERRAE 60% 60%

220 China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
B -F+ZH=+—H

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. P EBATINEZR (8)
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Loss/(profit) for the year allocated to ~ DECFIFIERER 2 FEE
non-controlling interests: B8 (afl)
Shenzhen Beidahuang Green Food FYHEA T4 BB RECEE
Distribution Limited BRAE (1,682) (4,758)
Most Success Corporation Limited EREEFRAE 3,829 4,024
Accumulated balances of RS BRI EER#E R
non-controlling interests RET4EER -
at the reporting dates:
Shenzhen Beidahuang Green Food AYIE A T4 B R MEcix
Distribution Limited BRAHF (9.267) (7,527)
Most Success Corporation Limited BEREXERAE 27,080 23,251

PEERREXRERMERBRAR

2023 FiR
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31 December 2023
—EC=F+"H=1+—H

43. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43.

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts

KB AR KD ()
T3RFU R LA b B A F) 2 B FS

BoFMRBEERRHINMER A BMIEZ

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: B -
Shenzhen
Beidahuang
Green Food Most Success
Distribution  Corporation
Limited Limited
FUNIE KT
EBmAicE EREE
2023 —E-= BIRAR BIRARA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue A 59,728 42,131
Total expense Bz 4R 2 (63,093) (35,749)
(Loss)/profit for the year EE (B8 wr (3,365) 6,382
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE2ME (BB A LEZE
for the year (3,479) 6,382
Current assets MENEE 33,236 51,086
Non-current assets JERENEE 506 23,805
Current liabilities mEaE 52,275 29,758
Non-current liabilities JEREEE - =
Net cash flows generated from KEEEMMSRERE TR
operating activities 429 25,199
Net cash flows generated from KRERIPSRENE P
investing activities - 38
Net cash flows used in MEEBTRRESRE 35
financing activities (355) (23,269)
Net decrease in cash REeRREEEYRLFEE
and cash equivalents 74 1,968

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023
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31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. BTN ERD (48)
Shenzhen
Beidahuang
Green Food  Most Success
Distribution Corporation
Limited Limited
AN AT
HEBEmECE B R
2022 s BRAE BRAE]
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue WA 122,192 41,730
Total expense Bz 40 % (131,707) (35,023)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE (B8 af) (9,515) 6,707
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE2E (BB WAL
for the year (9,675) 6,707
Current assets REEE 92,648 44,762
Non-current assets EREEE 934 50,543
Current liabilities mEas 100,185 40,090
Non-current liabilities ERHERB 8,451 16,463
Net cash flows generated from KEEBMMBIREMEFE
operating activities 396 21,465
Net cash flows generated from KERHASREREFRE
investing activities = 4
Net cash flows used in MEZEFTRRSRE$
financing activities (2,764) (25,090)
Net decrease in cash BENRIBSEEY R/ F5E
and cash equivalents (2,368) (3,621)

PEERREXRERMERBRAR

2023 FiR
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44,

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

A M BARR R B f#

ARBRBREPROF BT KER

of the Company at the end of the reporting period BIE -
includes:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSET ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B AT RIS 859,648 856,140
Total non-current asset ERHEELEE 859,648 856,140
CURRENT ASSETS MEBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FETFRIE ~ 25 R H A FEUL
other receivables I8 8,564 8,294
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEBEY 2 5
Total current assets MENEERE 8,566 8,299
CURRENT LIABILITIES i =R
Other borrowings B s 354,764 356,764
Other payables and accruals HhE (I mIB R Est & A 301,499 196,086
Amounts due to related parties FE 1 BRI B 75 718 3,900 691
Total current liabilities EUI=N RS 660,163 553,541
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaERE (651,597) (545,242)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERERRBARE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 208,051 310,898
Net assets BEFE 208,051 310,898
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEITRA 633,231 631,337
Reserves G (425,180) (320,439)
Total equity R 4B RE 208,051 310,898
Jiang Jiancheng AKES53 Ke Xionghan A 1 58
Director EE Director BEF

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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31 December 2023
B+ "B=+—H

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. Zkﬁﬁ],ﬂj‘}%ﬂffﬂﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ (fﬁg)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Movement of the reserves of the Company is as INNTEEESEU T
follows:
Share Share Convertible
premium option bonds  Accumulated
account reserve reserve losses Total
B 13
Ffn R B TBRERE BHEE 23tE1R @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wik TAr TEr TEx TER TER
At 1 January 2022 RZE-"&-F—H 1,669,298 3732 - (1,329,805) 343,225
Loss for the year FEBR - - - (654,840) (654,840)
Exercised share options BiTERBRE (5,839) (2,985) = = (8,824)
Lapsed share option BRMERE = (99) - 99 -
At 31 December 2022 RIZZZH+-A=+-H 1,663,459 648 - (1,984,546) (320,439)
Loss for the year FEFR - - - (102,847) (102,847)
Exercised share options BITERRE (1,347) (547) - = (1,894)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=#+"F=+-H 1,662,112 101 - (2,087,393) (425,180)

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account of
the Company are distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

RIBEFSEERT X RER]) » AAF
ROEERNESAIHDIKTEAT
RE-HEREBRZEDRKREBR &
ARBRAENEZBENAEEBBERE
HhEAARETS

FEEATEEEEZERERAR
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31 December 2023
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LITIGATION

= A H
e

_=__—

45.

()

(i)

HCA 1867 of 2015

On 18 August 2015, the Company received
a writ of summons issued from the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “Writ"”) relating to a
claim by Mr. Qu Shuncai (“Mr. Qu”), a former
Director of the Company. Pursuant to the Writ,
Mr. Qu claims against the Company for the
sum of HK$6,069,000 being damages for the
Company’s wrongful refusal of the issue of
2,500,000 shares of the Company to him upon
his exercise of the share options. The trial was
heard before Judge from 8 December 2022
to 14 December 2022, and on 10 February
2023, it was adjudicated by the Court that the
Company shall pay damages to the Plaintiff,
assessed at HK$4,394,000, and costs. The
Company has decided to appeal against the
said judgment, and thus the Company filed a
Notice of Appeal on 6 March 2023.

HCA 1948 of 2019

On 24 October 2019, the Company received a
writ of summons (under HCA 1948 of 2019)
issued on behalf of Gemini Funds Limited for
an order to direct the Company to deliver
up the share certificate of 5,000,000 (Bonus)
Shares issued in January 2016 and damages
to be assessed. The said Gemini Funds Limited
has also taken out an application for summary
judgment against the Company returnable
before a Master of the High Court on 9 April
2020. The legal representative of the Company
filed an Acknowledgment of Service on 6
November 2019, and the Company has filed a
notice to the Court to oppose the application
by the said Plaintiff to enter judgment against
the Company. The hearing was heard before a
Judge on 21 January 2021 and pursuant to the
Judgement, the Company delivered up the said
share certificate to the Plaintiff on 24 March
2021. At the same time, the Company filed a
Notice to Appeal on 18 February 2021.

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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REZEREB-RBESK BEE
MARBRE R EITEERE
BAEEBMEEZTT2,500,000
BRAEARBRMDMEERABTRE
$+%86,069,000/8 7T (BNEZEE
B) BHERIZEZZF+=
BANBEZZE-_—_#+—"H
+ O HAEREAERERIETR
MR ZEZ=F"A+H %
PR EARNBERRELTIE
Eﬁ%”i (FFE £ %644,394,0008
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. LITIGATION (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

HCCW 3 of 2023

On 9 January 2023, the Company received a
petition (“Mr. Zhang's Petition”) filed by Mr.
Zhang Zhiguang (“Mr. Zhang"”) for an order
that the Company may be wound up by the
High Court under the Ordinance pursuant to a
Statutory Demand (for being unable to repay
a debt of an amount of HK$7,197,841.10).
Details of Mr. Zhang's Petition were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated
10 January 2023. On 11 March 2024, the
Company and Mr. Zhang have signed and filed
a consent summons to the High Court of the
withdrawal of the Petition.

CACV 71 of 2023

On 6 March 2023, the Company filed a Notice
of Appeal to the Court to appeal against the
Judgment of HCA 1867 of 2015 that the
quantum of damages be HK$2,944,000.00
only.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
Ses B = —(5

_=_—

45. EfER (48)

(iii)

(iv)

—ET”=fFHCCW 3
RIZEZ=F—BNB &xAF
BEAREESE (REE)) R
BIRAIRIBEZEEREGS (3
HEZEERSER7,197,841.10
BILZER AeSEEREEY
RABETERMTZEH (MR
HEEF) - BRAREEEREZ
FERARBEHRAZE =
F-ATHEZAMARE 1K
ZTMFE=A+—HB XxRAFAK
RELFEEZEUN RS FERE
RERER LUHEIZFE-

“EZFCAQV T
RIEZ=F=RBAH &2
BAiRRER LB E
UH—FT—HFHCA 1867%
REHEFHF BEXBESES
2,944,000.0078 0%
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31 December 2023
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LITIGATION (continued)
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45.

(v)

(vi)

HCCW 144 of 2023

On 30 March 2023, the Company received a
winding up petition filed by Mr. Qu Shuncai
(under HCCW 144 of 2023) for an order that
the Company may be wound up by the High
Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region pursuant to the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong) for being
unable to pay a debt of an amount of
HK$4,291,684.55, being the Reduced
Amount together with its accrued interest of
HK$1,347,684.55 as at 7 March 2023.

The Company and Mr. Qu Shuncai have signed
and filed a consent summons to the High
Court for withdrawn of the Petition. On 7 June
2023, the Company received the order of the
High Court dated 6 June 2023 which ordered,
among other things, that leave be given to the
Petitioner to withdraw the Petition, and the
hearing scheduled on 7 June 2023 be vacated
as described in the Company’s announcement
date 7 June 2023.

Application for Validation Order

Pursuant to a summons dated 14 July 2023
filed by the Company with the Cayman Grand
Court, on 20 July 2023, the Cayman Grand
Court made a validation order in the following
terms:

“That the trading of the Company’s shares
and any transfers of shares or alterations in
the status of the Company’s members made
between the date of the presentation of the
Cayman Petition and the date of any winding-
up of the Company, shall not be void pursuant
to section 99 of the Companies Act in the
event that an order for the winding-up of the
Company is made on the Cayman Petition.”

China Beidahuang Industry Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. LITIGATION (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Application for Validation Order
(continued)

This complements the validation orders made
on 16 May 2023 by the High Court in respect
of two winding-up petitions filed in Hong
Kong (one of which petitions has since been
withdrawn), as described in the announcement
of the Company dated 19 May 2023, all
transfers of issued and fully paid up Shares
sinced the respective dates of the petitions
presentation shall not be void by virtue of
section 182 of the Companies (Winding up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32,
Laws of Hong Kong).

FSD 146 of 2023

On 13 June 2023, the Company received
a petition (“Cayman Petition”) filed by Mr.
Qiu Zhen (the “Petitioner”) from its Cayman
corporate service provider which had received
the Cayman Petition on 5 June 2023, for
an order that the Company be wound up
by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands
(“Cayman Grand Court”) in accordance with
the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

The Cayman Petition was filed against the
Company for failing to satisfy a statutory
demand issued on 25 August 2022 in a
principal amount of HK$16,673,418.00 with
accrued interest of HK$738,826.56 as at 12
May 2023.

The Company received the order of the
Cayman Grand Court dated 8 December 2023
which ordered, among other things, that Mr.
Qiu be withdrawn, which was made pursuant
to the Mr. Qiu’'s summons dated 8 December
2023 seeking leave from the Cayman Grand
Court to withdraw the Cayman Petition.

RE B HRRMEE

31 December 2023
Ses B = —(5
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45. sk (48)

(vi)

(vii)

RFRA L (8
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BRENBEREZEF HP—HE
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nf) LR BIEE225H
HEMBEEETRBERMDH
EHELGREBEAENERR
(BB RMIBERX) 1%F5182
5K TT /a8 SR o

“EZ”=FSD 146
RNZEZ=FRA+=H &2
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—

45.

=&+"H=+—H
LITIGATION (continued)
(viii) (2023) Su 0706 Minchu No. 1584, (2023) Su

07 Minchuzhong No. 4275

On 21 February 2023, the Company's
subsidiary, Lianyungang Huajin Huahong
Industrial Co., Ltd. EEBETEBREEER
/A 7)) (“Huajin Huahong”) received a civil ruling
(BE#HESE)issued on behalf of Sun lie (4
) ("Sun") under (2023) Su 0706 Minchu No.
1584 ((2023)8k0706E#11584%%) . According
to the civil ruling (REHESE), Sun being the
plaintiff, requested (i) an order for repayment of
the principal amount of borrowings amounting
to RMB10,000,000 and interests thereon
(with interest to be calculated at 4 times of
the LPR from 19 August 2022 to the date of
actual payment); (ii) an order for legal fees
of RMB340,000, as well as costs of litigation
and preservation expense of the case. The
case has been appealed to the Lianyungang
Intermediate People’s Court of Jiangsu Province
and on 22 November 2023, Huajin Huahong
received a civil judgment under (2023) Su 07
Minchuzhong No. 4275 ((2023)Ek07 R #4%
42755%) . Pursuant to the civil judgment, (a) in
respect of (i) above, Huajin Huahong shall repay
to Sun the principal amount of the borrowing
of approximately RMB9,735,518.35 and
interest of approximately RMB47,071.22; (b) in
respect of (ii) above, Huajin Huahong shall pay
to Sun the attorney’s fee of RMB340,000; (c)
dismissed other litigation claims filed by Sun.
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47.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LITIGATION (continued)

(ix)

(2023) Su 0707 Minchu No. 2761

On 23 April 2023, the Company’s subsidiary,
Lianyungang Huajin Huahong Industrial
Co., Ltd. (EEBESEREXARRA
&) (“Huajin Huahong”) received a civil
mediation (REFAEE)issued on behalf
of Lianyungang Wushun Communication
Engineering Co., Ltd. EEBEIBEE LR
BRAE) (“Wushun”) under (2023) Su 0707
Minchu No. 2761 ((2023)8k0707 42761
%) . According to the civil mediation (R
fi#Z), Wushun being the plaintiff, after the
trial and mediation by the court, the parties
voluntarily reached the following mediation:
(i) Huajin Huahong shall pay the construction
payables of RMB786,518 to Wushun in three
installments, and in the case of late payment,
it shall be subject to interest, which shall be
calculated from 7 January 2022 to the date of
actual payment with maximum amount not
exceeding RMB157,303; (ii) the dispute over
the construction payables between both parties
shall be settled in one lump sum and there shall
be no other disputes.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year presentation. These
reclassification have no impact on the Group’s loss

for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the total

equity as at 31 December 2023.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
28 March 2024.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited

TERBAEFERBERLBHREEZRER
BE -BERFERED DEREETE
REZUBRER LEFBEERY EHNH

financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, £ o
is set out below.
RESULTS e |
Year ended 31 December
HE+t-B=+—-HILEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THT FHT THT T#T
Revenue WA 844,999 930,276 928,785 859,095 779,305
(Loss)/profit before taxation briRAT (8548) /BA (144,862) (224,271) (170,130) 7,681 (341,893)
Income tax (expenses)/credit e (%) /% (726) 1,872 (7,160) (2,224) 984
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (818 /57 (145,588) (222,399) (177,290) 5,457 (340,909)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: TR (B18) /&7
Owners of the parent SAFEBA (153,317) (218,450) (170,916) 14,778 (291,072)
Non-controlling interests R 7.729 (3,949) (6,374) (9,321) (49,837)
(145,588) (222,399) (177,290) 5,457 (340,909)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS EE - BB RIEEG#ERS
As at 31 December
®+-B=+-8H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT Tt T#T FHET FTHET
TOTAL ASSETS BEHRE 1,862,232 1,944,974 2,880,051 2,994,530 3,012,655
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEEE (1,250,995) (1,159,340) (1,775,655) (1,723,857) (1,783,399)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS El2eg g 8,774 16,178 24,284 14,526 81
620,011 801,812 1,128,680 1,285,199 1,229,337
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